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PART I

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwarddimg statements that are based on our beliefsesdmptions regarding future events and
circumstances, including statements regarding oatsgies, our opportunities, developments in tealthcare market, our relationships with our
customers and contract manufacturer and other matiEhese statements are principally containedeml 1, Business; Item 1A, Risk Factors;
Item 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis ddriéial Condition and Results of Operations; andeotsections of this Annual Report

Form 1(-K. Forward-looking statements include statemelmés are not historical facts and can be identifdwords such as “project,”

“believe,” “anticipate,” “plan,” “expect, continue,” “should,” “would, will” or “may,” or

other similar words and phrases.

”ou ”ow ”u LINTH

estimat e,” “intend,

”ow ”ou ” ” ”u

could ,” “potentially,

Forward-looking statements are subject to known and unkmisks, uncertainties and other factors that cocddise actual results to differ
materially from the results anticipated by theseverd-looking statements. These risks, uncertasndied factors include those we discuss in this
annual report in Item 1A, Risk Factors. You shaelad these risk factors and the other cautionaagyeshents made in this Annual Report on F
10-K as being applicable to all related forward-ling statements wherever they appear in this AnReglort on Form 10-K. It is not possible for
us to predict all risks that could affect us, nanave assess the impact of all factors on our lassiror the extent to which any factor, or
combination of factors, may cause actual resulidifier materially from those contained in any fangd-looking statements we may make.
Moreover, new risks emerge from time to ti

The forward-looking statements made in this AnfRegort on Form 10-K relate only to events as ofddie on which the statements are made.
We undertake no obligation to update publicly asryard-looking statements, whether as a resultea¥ mformation, future events or otherwise,
except as required by law.

ltem 1. Business
Overview

We are a provider of secure, integrated, intelliggmmunication solutions, focused on empowerindpitaavorkers in healthcare, hospitality,
energy, and other mission-critical mobile work eamiments, in the U.S. and internationally. Today ghgnificant majority of our business is
generated from sales of our solutions in the heafthmarket to help our customers improve patigfety and experience, and increase operat
efficiency. As of December 31, 2014, our solutibase been installed in more than 1,300 facilitieslawide.

Our Communication solution, which includes an iiigeht enterprise software platform; a lightweightarable, voice-controlled communication
badge; and smartphone applications; enables wsemtect instantly with other staff simply by saythe name, function or group name of the
desired recipient. It also securely delivers tegsaages and alerts directly to and from smartphoepkscing legacy pagers.

At the core of our Communication solution is a p&fgrotected, enterprise-class server softwardqotat Our software platform is built upon a
scalable architecture and recognizes more thars@éken commands. Users can instantly communicdleothers using the Vocera
communication badge or through client applicatifwmnsPhone and Android smartphones. Our solutité® Users communicate and collaborate
with each other using voice or secure text, anikerdther solutions, allows users to reach peoplthbir role, room assignment or department,
without needing to know a person’s name or phomebar. The system can also broadcast emergency gessteeaa single department or to an
entire company. Our Communication solution canribegrated with other clinical systems to providéaal data, alerts and context; and enable
consistent workflows, including Electronic Healted®rds (EHR), nurse call, and patient monitoringddy, we have integrations with more than
60 other clinical systems.

Beyond healthcare, our Communication solution edus quickly and contextually connect staff inastmission-critical mobile-worker
environments. Our communication solution is usethénuclear power industry to facilitate instaificient communications during shutdown:
emergency situations. In the hospitality industfgcera connects front-of-house and back-of-houefé tet improve guest experience and staff
productivity.

Over our 15-year history, we have significantly amted and added features and functionality tostblistion through ongoing development based
on frequent interactions with our customers.

In early 2014, we expanded our Communication samiuity acquiring substantially all of the assetmdfisum, Inc., a provider of alarm
management technology for health systems. Usingd¢haired technology, in the third quarter of 2044,launched Vocera Alarm Managemer
smartphone application powered by a server softplatform that helps reduce alarm fatigue and imenoatient safety by providing instant
access to patient monitoring data. This soluticadbés nurses and clinicians to prioritize and radpo critical alarms and set better alarm poli
via intelligent analytics. We enhanced our Alarm
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Management product further in the fourth quarte2@f4, enabling physicians to securely receiveteleardiogram (EKG) images on their
smartphones. In August 2014, we acquired substigraiaof the assets of Prana Technologies, IntdsRcquisition provided us with technology
to enable cloud-based communication and collabmrdtr an expanded population of care providergséhtechnologies are expected to advance
our vision of integrating voice, text and conteaséd workflows, on a range of devices across nhelltiare locations beyond the hospital.

Vocera Care Experience is a hosted software salgtiite that coordinates and streamlines proviolgratient and provider-to-provider
communication to improve patient safety and expeee reduce care provider's risk and improve reisdguents. The solution provides
personalized patient instructions and educatiooyige alerts and natifications to physicians anegevers of patients’ changing care plans or
status; and track patient experience before, danthafter hospitalization.

Our Experience Innovation Network, a thought lealdigr consulting group, is a membership-based prograd consulting services practice
designed to spread the adoption of leading stregetgiimprove patient and staff experience.

As of December 31, 2014, our solutions were demlagel, 044 hospitals and healthcare facilitiesluding large hospital systems, small and
medium-sized local hospitals, and a small numbetinics, surgery centers and aged-care facilittager 1,300 facilities, including nomealthcar
users, have deployed our solutions. We sell owtiswis to our healthcare customers primarily thfoagr direct sales force in the United States,
with resellers for certain U.S. Government businass through both direct sales and select digtdbichannels in international markets.

We were incorporated in Delaware on February 18020Qur corporate headquarters are located at 526 Rtreet, San Jose, CA 95126, and our
main telephone number is (408) 88400. We maintain a website at www.vocera.com. ddrgents of our website are not incorporated ioto,
otherwise to be regarded as part of, this AnnualoReon Form 10-K.

Vocera® is our primary registered trademark inlttnited States. Other trademarks appearing in thisiichent are the property of their respective
holders.

Industry overview

Vocera provides communication solutions for mobitekers in healthcare, hospitality, energy, edweatind other industries. Healthcare is our
largest vertical market.

Hospital communications are still predominantly docted through multiple disparate, non-integratedesns, including pagers, overhead paging,
portable in-building wireless phones and individugkersonal mobile phones. These non-integratedraamcation methods are inefficient and
often unreliable; not providing “closed loop” comnication, workflow standardization or the scaleuiegd by health systems. Further, they often
contribute to noisy environments for patients aedatively impact healing, safety, quality of canel aperational efficiency.

Recently, the implementation of healthcare refontt @ number of changes to healthcare policy hasreiplied the U.S. Healthcare market.
Broadly, we believe this reform enhances the neebtédtter communication to meet increasing requer@shfor care quality, patient safety,
efficiency and patient satisfaction. Reform alsguiees greater coordination of care among clinigifn the industry’s shift towards population
health and paying for value instead of the tradaidee-for-service reimbursement model. This ghiftalue-based purchasing incorporates
financial incentives for hospitals to improve thelity of care and patient satisfaction. A numbfenan-government organizations, such as The
Joint Commission, are also requiring improvememigatient safety and quality of care. These foezeddriving hospitals to invest in technology
and process improvements to manage their operations efficiently and to improve safety, qualitydagost of care and patient satisfaction. Our
communication and patient experience solutions hefpitals increase productivity and reduce cogtstfeamlining operations, improving pati
and staff satisfaction by enabling secure, integraind intelligent communication.

We also serve other industries, including hospytafiuclear energy and education. In the hospjtaiidustry, our Communication solution can be
used to increase guest experience and loyalty ellsas/staff productivity and responsiveness. inrthclear energy industry, Vocera can be us
instantly connect people and resources, reducimgitaund times and workers’ exposure to radiat8nools can leverage our Communication
solution to increase security and staff communicatand libraries can use our Communication satutioenable their librarians to be more mc
and attentive to their patrons.

Our strategy

Our goal is to extend our leadership position peo&ider of communication solutions in the healtecaarket and add new customers in non-
healthcare markets.

Key elements of our strategy include:

» Expand our business to new U.S. healthcare custosn As of December 31, 2014, our solutions werdajeg in approximately 12% of
U.S. hospitals. We believe our communication arthioration platform can provide significant valaeboth large and small hospitals. We
plan to continue to add new customers among hdspitall sizes, and expand

4




Table of Contents

to outpatient clinics, skilled nursing facilities@physician practices. We have structured anchindgeed our sales organization to focus on
sales to new customer sites, particularly withingéehealth systems.

» Further penetrate our existing installed customeage. Typically, our customers initially deploy oun@munication solution in a few
departments of a hospital and gradually expandiditianal departments as they come to fully ap@atecihe value of our solution. We
recognize the significant opportunity to up-sellamoss-sell to our existing customers, includimg inew hospitals that are part of an existing
healthcare system customer. Key sales strategikslipromoting further adoption of our Communieatsolution and demonstrating the
value of our Care Experience solutions to our egstustomers. We plan to continue expanding withinexisting customers in order to
grow our revenue and maintain and improve cust@rperience.

« Extend our technology advantage and create new prctdsolutions.  We intend to continue our investment in redeared development to
enhance the functionality of our communication sohs and further differentiate them from other pating solutions. We plan to invest in
product upgrades, product line extensions and méwisns to enhance our portfolio, such as ouothiiction of the Vocera Collaboration
Suite and Vocera Alarm Management applicationsfbone and Android mobile platforms.

» Invest in partnershipsin order to gain access to clinical data and patientext needed to create a highly efficient comitation system for
the entire care team, we plan to continue to brnoade ecosystem of technology partners, includieigdeors that provide nurse call systems,
patient monitoring systems and EHRs. We also interdkvelop a range of business partnerships thiatnwaden our overall market prese
and accelerate the sales of our offerings.

»  Pursue acquisitions of complementary businessesht®logies and asset We have completed six small acquisitions sR@#0 to expan
our solutions offering, demonstrating that we caccessfully source, acquire and integrate compléangbusinesses, technologies and
assets. We intend to continue to pursue acquisijpgortunities that we believe can accelerate the/tl of our business.

«  Grow our international healthcare presence. Today, in addition to our core U.S. market,se# primarily into other English-speaking
markets, including Canada, the United Kingdom, Aaligt and New Zealand. As of December 31, 2014 solutions were deployed in over
140 healthcare facilities outside the United Statés plan both to utilize our direct sales force &verage channel partners to expand our
presence in other Engligpeaking markets. We have also introduced localieesions of our Communication solution for Englégieakers i
Singapore, Malaysia and Middle Eastern countriekiding the United Arab Emirates and Saudi Aralda. believe that the rapid pace of
investment in new healthcare facilities in theseetlgping international markets provides a significapportunity for growth.

» Expand our communication solutions in nc-healthcare markets. While our primary focus is on the healthcarekag we believe that our
communication solutions can also provide valuedn-healthcare markets. Our communication solutitn& been deployed at over 250
customers in markets beyond healthcare includirspitality, energy and other mission critical mohilerker environments. Currently, this is
not a material portion of our revenue, but longemt, we believe these markets could represent paitepportunities for growth.

Our products, technology and services

Our solutions include the Vocera Communication 8ystVocera Care Experience suite and our Experiemee/ation Network, a thought
leadership collaborative. To complement our sohgjave provide services, support and educatiorlip dur customers optimize the benefits of
our solutions.

Vocera Communication System

The Vocera Communication system is comprised afique software platform that connects communicatievices, including our hands-free,
wearable, voice-controlled communication badged,tamd-party mobile devices that use our softwapplications to become part of the Vocera
system. The system transforms the way mobile werkemmunicate by enabling them to instantly connéttt the right person simply by saying
the name, function or group name of the person Weayt to reach, often while remaining at the paifitare. Our system responds to over 100
spoken commands.

Some examples of common commands are shown below.
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Action Spoken commands

Call by name CallJohn Smith.

Call a group member Call anAnesthesiologist.

Dial a phone number or extension Dial exten8ib#b.

Initiate a broadcast to a group Broadcast t&Emergency Response Team
Locate nearest member of a group Where iseheast member @ecurity?
Send a voice message Record a message f@ediatric Nursing

Components of the Vocera Communication System d&clu

Software platform. At the heart of our Vocera Communication System jgtent-protected, enterprise-class softwaregptatthat runs on
our customer’s Windows-based servers. The inteligeof our client-server system is contained prilparithin our server-software. This
platform contains an optimized speech recognitiogiree, intelligent call routing and management fiomality, reporting and analytics tools,
clinical directories and user profiles. In addititime platform contains our robust workflow capiypithat enables customization of workflow
patterns for each customer. Recognizing the ragixlpanding footprint of care, our scalable softwaledform can support multiple
geographic sites and multiple facilities withine@ahthcare system to help clinicians stay conneittdke current status of their patients.
Communication badge Our communication badge is a wearable device wegglgiss than two ounces that operates over cussomer
industry-standard Wi-Fi networks. The badge is waipped to a shirt or on a lanyard. It can be usecbnduct hands-free communication
and is the only hands-free device of its kindniileles instant two-way voice conversations withtbatneed to remember a phone number or
use a handset. An over-the-air update mechanismlassly updates device software. Our badge alspocates automatic diagnostic
mechanisms that feed data on wireless network pegioce back to the software platform for reporting diagnosis of problems. The Voc
B3000 badge, our fourth generation communicatiatgbaoffers improved durability, a louder speakemioisy environments and propriet
acoustic noise reduction technology to improve speecognition by eliminating background noiseApril 2014 the Vocera B3000
communication badge received FIPS P4Certification from the National Institute of Stimds and Technology. In January 2015, we rec
an Authority to Operate (ATO) certification frometi.S. Department of Defense. Both of these ceatifins are requirements to sell our
solutions to U.S. government and military hospatadl medical facilities.

Integration Platform.Our integration platform contains a diverse settahdards-based and customized adapters to ayvafrieiephony,
clinical and EHR systems along with a robust setatkflow engines. With the ability to integratedamanage workflows with over 60 third-
party clinical systems, including nurse call, patismonitoring and EHR systems, our integrationfptat provides the content, context and
workflow that enable the immediate delivery of naietive alerts and contextually relevant data tepital workers, helping to improve patient
safety and satisfaction.

Vocera Collaboration SuiteThe Vocera Collaboration Suite provides a seanttedi-mode communications and collaboration expere
combining the unique calling, texting, alerting ammhtent distribution capabilities of Vocera intsexure, easy-tase smartphone applicatis
Available and certified for use on commercially-gafale IOS® and Android® smartphones as well asesdedicated enterprise Wi-Fi
devices, the Vocera Collaboration Suite supportk personal (BYOD) and shared device usage motlets Collaboration Suite includes a
secure enterprise messaging and alerting solutatrprovides robust, reliable, HIPAA-compliant ety of critical pages, text, messages,
alarms and alerts. Users can receive and send gessam smartphones, and send through a web-lsassdle, or through integrated third-
party clinical systems. Our software platform pd®s a highly reliable push messaging mechanisnedsg/centralized routing intelligence,
a directory of clinical users and contacts andntieaitoring controls that display a real-time dasdrooof delivery and receipt confirmations
and responses.

Vocera Alarm Management and Cardiac Consults a result of the early 2014 acquisition of mVisunt., we offer an FDA cleared
technology that acts as a secondary alarm noiificatystem and provides clinical context, includiaveforms, like EKGs and vital signs,
providing decision support and insight into theicality of each alarm. The Alarm Management systesms patented push notification
technology to connect with and distribute data fedmost any hospital alarm-generating device atigletealarms and patient details to
physicians and specialists on their smartphonesfi@ioable dashboards allow users to monitor alaamsalarm responses at the floor, nurse
and individual bed levels. Vocera Alarm Analyticenks in conjunction with the Vocera Alarm Managetgystem and provides hospitals
with the evidence needed to manage and improveadlsim management strategy with the goal of redpalarm fatigue, improving patient
safety, and enhancing care team efficiency. In Bdsgg 2014, our Cardiac Consult solution received
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certification by Australia's Therapeutic Goods Adisiration (TGA). The TGA is Australia's governmeagency for regulating medical
devices and drugs.

Vocera Care Experience

Our Care Experience solution is a hosted softwaite /e developed to improve patient and staff eégepee. Vocera Care Experience suite offers
caregivers communication solutions that span thieeecare continuum - before admission, duringttresat and after discharge. This patient-
centric solution is designed to enable hospitatstealth systems to improve care quality and saéetilance patient experience and satisfaction,
simplify and automate manual tasks and procedurgspve patient satisfaction scores under the Hak@ionsumer Assessment of Healthcare
Providers and Systems Survey (HCAHPS), and otherinisrease revenue and decrease costs.

Vocera Care Experience includes the following medul

» Pre-Arrival Communication - Enables organizations to send timely informatmpatients prior to scheduled procedures, streéamgi
the arrival process, decreasing no-shows and lesttencancellations and improving patient engageémen

 Good to Go®- Live discharge instructions are recorded andredgunade available for patients, families and otteee providers to
review at any time, using any device.

» Care Calls- Streamlines patient follow-up calls and workflousing best practice checklists, risk stratificatioformation and recorded
discharge instructions.

» Care Rounds- Measures and manages patient experience duhiogmtal stay in real-time to evaluate gaps irs&attion and provide
service recovery interventions.

e Business Intelligence Multi-dimensional dashboards identify gaps in coumication, compliance and performance for eaciepitby
department and for the entire enterprise, acrassdhtinuum of care.

* PCP (Primary Care Physician) Notification- Patient updates can be sent by the hospital\stateéxt and/or email to primary care
physicians to keep them up-to-date on their patiesatre.

*  SNF (Skilled Nursing Facility) Communication- Patient discharge notifications along with reeata@are instructions can be sent to
skilled nursing facilities, ensuring safer caraitions.

Services

Our customer-centric strategy is supported by enrises and support capabilities, which help cust@noptimize their use of Vocera solutions
and enhance users' experience with our productss@uices organization consists of the following:

« Experience Innovation Network. T he Experience Innovation Network is a membershigam that partners with healthcare provider
organizations to further the development of innmret and solutions that improve patient experieam@t clinical and operational
performance. Services offered by the Experiencevation Network include: advisory services focusadieveloping organizational
alignment around patient experience strategy aiodities, developing process improvement plansitwéase patient and caregiver
satisfaction, providing curriculum and implemerdattools on topics such as improving plan of cammunication, service line experience
mapping, and developing physician and nurse paatines.

» Professional services. Our professional services are key to helping custerauccessfully deploy, manage, update and/omexbeeir
Vocera systems in order to gain the full benefitewr solutions. As of December 31, 2014, our Bsienal services team consisted of 39
professionals with expertise in wireless commuieatclinical workflow, end-user training, speediesice and project management,
approximately half of whom are nurses who undetstard can assist clients in addressing the chakeafjclinical communication issues.
We offer a full suite of services, including clinlavorkflow design, wireless assessment, solutmfiguration, training and project
management, enabling customers to integrate outi@o$ and improve workflow efficiency and stafbductivity. We also provide classroc
and distance learning curricula for systems adrmatisrs, information technology professionals alimiaal educators.

» Technical support We provide 24x7 technical support to our custontiesugh our support centers in San Jose, Califpiiraeonto,
Canada; Knoxville, Tennessee and Reading, Unitedddm. As of December 31, 2014, our technical sttgpam consisted of 40 technical
support professionals with expertise in wireleskephony, integration, servers and client devi€es.team utilizes remote diagnostic tools to
proactively assess the performance of customeemgstEach support center includes bilingual Frégraglish engineers. We assign technical
account management resources to our largest asctauhelp them expand the use of our solutiondaititate adoption of new functionalit
Additional services, including an annual Remotet&ysHealth Assessment and biweekly technical welgdacation, are offered as project-
based consulting or through our membership colkba.

» Vocera UniversityWe provide hands-on, interactive educational expee through classroom training, distance learaimgistomized
courseware covering best practices, implementatwhuse of our solutions. Training courses areigeavfor systems administrators, IT
professionals and industry-specific, end-user edusa
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Sales and marketing
Sales

Our sales employees call on hospitals and head#tsysmtems in the United States, the United Kingddastralia, New Zealand, Singapore,
Malaysia and several countries in the Middle EAstof December 31, 2014, we had 117 sales and atsapport employees. The sales team is
organized to allow us to better serve our custoraedsto support the different elements of our ssilegegy. Certain members of the sales team
focus on the development of new customer relatipsshvith large integrated health systems and gowent healthcare facilities. Our
compensation is structured to incentivize new antdaevelopment, including higher commissions paidiew customers. We supplement our
sales organization by utilizing a U.S. governmautharized reseller to facilitate our sales to Vatar Administration and Department of Defense
healthcare facilities. Sales team members alscsfoounew customer development with smaller systmdsndividual hospitals. The sales team
further includes account managers who focus orieand additional sales to existing customers evWeance our sales efforts by including in
sales staff individuals with nursing backgroundaddress clinical uses with, and provide utilizatiavice to, customers and potential customers.
We have also staffed our sales team with systermeag who focus on the technical elements of sysigtimization, particularly wireless, and
overall product configuration. We have a small cligales team to focus on developing our non-healéhbusiness, including hospitality, energy
and other mission critical mobile work environments

We strive to hire sales employees with at leastedds of experience selling enterprise solutiorfsei@lthcare and who have experience selling in
competitive and complex environments with multigéeision makers. In markets outside the UnitedeStatur sales efforts are supplemented
select group of resellers and distributors.

Marketing

Our marketing efforts focus on building awareness generating demand. We believe continuing tceiase our brand recognition is important
for the growth of our business as well as geneggatiEemand for our solutions. As of December 31, 20ikthad 23 employees in marketing,
product management and business development.

Our customer-centric marketing strategy is impdrtargenerating new sales leads as word of mowtmetion and testimonials are some of our
most valuable marketing tools. A number of our costrs have agreed to participate in video testiaisnivhite papers and case studies that
validate the efficacy and the financial benefit®of solutions. We have been featured in numerdides and on network television
demonstrating increased patient satisfaction, stiiead hospital operations and enhanced employfegys@dditionally, we sponsor numerous
customer-led webinars to demonstrate customer ss@r#l to let prospective customers hear from fesr group about the positive impact that
our solutions have made on their hospitals. Manyuofsales leads come from referrals of existirggamers or users who have moved from a
hospital already using Vocera to a new facilityhealth system.

We have an integrated product management orgamiztitat manages the full lifecycle of our produants services; from strategy through
execution to end-of-life. Our product roadmapsdireen by current and prospective customers antrogally validated using primary and
secondary research. We collect customer feedbaokgh surveys and focus groups, customer visitastomer advisory board, user forums and
participation in industry standards organizatidngegral to this team are product managers andexgerience designers skilled in clinical and
operating workflows and business development regsuthat create and manage the ecosystems oftlamid technology system partners.

Customers

Our customers include 1,044 hospitals and othdthuzae facilities, of which over 140 are outsidéh® United States. In addition, we have
deployed our Vocera Communication solution in &80 customers in other non-healthcare marketsh@aithcare customers include national
and international health and hospital systemselargl mediunsized independent and academic hospitals, smalitatssand healthcare facilitie
and U.S. governmental hospitals and care facilies diverse customer base has very low custoevemnue concentration.

During 2014 and 2013 , non-U.S. markets represeappdoximately 9.9% and 10.5% of our revenue, respdy. We are developing plans to
offer our solutions in a wider range of internaibmarkets.
Competition

We do not believe any single competitor offersnailsir intelligent communication system to the hiezdtre market that allows instant, hands-free
communication through voice-activated, role-bassdi activity-based calling, secure texting, andicihintegrations and workflows on a
combination of dedicated, proprietary devices, ab as third-party smartphones and other devices.
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At this time, the primary alternative to our systeamsists of a combination of traditional commuti@amethods utilizing wired phones, Wi-Fi
in-building phones, smartphones, pagers and overpaging systems.

The most significant alternative with which we catgfor sales in the hospital are in-building waesl telephones. While we compete with the
providers of these wireless phones in making galé®espitals, they do not at this time purportdatain the system intelligence, integrated
workflow and convenience of our Communication solut The market for in-building wireless phoneslgsninated by large communications
companies such as Cisco Systems, Ascom and Sjrectral

We believe that the use of mobile smartphone ampldalthcare will continue to expand in our tamgarket and may represent a source of
competition but this trend also represents an dppity to expand our communication solutions withr €ollaboration Suite smartphone apps,
which enable all members of the patient's care tearonnect to our software platform and parti@pas users on our Communication system.

We believe that the primary competitive factorsvatk in our market include:

» comprehensiveness of the solution and the feaproesdec
e product performance and reliabi

» the initial cost and ongoing cost of owner:

e customer service and support capabil

We may face increased competition in the futurelpiting competition from large, multinational compes with significant resources. Potential
competitors may have existing relationships withchasers of other products and services withirhtigpital, which may enhance their ability to
gain a foothold in our market.

Research and development

Our continued investment in research and developmemnitical to our business. We have assemblaoh$eof engineers with expertise in various
fields, including software, firmware, database desapplications, speech recognition, wireless camuoation and hardware design. We employ
research and development personnel in San Jostgr@ial Knoxville, Tennessee; Toronto, Canada Badgalore, India. There were 90 full-time
research and development employees as of Decerhp2034 . We also utilized small teams of contneciio India and Ukraine to assist with
quality assurance testing and automation, andtedgievelopment efforts. Our research and developsenditures were $18.0 million , $14.9
million and $11.6 million in 2014 , 2013 and 20X2spectively.

Intellectual property

Our success depends, in part, upon our abilitydtept our core technology and intellectual propefb accomplish this, we rely on a
combination of intellectual property rights, incing patents, trade secrets, copyrights and trademas well as customary contractual protect

We held, as of December 31, 2014, 20 U.S. patemsiding patents on many capabilities of our saftevplatform and communication badge.
The expiration dates of these patents range fral8 Brough 2032. One or more utility patents hdse been issued in Australia, Canada, India,
Japan and the European Patent Office (with vabdati Germany, France, the United Kingdom and teéhBrlands). A European Community
design patent has been issued that protects tigndasnultiple European jurisdictions. As of Dedaen 31, 2014, we had three patent applica
pending in the United States, and one or mordyufttent applications are pending in Canada amek garisdictions.

In addition to the foregoing protections, we getigr@ontrol access to and use of our proprietafingare and other confidential information
through the use of internal and external conttalduding non-disclosure agreements and othertsigtand contractual protections applicable to
employees, contractors, customers and partnerseTgretections include U.S. and international cighyraws.

Our solutions include software developed and owneds as well as software components we have ktefhese non-exclusive licenses are
terminable by the licensor for cause. Certain ek#licenses are for a contractually specified tamchcannot be renewed without the assent of the
licensor. In the event one or more of these liceséerminated or is not renewed, we could beireduo redesign substantial portions of our
software in order to incorporate software composiémaim alternative sources. An unplanned redesigruosoftware could materially and
adversely affect our business.

Manufacturing operations and suppliers

We outsource the manufacturing of our device prtstecoriginal design manufacturers and contractufecturer, SMTC Corporation (SMTC).
Our communication badge is currently built in Mexigsing custom tools and test equipment owned by

9




Table of Contents

us. Initial volumes of new products may be manufeet by our contract manufacturer in U.S. fac#itiMost of our accessories, including
batteries, chargers and attachments, are builtiginal design manufacturers in Asia.

These manufacturers are responsible for procutingeacomponents included in our products as $jgecand approved by us. Some of these
components are sole-sourced off-the-shelf and ssmeustom components built exclusively for ourdpicis. In the event we are unable to
procure certain components, we could be requireddesign some of our products in order to incafmtechnology from alternative sources. An
unplanned redesign of our products could materaatlg adversely affect our business.

We require our suppliers to perform both incoming autgoing product inspections. In addition, wefgren in-house quality control and ongoing
reliability testing.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014 , we had 375 employeesistimg of 21 in manufacturing and quality openasio90 in research and development, 140
in sales and marketing, 79 in services and 45 ireige and administrative. None of our employees<avered by a collective bargaining
agreement or are represented by a labor union.dN&der current employee relations to be good.

Backlog

Our backlog of undelivered orders was $33.1 milbol $24.4 million at December 31, 2014 and 20&3pectively. Of the current backlog, all
but $3.1 million is expected to be delivered in 201

Government regulations and standards

Substantially all of our revenue is derived frora trealthcare industry. The healthcare industrygkiy regulated and is subject to changing
political, legislative, regulatory and other infhmes. These factors affect the purchasing practicdoperations of healthcare organizations, as
well as the behavior and attitudes of our usersltHeare reform has been recently enacted at ttedklevel. We expect federal and state
legislatures and agencies to continue to consiagrams to reform or revise aspects of the U.Sthee system. These programs may contain
proposals to increase governmental involvemeneaithcare or otherwise change the environment iahwimealthcare industry participants
operate.

HIPAA privacy and security standarc

In connection with our healthcare communicationsitess, we access personal health information balbef our customers. Accordingly, in the
United States, we are subject to the Health Insr&wortability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIRA and its implementing regulations, which
established uniform standards for certain “covexetities” (healthcare providers engaged in ele@troransactions, health plans and healthcare
clearinghouses) governing the conduct of certantebnic healthcare transactions and protectingdearity and privacy of protected health
information. The American Recovery and Reinvestmartof 2009 included sweeping expansion of HIPAAIs/acy and security standards as
reflected in the Health Information Technology Exonomic and Clinical Health Act, (HITECH). Amonther things, the new law makes certain
HIPAA privacy and security standards directly apglile to “business associates” - independent arintsaor agents of covered entities that
receive or obtain protected health informationdnmection with providing a service on behalf ofbaered entity. HITECH also increased the ¢
and criminal penalties that may be imposed agam&tred entities, business associates and possli®y persons, and gave state attorneys ge
new authority to file civil actions for damagesimjunctions in federal courts to enforce the feteH®AA laws and seek attorney’s fees and costs
associated with pursuing federal civil actions. Mafsour customers are covered entities under HIRAA, to the extent that we access personal
health information on their behalf, we are theinsmess associates” and are subject to HIPAA asacéged contractual obligations, as well as
comparable state privacy and security laws.

In addition, we are subject to privacy and secugtulations in other jurisdictions. For examples European Union (EU) adopted the Data
Protection Directive (DPD) (officially Directive 886/EC ), imposing strict regulations and estaliigla series of requirements regarding the
storage of personally identifiable information amgputers or recorded on other electronic medias s been implemented by all EU member
states through national laws. DPD provides for gjgaegulations requiring all non-EU countries dgibusiness with EU member states to
provide adequate data privacy protection when vaagpersonal data from any of the EU member st&silarly, Canada’s Personal
Information and Protection of Electronic Documefits provides Canadian residents with privacy prides in regard to transactions with
businesses and organizations in the private saotbsets out ground rules for how private sectgamizations may collect, use and disclose
personal information in the course of commercidivdes.

These statutes, regulations and contractual oligmtmpose numerous requirements regarding thanelisclosure of personal health
information with which we must comply, and subjestto material liability and other adverse impaotsur
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business in the event we fail to do so. These dglwithout limitation, civil fines, criminal sanehs in certain circumstances, contractual liapilit
to our customer, and damage to our brand and raput&Ve endeavor to mitigate these risks througlasares we believe to be appropriate fo
specific circumstances, including storing persat@h under our control on password-protected systersecure facilities, counseling our
customers as to best practices in using our solsitiand encrypting such information.

Medical device regulatiol

The U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) regaatertain products, including software-based mtsjas “medical devices” based, in part,
on the intended use of the product and the riskiéwice poses to the patient should the devicedgkerform properly. We have concluded that
our communication products are general-purpose aamuation devices not subject to FDA regulationwdger, either the FDA could disagree
with our conclusion or changes in our product eriDA’s evolving regulations could lead to the imjion of medical device regulation on our
products. In this event, we would be subject teesive regulatory requirements, including the espesf compliance with Medical Device
Reporting and Quality System regulation and thepitd! of liability for failure to comply, and wedald be required to obtain 510(k) clearance
or premarket approval of our products from the FRbidr to commercial distribution. Some of the nenogucts acquired as a result of the mVi
acquisition are regulated by the FDA as Class Idios devices under applicable law and FDA regafatj including being subject to the current
2.3% excise tax under the Affordable Care Act. €laslevices are devices classified by the FDA@sm a moderate to high risk and therefore
subject to both “general controls” and “specialtcols”, as such terms are defined in the Food, g Cosmetics Act. Further, for other
products we could become subject to the 2.3% exaisé the FDA were to determine in the futuretttiey constitute medical devices.

Electrical standards and FCC regulatior

Our products emit radio frequency energy in theahd 5.0 GHz spectrum bands for which licensinglfy. and other regulatory authorities is
required, provided that the products conform tdaierequirements, e.g., maximum power output atetance of interference from other devices
sharing that spectrum band. We subject our prodadtssting by independent testing laboratoriectnpliance with the relevant standards is:
by various U.S. and international bodies, includimg EU (with respect to the “CE” mark), the Intaional Electrotechnical Commission, the
Australian Communications and Media Authority, Urnwdiéters Laboratories and CSA International.

Information about segment and geographic revenue

Information about segment and geographic revensetiforth in Note 9 of the Notes to ConsolidatethRcial Statements under Item 8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition, finandiaflormation regarding our operations, assets atliiies, including our total net revenue and
net income (loss) for the years ended Decembe2@®4 , 2013 and 2012 , and our total assets agofiber 31, 2014 and 2013, is included in
our Consolidated Financial Statements under ItexhtBis Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Executive officers

The names of our executive officers, their agesf ddarch 12, 2015, and their positions are showovwe

Name Age Position

Brent D. Lang 47 President and Chief Executivio®f

Justin R. Spencer 43 Executive Vice PresidentGhidf Financial Officer
Jay M. Spitzen, Ph.D., J.D. 65 General CounsglGorporate Secretary

M. Bridget Duffy, M.D. 55 Chief Medical Officer

Paul Johnson 51 Executive Vice President of SaldsServices

The Board chooses executive officers, who thenesatwthe Board discretion. There is no family relationship besweany of our directors
executive officers.

Brent D. Langassumed the role of President and Chief Executiffieed effective June 1, 2013. Mr. Lang served as Bresident and Ch
Operating Officer from October 2007 through May 20Erom February 2007 to October 2007, he servemlingxecutive Vice President, fr
January 2007 to June 2007, he served as our ACtimegf Executive Officer, and from June 2001 throuJgimuary 2007, he served as our '
President of Marketing and Business DevelopmemtmFseptember 1995 to June 2001, Mr. Lang serveersr director of marketing for 3C«
Corporation, a networking company, where he wagarsible for 3Cons digital home products. From June 1991 to Jun&,198. Lang worke
as a strategy consultant for Monitor Company,
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Inc., a consulting firm, advising Fortune 500 compa. Mr. Lang earned a B.S. degree in Industnal ®perations Engineering from
University of Michigan and an M.B.A. degree fronet8tanford University Graduate School of Business.

Justin R. Spencehas served as our Executive Vice President andf Emiancial Officer since August 2014. From Septem®008 to Novemb
2013, he served as Executive Vice President anéfCFinancial Officer for Symmetricom, Inc., a prder of precise timekeeping ¢
synchronization solutions, which was acquired bgrgéemi Corporation in November 2013. From June7 200April 2008, Mr. Spencer ser
as the Executive Vice President and Chief Finar@ificer at Covad Communications Group Inc., a pew of broadband integrated voice
data communications. From November 2002 until M89@72 Mr. Spencer served in various positions atado€ommunications Group In
including Interim Chief Financial Officer, Vice Fident of Finance and Director of Corporate Develept. Mr. Spencer holds a bachetor’
degree in accounting from the University of Utald anmaster’s degree from The Wharton School of rigss.

Dr. Jay M. Spitzelhas served as our General Counsel since April 20illas our Corporate Secretary since June 2015ditzen has served
our counsel since our founding in February 2000nt4994 to 2000, he was a partner at Gray Cary \&dfeeidenrich LLP (now DLA Pipe
LLP), a law firm. From September 1988 to 1994, Bpitzen was an attorney with Ware & Freidenrich.Palaw firm. From 1982 to 1985,
held positions as an engineering manager and viegident of planning for Convergent Technologies,,la workstation company that he co-
founded in 1979. From 1978 to 1979, Dr. Spitzen avataff scientist with Xerox Corporation, a docamt@anagement company. From Septet
1974 to March 1978, he worked as a software enginglke SRI International, Inc., an independent, prafit research institute. Dr. Spitzen ear

an A.B. degree in Applied Mathematics from Harv&uallege, Ph.D. and S.M. degrees in Applied Math@sdtom Harvard University, anc
J.D. degree from Harvard Law School.

M. Bridget Duffy, M.Dhas served as our Chief Medical Officer since Jgn@813. From November 2010 to December 2012, sheed as tF
Chief Executive Officer of ExperiaHealth. From J@907 to June 2009, Dr. Duffy served as chief drpee officer of the Cleveland Clinic
nonprofit academic medical center. Dr. Duffy earned hector of Medicine in June 1991 from the Univeraf Minnesota and currently hold
Physician and Surgeon license in both the statétirofesota and California.

Paul Johnsorthas served as our Executive Vice President of SadsServices since October 2013. From August 80 Txtober 2013, Mr.
Johnson served as Vice President of Sales at Dig#ight, a provider of online and mobile bankswutions. Mr. Johnson served as Vice
President of Sales and Relationship Managementuit's Financial Services Division (which was remed Digital Insight following Intuit's sale
of this business in August 2013) from January 2@1August 2013. From November 2007 to December 204 @erved as the Executive Vice
President, North America, Sage Business SolutionS&ge Software, Inc., a provider of business gemant software and services. In addition,
Mr. Johnson previously served in various salessamdices functions at International Business Maehi@orporation. Mr. Johnson earned his
M.B.A and B.S degrees in Business Administrati@mfithe University of Southern California.

Available information

We make available our Annual Reports on Form 1@#arterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reportsam 8-K and amendments to those
reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 18¢aSection 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Ad384 (Exchange Act), as amended, free of
charge on our website wivw.vocera.comas soon as reasonably practicable after theglacgronically filed with or furnished to the Seitieis
and Exchange Commission, or SEC. Additionally, esgif materials filed by us with the SEC may beeased at the SEC's Public Reference
Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20&4&twww.sec.govi-or information about the SEC's Public ReferencerRacontact 1-800-
SEC-0330.

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high de@ferisk. You should carefully consider the rigkd uncertainties described below, toget
with all of the other information set forth in tlAsinual Report on Form 10-K. Our business, finahotadition, results of operations or future
prospects could be materially and adversely harihady of the following risks, or other risks oraertainties that are not yet identified or that
currently believe are immaterial, actually occuheTtrading price of our common stock could dectine to any of these risks or uncertainties,
and, as a result, you may lose all or part of ymwestment.

Risks related to our business and industry

We have incurred significant losses in the pastdanill likely experience losses in the future.
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We have incurred significant losses in the pastrapdrted a net loss of $28.3 million for the yeaded December 31, 2014. As of December 31,
2014 , we had an accumulated deficit of $92.7 anilli If we cannot achieve profitability in futurenpds, our business and our stock price may be
adversely affected.

Our ability to be profitable in the future depeng®n continued demand for our communication sahstiwom existing and new customers.
Further market adoption of our solutions, includingreased penetration within our existing cust@neéepends upon our ability to improve
patient safety and satisfaction and increase hadgfficiency and productivity, and to bring valiecustomers outside of healthcare. Additionally,
further adoption of our solutions in non-healthcawarkets depends on our ability to modify our piiduo successfully respond to the challenges
in those markets and our sales efforts to reackhuhtmers in those markets. In addition, our tabfiity will be affected by, among other things,
our ability to execute on our business strategytithing and size of orders, the pricing and co$taur solutions, macroeconomic conditions
affecting the health care industry and the extenthich we invest in sales and marketing, reseanchdevelopment and general and
administrative resources.

We depend on sales of our Vocera Communication sioluin the healthcare market for substantially adif our revenue, and any further
decrease in sales would harm our business.

To date, substantially all of our revenue has lsemived from sales of our Vocera Communication thmfuto the healthcare market and, in
particular, hospitals. Sales of our Vocera Commation solution to the healthcare market accourne®®%, 91% and 92% of our revenue for
years ended December 31, 2014 , December 31, 2011304 2, respectively. We anticipate that salesuofvVocera Communication solution will
represent a significant portion of our revenuettier foreseeable future. Total product revenue nedliL8.1% for the year ended December 31,
2014 compared to the year ended December 31, 20&3p a decline in sales of our Vocera Commurdoafolution. A further decrease in
revenue from sales of our Vocera Communicationst&ol would harm our business.

We obtain a significant portion of our sales froxisng hospital customers. While we are seekingeibour Vocera Communications solution to
non-healthcare customers, we do not anticipatestiles of our Vocera Communication solution in heaithcare markets will represent a
significant portion of our revenue for the foreddeduture.

Our success depends in part upon the deploymentrofocera Communication solution by new hospitetomers, the expansion and upgrade of
our solution at existing customers, and our abilitgontinue to provide on a timely basis cost-@fie solutions that meet the requirements of our
hospital customers. Our Vocera Communication smutequires a substantial upfront investment byoeners. Typically, our hospital customers
initially deploy our solution for specific usersspecific departments before expanding our solutilmother departments or for other users. The
cost of the initial deployment depends on the nunobe@sers and departments involved, the size gaiathe hospital and the condition of the
existing wireless infrastructure, if any, withirethospital.

Even if hospital personnel determine that our Vacgommunication solution provides compelling besediver their existing communications
methods, their hospitals may not have, or may eavitling to spend, the resources necessary tallrestd maintain wireless infrastructure to
initially deploy and support our solution or expand solution to other departments or users. Halspére currently facing significant budget
constraints from unpredictable patient populati@mds and commercial reimbursements, and incredsimgnds from, and competition for,
patients. In addition, hospitals, including bottlvgmmental and commercial, are experiencing dexiMedicare reimbursement rates and
increasing compliance demands, and penalties frenmtiplementation of the Patient Protection and@fable Care Act of 2010 (ACA) and ott
healthcare reform legislation. As a consequenceneas continue to experience a slowdown and defefratders for our Vocera Communication
solution that could negatively impact our sales. Wgkeve hospitals are currently prioritizing atition of funds for capital and infrastructure
improvements to benefit from electronic health rdsancentives and for compliance with ICD-10 diegis coding requirements, which may
impact their ability to purchase and deploy ouusoh. We might not be able to sustain or increagerevenue from sales of our Vocera
Communication solution, or achieve the growth r#itas we envision, if hospitals continue to fagmn#ficant budgetary constraints and reduce
their spending on communications systems.

Our sales cycle can be lengthy and unpredictabléjel may cause our revenue and operating resultdltwtuate significantly.

Our sales cycles can be lengthy and unpredict&hlesales efforts involve educating our custombmiathe use and benefits of our solutions,
including the technical capabilities of our solacand the potential cost savings and productgaips achievable by deploying them. Customers
typically undertake a significant evaluation prageashich frequently involves not only our solutidng also their existing communications
methods and those of our competitors, and cantriesallengthy sales cycle of nine to twelve morghsore. We spend substantial time, effort
and money in our sales efforts without any
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assurance that our efforts will produce any sateaddition, purchases of our solutions are fretjyesubject to budget constraints, multiple
approvals, and unplanned administrative, procesanagother delays. For example, we experiencedyated sales cycles due to uncertainty
surrounding healthcare reform and lower hospitatiagion trends in 2013 and 2014. At this time, ftatpin the U.S. face significant uncertainty
over the continuing impact of federal governmerddris, and continuing changes in the implementatimhdeadlines for compliance with the
ACA and other healthcare reform legislation, ad @elpotential future statutes and rulemaking.

Our business has gone through cycles of expansi@tative stability and contraction, and if we areohable to manage such cycles effectively,
our operating results may suffer.

We have experienced periods of expansion, relatafility and contraction in our revenues and ojpara in the past. Such fluctuation has pla
and may continue to place, strains on our managesystems, infrastructure and other resources.didheduring growth periods, we may plan

to hire additional direct sales and marketing pemgbdomestically and internationally, acquire ctengentary businesses, technologies or assets,
and increase our investment in research and deweloip Our future operating results depend to @lasgent on our ability to successfully
implement such plans and manage such investmemido o successfully we must, among other things:

e manage our expenses in line with our operatingspdend current business environm

* maintain and enhance our operational, financialrmadagement controls, reporting systems and proes
* integrate acquired businesses, technologies ofs:

* manage operations in multiple locations and tinmespan

« develop and deliver new solutions and enhancentemsisting solutions efficiently and reliak

We expect to incur costs associated with the imvests made to support our business strategy beferanticipated benefits or the returns are
realized, if at all. If we are unable to grow ouslmess or manage our future growth effectivelyney not be able to take advantage of market
opportunities or develop new solutions or enhancesn® existing solutions. We may also fail to Sfgtcustomer requirements, maintain quality,
execute our business plan or respond to compefitessures, which could result in lower revenueaddcline in the share price of our common
stock.

Our revenue and operating results have fluctuateshd are likely to continue to fluctuate, making owguarterly results difficult to predict,
which may cause us to miss analyst expectations ar&y result in the price of our common stock to tee.

Our operating results have been and may continbe tlifficult to predict, even in the near termdame likely to fluctuate as a result of a variety
of factors, many of which are outside of our cohtro

Comparisons of our revenue and operating results meriod-to-period basis may not be meaningfuli ¥loould not rely on our past results as an
indication of our future performance. Each of thkofving factors, among others, could cause ouratpey results to fluctuate from quarter to
quarter:

» the financial health of our healthcare customedskardgetary constraints on their ability to upgrttdsr communication

» changes in the regulatory environment affectinghealthcare customers, including impedimentbed ability to obtain reimbursement for
their services;

* our ability to expand our sales and marketing dpzra

» the procurement and deployment cycles of our healthcustomers and the length of our sales ¢

e variations in the amount of orders booked in arggicarter but not delivered until later quart

» our mix of solutions and pricing, including discdsibby us or our competito

e our ability to expand into nonealthcare marke

» our ability to develop impactful reseller partneps;

e our ability to forecast demand and manage leadstifmethe manufacture of our solutions;

» our ability to develop and introduce new solutiansl features to existing solutions that achieveketacceptanc

Developments in the healthcare industry and govemiregulations have negatively affected and may tome to negatively affect our busine

Substantially all of our revenue is derived fronstouners in the healthcare industry, in particliaspitals. The healthcare industry is highly
regulated and is subject to changing politicalidiedive, regulatory and other influences. Develepts generally affecting the healthcare industry,
including new regulations or new interpretationgxifting regulations, could adversely affect spegdn information technology and capital
equipment by reducing funding, changing healthpaieng or delivery or creating impediments for abing healthcare reimbursements, which
together with declining admission trends,
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could cause our sales to decline and negativelaainpur business. For example, the profit margfr@io hospital customers are modest, and
pending changes in reimbursement for healthcars cogy reduce the overall solvency of our custoroeczmuse further deterioration in their
financial or business condition.

Since 2009, three significant bills were signed liatwv that impact the U.S. healthcare system. @lits include The Health Information
Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Actaeted under Title XIlII of the American Recovery d&einvestment Act of 2009 (HITECH
Act), the ACA, and the Health Care and EducationdReiliation Act of 2010. Together, these acts elsubstantive changes over several years to
the operating processes, reimbursements and rovesrgng the U.S. healthcare system. The actuakéfedt of these laws on the marketplace is
not yet fully understood.

We believe that our healthcare customers are umdule impact that a number of the elements afelercts will have on their business, and
cannot predict the timing and requirements of thal frules issued by the U.S. Department of Healtth Human Services (HHS) for these statt
making managing their business operations morecdiff Further, as has been experienced since,2@lfules and agency guidance pursuant to
these statutes are implemented and revised by Hid8mber of aspects of the acts have been intethnetodified or delayed. For example,
sudden changes in the rules for individuals buyisgrance through state or federal health insurarckanges, and individual and employer
mandates to have and offer insurance coverage,dielienged hospitals’ abilities to forecast patigilization and revenues, and to set
operational plans and budget accordingly.

Federal budget activities also impact our custom#&ies believe that it is likely that additional Iszitive changes by Congress and rulemaking by
HHS will continue. In addition, many state govermtseare changing or expanding their healthcare,ladding additional complexity to
understanding the potential impacts.

We are unable to predict the full impact of these/mand changing rules on our hospital customersérets in the healthcare industry. Impac
these rules have affected and could continue exffiaterially our customers’ ability to budget éorpurchase our products. The healthcare
industry has changed significantly in recent yeegrd we expect that significant changes will corgitm occur. We cannot provide assurance that
the markets for our solutions will continue to exscurrent levels or that we will have adequathnical, financial and marketing resources to
react to changes in those markets.

We primarily compete in the rapidly evolving andropetitive healthcare market, and if we fail to effievely respond to competitive pressures,
our business and operating results could be harmed.

We believe that at this time the primary compaetitior our Vocera Communication solution consistsradlitional methods using wired and
wireless phones, pagers and overhead intercomde Whibelieve that our system is superior to thegacy methods, our solution requires a
significant infrastructure investment by a hospétatl many hospitals' spending is severely constddiyy other priorities.

Manufacturers and distributors of product categosigch as cellular phones, smartphone applicaji@ygrs, mobile radios and in-building
wireless telephones attempt to sell their prodietsospitals as components of an overall commubitcaystem. Of these product categories, in-
building wireless telephones represent the mosifgignt competition for the sale of our solutidie market for in-building wireless phones is
dominated by communications companies such as Ggstems, Ascom and Spectralink. In addition, ttodifpration of smartphones and related
applications may represent a new category of cathygebfferings. While we consider secured text-saggng using smartphones a feature valued
by many customers, we do not believe most of otemi@l customers would consider that feature almeadequate substitute for a voice
communication solution. However, some customers chapse free text-messaging solutions even if nBAA-compliant, given their budget
constraints.

While we do not have a directly comparable comgethiat provides a solution as richly-featuredres\{ocera Communication system for the
healthcare market, we could face such competitidhe future. Potential competitors in the healtb@ca communications markets include large,
multinational companies with significantly moreaasces to dedicate to product development and aalgsnarketing. These companies may |
existing relationships within the hospital, whiclayrenhance their ability to gain a foothold in market. Customers may prefer to purchase a
more highly integrated or bundled solution fromirayke provider or an existing supplier rather tlaamew supplier, regardless of performance or
features. Accordingly, if we fail to effectivelygpond to competitive pressures, we could experipricang pressure, reduced profit margins,
higher sales and marketing expenses, lower revandi¢he loss of market share, any of which wouldnhaur business, operating results or
financial condition.

If we fail to increase market awareness of our bihand solutions, and expand our sales and marketoperations, our business could |
harmed.
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We intend to continue to add personnel and reseuncgales and marketing as we focus on expandiagesess of our brand and solutions and
capitalize on sales opportunities with new andtexgscustomers. Our efforts to improve sales ofsmlutions will result in an increase in our s:
and marketing expense and general and adminigrexpense, and these efforts may not be succeSsfuke newly hired sales and marketing
personnel may subsequently be determined to beduagtive and have to be replaced, resulting inataral and sales delays and incremental
costs. If we are unable to significantly incredseawareness of our brand and solutions or effelgtimanage the costs associated with these
efforts, our business, financial condition and agieg results could be harmed.

If we fail to offer high-quality services and support for any of our solaitis, our ability to sell those solutions will be tmaed.

Our ability to sell our Vocera Communication or E€&xperience solutions is dependent upon our psiofieal services and technical support te
providing high-quality services and support. Owfessional services team assists our customershgthwireless infrastructure assessment,
clinical workflow design, communication solutionrdiguration, training and project management duthgpre-deployment and deployment
stages. Once our solutions are deployed withirséocuer’s facility, the customer typically dependsour technical support team to help resolve
technical issues, assist in optimizing the useuofsolutions and facilitate adoption of new funnatity. If we do not effectively assist our
customers in deploying our solutions, succeed ipihg our customers quickly resolve technical atiteo post-deployment issues, or provide
effective ongoing support services, our abilityeigpand the use of our solutions with existing cugis and to sell our solutions to new customers
will be harmed. If deployment of our solutions issatisfactory, as has been the case with certadparty deployments in the past, we may incur
significant costs to attain and sustain customgsfaation. As we rapidly hire new services andmuppersonnel, we may inadvertently hire
underperforming people who will have to be replacgdail to effectively train such employees, leggdin some instances to slower growth,
additional costs and poor customer relations. titemh, the failure of channel partners to providgh-quality services and support in markets
outside the United States could also harm salesio$olutions.

We depend on a number of sole source and limitedrse suppliers, and if we are unable to source @amponents from them, our business
and operating results could be harmed.

We depend on sole and limited source suppliersdweeral hardware components of our Vocera Commiimicaolution, including our batteries
and integrated circuits. We purchase inventory gdlyethrough individual purchase orders. Any ofdk suppliers could cease production of our
components, cease to provide the necessary lelvglgport for our use of their components, expegerapacity constraints, material shortages,
work stoppages, financial difficulties, cost inges or other reductions or disruptions in outpeise operations or be acquired by, or enter into
exclusive arrangements with, a competitor. Thepeplgrs typically rely on purchase orders rathanttong-term contracts with their suppliers,
and as a result, even if available, the suppliey ntd be able to secure sufficient materials as@aable prices or of acceptable quality to build ou
components in a timely manner. Any of these cirdamses could cause interruptions or delays in #tigety of our solutions to our customers,
and this may force us to seek components fromreitise sources, which may not have the requiredifigations, or be available in time to meet
demand or on commercially reasonable terms, ifl.afny of these circumstances may also force ugttesign our solutions if a component
becomes unavailable in order to incorporate a corpbfrom an alternative source.

Our solutions incorporate multiple software compue@btained from licensors on a non-exclusiveshasich as voice recognition software,
software supporting the runtime execution of odtvgare platform, and database and reporting so#w@ur license agreements can be termir
for cause. In many cases, these license agreespsdy a limited term and are only renewable beythwat term with the consent of the licensor.
If a licensor terminates a license agreement foseaobjects to its renewal or conditions renewahodified terms and conditions, we may be
unable to obtain licenses for equivalent softwan@gonents on reasonable terms and conditions dimgjuicensing fees, warranties or protection
from infringement claims. Some licensors may disicare licensing their software to us or supporthaf software version used in our solutions. In
such circumstances, we may need to redesign outicgtd at substantial cost to incorporate altemeatbftware components or be subject to hi
royalty costs. Any of these circumstances coulceegly affect the cost and availability of our sins.

Third-party licensors generally require us to ipmrate specific license terms and conditions inagreements with our customers. If we are
alleged to have failed to incorporate these liceagas and conditions, we may be subject to claiythese licensors, incur significant legal costs
defending ourselves against such claims and, i slaims are successful, be subject to terminatfditenses, monetary damages, or an
injunction against the continued distribution okar more of our solutions.
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Because we depend upon a contract manufacturer, operations could be harmed and we could lose sélese encounter problems with th
manufacturer.

We do not have internal manufacturing capabiliéied rely upon a contract manufacturer, SMTC, talpece the primary hardware component of
our Vocera Communication solution. We have entarela manufacturing agreement with SMTC that ismteable by either party with advance
notice and that may also be terminated for a nadtericured breach. We also rely on original desigmufacturers, or ODMs, to produce
accessories, including batteries, chargers andhattents. Any of these suppliers could cease pramiuof our components, cease to provide the
necessary levels of support for our use of theinmonents, experience capacity constraints, math@tages, work stoppages, financial
difficulties, cost increases or other reductionslisruptions in output, cease operations or beiesd|by, or enter into exclusive arrangements
with, a competitor. If SMTC or an ODM is unablewnwilling to continue manufacturing components of solutions in the volumes that we
require, fails to meet our quality specificatiomssignificantly increases its prices, we may notbk to deliver our solutions to our customers
with the quantities, quality and performance thaltexpect in a timely manner. As a result, we d¢age sales and our operating results could be
harmed.

SMTC or ODMs may experience problems that couldaatphe quantity and quality of components of ooc&ta Communication solution,
including disruptions in their manufacturing opéras due to equipment breakdowns, labor strikeshortages, component or material shortages
and cost increases. SMTC and these ODMs geneedylyn purchase orders rather than long-term cotstraith their suppliers, and as a result,
may not be able to secure sufficient componentgtar materials at reasonable prices or of acckptalality to build components of our soluti
in a timely manner. The majority of the componesiteur Vocera Communication solution are manufaadun Asia or Mexico and adverse
changes in political or economic circumstancefasé locations could also disrupt our supply aralityuof components of our solutions.
Companies occasionally encounter unexpected diffésuin ramping up production of new products, admay experience such difficulties with
future generations of our products. SMTC and ouM3[lso manufacture products for other companiesie@lly, our orders represent a
relatively small percentage of the overall ordexseived by SMTC and these ODMs from their custonteesefore, fulfilling our orders may not
be a priority in the event SMTC or an ODM is coasted in its ability to fulfill all of its customesbligations. In addition, if SMTC or an ODM is
unable or unwilling to continue manufacturing coments of our solutions, we may have to identify onenore alternative manufacturers. The
process of identifying and qualifying a new contmaanufacturer or ODM can be time consuming, andnag not be able to substitute suitable
alternative manufacturers in a timely manner amaacceptable cost. Additionally, transitioningatnoew manufacturer may cause us to incur
additional costs and delays if the new manufactoasrdifficulty manufacturing components of ourusioins to our specifications or quality
standards.

If we fail to forecast our manufacturing requiremes accurately, or fail to properly manage our inviemy with our contract manufacturer, w
could incur additional costs and experience manufadng delays, which can adversely affect our opting results.

We place orders with our contract manufacturer, 8Mand we and SMTC place orders with suppliersdaseforecasts of customer demand.
Because of our international low cost sourcingtsgw, our lead times are long and cause substgntialre risk to forecasting accuracy than
would result were lead times shorter. Our forecastshased on multiple assumptions, each of whihintroduce errors into our estimates
affecting our ability to meet our customers' densafwd our solutions. We also may face additiona¢éasting challenges due to product
transitions in the components of our solutiongpasur suppliers discontinuing production of matkriand subcomponents required for our
solutions. If demand for our solutions increasgsificantly, we may not be able to meet demand timaly basis, and we may need to expend a
significant amount of time working with our custamméo allocate limited supply and maintain positbustomer relations, or we may incur
additional costs in order to source additional malgand subcomponents to produce componentsrafadutions or to expedite the manufacture
and delivery of additional inventory. If we undememte customer demand, our contract manufactuegrmve inadequate materials and
subcomponents on hand to produce components aiodwtions, which could result in manufacturing mdgtions, shipment delays, deferral or
loss of revenue, and damage to our customer resdtips. Conversely, if we overestimate customeratehnwe and SMTC may purchase more
inventory than required for actual customer ordegsulting in excess or obsolete inventory, theliabyeasing our costs and harming our oper:
results.

If hospitals do not have and are not willing to itedl, upgrade and maintain the wireless infrastruate required to effectively operate o
Vocera Communication solution, then they may exptce technical problems or not purchase our solutiat all.

The effectiveness of our Vocera Communication smtudlepends upon the quality and compatibilityh&f tommunications environment that our
healthcare customers maintain. Our solutions requoice-grade wireless, or Wi-Fi, installed through
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large enterprise environments, which can vary fharspital to hospital and from department to depantmvithin a hospital. Many hospitals have
not installed a voice-grade wireless infrastructifrpotential customers do not have a wirelessvagk that can properly and fully interoperate

with our Vocera Communication solution, then suctetwork must be installed, or an existing Wi-Fiwerk must be upgraded or modified, for
example, by adding access points in stairwellsptorVocera Communication solution to be fully ftional. The additional cost of installing or
upgrading a Wi-Fi network may dissuade potentigtaoners from installing our solution. Furthermafehanges to a customer's physical or
information technology environment cause integraissues or degrade the effectiveness of our solutir if the customer fails to upgrade or
maintain its environment as may be required fotvgarfe releases or updates or to ensure our sokitffectiveness, the customer may not be able
to fully utilize our solution or may experience heical problems, or these changes may impact tiferpgance of other wireless equipment being
used. If such circumstances arise, prospectiverwss may not purchase or existing customers magxpand their use of or deploy upgraded
versions of our Vocera Communication solution, ¢fsgrharming our business and operating results.

If we fail to achieve and maintain certification focertain U.S. federal standards, our sales to UgBvernment customers will suffe

We believe that a significant opportunity existsédl our products to healthcare facilities in Yfeterans Administration and Department of
Defense (DoD). These customers require indeperodgtitication of compliance with specific requirente relating to encryption, security,
interoperability and scalability, including Fedelaformation Processing Standard (FIPS) 140-2 aadp DoD, certification by its Joint
Interoperability and Test Command and under iterimiition Assurance Certification and AccreditatRmocess. We have received certification
under certain of these standards for military-djeconfigurations of the Vocera communication simln incorporating the B2000 and B3000
badges. We are continuing to carry out further d@anpe activities. A failure on our part to achiesgd maintain compliance, both as to current
products and as to new product versions, couldragiyeimpact our revenue.

Our efforts to sell our communications solutions imon-healthcare markets may not be successful.

In recent years, we have actively engaged in sdfeds to customers outside the healthcare marketikiding hospitality, energy and other
mobile work environments. We may not be successfiurther penetrating the non-healthcare markptsuwhich we are initially focusing, or
other new markets. To date, our Vocera Communicagution has been deployed in over 250 customearsn-healthcare markets. Total
revenue from non-healthcare customers accountegboof our revenue for each of the years ended bee31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012. If we
cannot maintain these customers by providing conications solutions that meet their requirementsigfcannot successfully expand our
communications solutions in non-healthcare market#,adoption of our solutions is slow, we mayt nbtain significant revenue from these
markets. We may experience challenges as we exparuh-healthcare markets, including pricing pressure wrsolutions and technical issue
we adapt our solutions for the requirements of neawkets. Our communications solutions also maycantain the functionality required by these
non-healthcare markets or may not sufficientlyatihtiate us from competing solutions such thatoeners can justify deploying our solutions.

If we fail to successfully develop and introducewmasolutions and features to existing solutions, o@venue, operating results and reputatis
could suffer.

Our success depends, in part, upon our abilityeteelbp and introduce new solutions and featurexitting solutions that meet existing and new
customer requirements. We may not be able to dp\aid introduce new solutions or features on alyifbasis or in response to customers’
changing requirements, or that sufficiently diffeiiate us from competing solutions such that custsman justify deploying our solutions. We
may experience technical problems and additionstiscas we introduce new features to our softwatgoin, deploy future models of our wirel
badges and integrate new solutions with existirgjaruer clinical systems and workflows. In additiase, may face technical difficulties as we
expand into non-English speaking countries andrjpamate non-English speech recognition capabilities our Vocera Communication solution.
We also may incur substantial costs or delayseémtlnufacture of any additional new products oref®ds we seek to optimize production
methods and processes at our contract manufachuraddition, we expect that we will at least ialty achieve lower gross margins on new
models, while endeavoring to reduce manufacturogscover time. If any of these problems were igeaour revenue, operating results and
reputation could suffer.

If we do not achieve the anticipated strategic ordncial benefits from our acquisitions or if we ceot successfully integrate them, ol
business and operating results could be harmed.

We have acquired, and in the future may acquineptementary businesses, technologies or assetw¢hatlieve to be strategic, such as our
acquisitions of mVisum in the first quarter of 20d4d Prana Technologies in the third quarter o201
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We may not achieve the anticipated strategic @nfoial benefits, or be successful in integrating aguired businesses, technologies or assets. |
we cannot effectively integrate the acquired bussrend products into our business, we may noteem@rket acceptance for, or significant
revenue from, these new solutions.

Integrating newly acquired businesses, technolagielsassets could strain our resources, could fiensive and time consuming, and might not
be successful. Our recent acquisitions exposendgswa will be further exposed, if we acquire oraast/in additional businesses, technologies or
assets, to a number of risks, including that we:may

» experience technical issues as we integrate achjburginesses, technologies or assets into ouirgkistmmunications solutior

» encounter difficulties leveraging our existirgdes and marketing organizations, and direct sdlaanels, to increase our revenue from
acquired businesses, technologies or assets;

» find that the acquisition does not further ousiness strategy, we overpaid for the acquisitioth® economic conditions underlying our
acquisition decision have changed;

» have difficulty retaining the key personnel of aicgd businesse

» suffer disruption to our ongoing business aneédiion of our management's attention as a rektrimsition or integration issues and the
challenges of managing geographically or culturdiiyerse enterprises; and

» experience unforeseen and significant probleniisbilities associated with quality, technologyddegal contingencies relating to the
acquisition, such as intellectual property or erplent matters.

In addition, from time to time we may enter intagogations for acquisitions that are not ultimatebhsummated. These negotiations could result
in significant diversion of management time, ashaelsubstantial out-of-pocket costs. If we werprtaceed with one or more significant
acquisitions in which the consideration includedicave could be required to use a substantialggodf our available cash. To the extent we i
shares of capital stock or other rights to purcltagstal stock, including options and warrants,dtwmership of existing stockholders would be
diluted. In addition, acquisitions may result ie thcurrence of debt, contingent liabilities, lawgeéte-offs, or other unanticipated costs, evemts o
circumstances, any of which could harm our opegatasults.

We generally recognize revenue from maintenance angport contracts over the contract term, and clgas in sales may not be immediately
reflected in our operating results.

We generally recognize revenue from our customente@ance and support contracts ratably over thér@ct term, which is typically 12 months,
in some cases subject to an early termination.rigetenue from our maintenance and support costesxctounted for 37% , 31% and 26% of our
revenue for the years ended December 31, 2014erimezr 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. A portiothefrevenue we report in each quarter is
derived from the recognition of deferred revendatireg to maintenance and support contracts eniatedluring previous quarters. Consequel

a decline in new or renewed maintenance and supgartir customers in any one quarter may not beddiately reflected in our revenue for that
quarter. Such a decline, however, will negativéfga our revenue in future quarters. Accordinghg effect of significant downturns in sales and
market acceptance of our services and potentiaggsin our rate of renewals may not be fully &tid in our operating results until future
periods.

Our success depends upon our ability to attracteigrate and retain key personnel, and our failur@ do so could harm our ability to grow our
business.

Our success depends, in part, on the continuingcesrof our senior management and other key peedpand our ability to continue to attract,
integrate and retain highly skilled personnel, ipatérly in engineering, sales and marketing. Catitipa for highly skilled personnel is intense,
particularly in the Silicon Valley where our headgers are located. If we fail to attract, integrand retain key personnel, our ability to grow our
business could be harmed.

The members of our senior management and othepdwspnnel are at-will employees, and may termitietie employment at any time without
notice. If one or more members of our senior mameaye: terminate their employment, we may not be tbfend qualified individuals to replace
them on a timely basis or at all and our senioragament may need to divert their attention fronep#spects of our business. Former employees
may also become employees of a competitor. We isaytave to pay additional compensation to at&adtretain key personnel. We also
anticipate hiring additional engineering, marketirgl sales, and services personnel to grow ounéssi Often, significant amounts of time and
resources are required to train these personnem¥yeincur significant costs to attract, integrae retain them, and we may lose them to a
competitor or another company before we realizébtreefit of our investments in them.
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Our international operations subject us, and maycieasingly subject us in the future, to operationfihancial, economic and political risks
abroad.

Although we derive a relatively small portion ofraevenue from customers outside the United Statedelieve that non-U.S. customers could
represent an increasing share of our revenue ifutbee. During the years ended December 31, 2@etember 31, 2013 and 2012, we generated
9.9% , 10.5% and 10.7% of our revenue, respectifigyn customers outside of the United Statespitioly Canada, the United Kingdom,
Australia, the Republic of Ireland and New Zealdndhe second quarter of 2014, we opened a neavation center in India and a sales office in
Dubai, United Arab Emirates. Accordingly, we aréjsat to risks and challenges that we would notétiise face if we conducted our business
solely in the United States, including:

» challenges incorporating non-English speechgeition capabilities into our solutions as we exparto nonEnglish speaking jurisdictior

« difficulties integrating our solutions with wirekeinfrastructures with which we do not have exparé

» difficulties integrating local dialing plans andpdigable PBX standarc

» challenges associated with delivering supportningi and documentation in several langue

» difficulties in staffing and managing personnel aesellers

» the need to comply with a wide variety of forelgws and regulations, including increasinglyrgtent data privacy regulations, requirements
for export controls for encryption technology, eoyhent laws, changes in tax laws and tax audigdwernment agencies;

» political and economic instability in, or foreigomdlicts that involve or affect, the countries afr@ustomer:

« difficulties in collecting accounts receivable dadger accounts receivable payment cy:

» exposure to competitors who are more familiar wottal markets

» risks associated with the Foreign Corrupt PcastiAct and local anbribery law complianci

» limited or unfavorable intellectual property prdiea in some countries; a

» currency exchange rate fluctuations, which couldcthe price of our solutions relative to locatypduced solution

Any of these factors could harm our existing ing&ional business, impair our ability to expand imigrnational markets or harm our operating
results.

Our solutions are highly complex and may containfseare or hardware defects that could harm our refation and operating results.

Our solutions incorporate complex technology, aplalyed in a variety of complex hospital environtseand must interoperate with many
different types of devices and hospital systemsil&\ikie test the components of our solutions foedtf and errors prior to release, we or our
customers may not discover a defect or error aftér we have deployed our solution, integratedtd the hospital environment and our customer
has commenced general use of the solution. Iniadditur solutions in some cases are integrated iéitdware and software offered by
“middleware”vendors in order to interoperate with nurse catemys, device alarms and other hospital systemge tfannot successfully integr
our solution with these vendors as needed or ifremgware or software of these vendors containglafgct or error, then our solution may not
perform as designed, or may exhibit a defect arerr

Any defects or errors in, or which are attributeddur solutions, could result in:

» delayed market acceptance of our affected solu

» loss of revenue or delay in revenue recogni

* loss of customers or inability to attract new costos

» diversion of engineering or other resources foragying the defect or err

« damage to our brand and reputat

« delay in delivery of informatiol

* increased service and warranty costs, includingrmi@l replacement costs for product recalls;
» legal actions by our customers and hospital patjéncluding product liability claim

If any of these occur, our operating results apaditation could be harmed.

We face potential liability related to the privaeynd security of personal information collected thugh our solutions.

In connection with our healthcare communicationsitess, we handle and have access to persondi h€alimation subject in the United States
to HIPAA or HITECH, regulations issued pursuantitese statutes, state privacy and security lawsemdations, and associated contractual

obligations as a “business associate” of healthgareiders. These statutes, regulations
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and contractual obligations impose numerous remquargs regarding the use and disclosure of persmadih information with which we must
comply. Our failure to accurately anticipate thelagation or interpretation of these statutes, feions and contractual obligations as we develop
our solutions, a failure by us to comply with thesguirements (e.g., evolving encryption and ségueiquirements) or an allegation that defects in
our products have resulted in noncompliance bycastomers could create material civil and/or crahirability for us, resulting in adverse
publicity and negatively affecting our business.

In addition, the use and disclosure of persondtih@sormation is subject to regulation in otharigdictions in which we do business or expect to
do business in the future. Those jurisdictions aidgmpt to apply their laws, including new and nfiedi laws enacted in the future,
extraterritorially or through treaties or otheraamgements with U.S. governmental entities and vwghininintentionally violate these laws. Any
such developments, or developments stemming fraterent or modification of other laws, or the fedllpy us to comply with their requireme

or to accurately anticipate the application orriptetation of these laws could create materiailliztio us, result in adverse publicity and
negatively affect our business.

For example, the EU adopted the DPD, imposingts&gulations and establishing a series of requerésregarding the storage of personally
identifiable information on computers or recordedather electronic media. This has been implemeloyeall EU member states through national
laws. DPD provides for specific regulations requgrall non-EU countries doing business with EU menstates to provide adequate data privacy
protection when receiving personal data from anghefEU member states. Similarly, Canada’s Perdafaimation and Protection of Electronic
Documents Act, as well as a variety of provinctatstes, provides Canadian residents with privaoyegtions in regard to transactions with
businesses and organizations in the private saotbsets out ground rules for how private sectgamizations may collect, use and disclose
personal information in the course of commercidéivéties. A finding that we have failed to complyittvapplicable laws and regulations regarding
the collection, use and disclosure of personakinédion could create liability for us, result invadse publicity and negatively affect our business.

Any legislation or regulation in the area of priyaand security of personal information could afféxet way we operate our services and could
harm our business. The costs of compliance witt ,the other burdens imposed by, these and othardawegulatory actions may prevent us f
selling our solutions or increase the costs assstiaith selling our solutions, and may affect ability to invest in or jointly develop solutions i
the United States and in foreign jurisdictions.tker, we cannot assure you that our privacy andrigg@olicies and practices will be found
sufficient to protect us from liability or adverpablicity relating to the privacy and security @rponal information.

The failure of our equipment lease customers to pesyunder leasing agreements with them that we @b sell to third party lease finance
companies could harm our revenue and operating ritsu

In 2012 we began offering our badges and relatedidaae accessories to our customers through medti-gquipment lease agreements. In
connection with each sale, we recognize prodeietted revenue at the net present value of tiee [payment stream once our obligations relat:
such sale have been met. We plan to sell the Huhese leases, including the related accountsvaales, to third party lease finance companies
on a non-recourse basis. We will have to retaimlanigases in-house, which will expose us to tlglitworthiness of such equipment lease
customers over the lease term. For the leasesvthegtain inhouse, our ability to collect payments from a costoor to recognize revenue for
sale could be impaired if the customer fails to nitseobligations to us such as in the case dfarskruptcy filing or deterioration in its financial
position, or has other creditworthiness issues,ainyhich could harm our revenue and operatingltesu

Our use of open source and non-commercial softwamenponents could impose risks and limitations orr @bility to commercialize our
solutions.

Our solutions contain software modules licenseceugen source and other types of mommercial licenses, including the GNU Public Lise,
the Apache License and others. We also may incatpapen source and other licensed software intsautions in the future. Use and
distribution of such software may entail greatsksithan use of third-party commercial softwardicanses of these types generally do not
provide warranties or other contractual protecti@garding infringement claims or the quality of tode. Some of these licenses require the
release of our proprietary source code to the pufle combine our proprietary software with oppemirce software in certain manners. This
could allow competitors to create similar produeith lower development effort and time and ultinbatesult in a loss of sales for us.

The terms of many open source and other non-conahéoenses have not been judicially interpretad there is a risk that such licenses could
be construed in a manner that could impose ungat&d conditions or restrictions on our abilityctommercialize our solutions. In such event, in
order to continue offering our solutions, we cooddrequired to seek licenses from alternative oes which may not be available on a
commercially reasonable basis or at all, to re+eei our solutions or to discontinue the sale ofsolutions in the event we cannot obtain a
license or re-engineer our solutions on a timekida
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any of which could harm our business and opera#sglts. In addition, if an owner of licensed s@teswere to allege that we had not complied
with the conditions of the corresponding licenseeagnent, we could incur significant legal costeddfng ourselves against such allegations. In
the event such claims were successful, we couklibgct to significant damages, be required toaigcour source code, or be enjoined from the
distribution of our solutions.

Claims of intellectual property infringement couldarm our business.

Vigorous protection and pursuit of intellectual peoty rights has resulted in protracted and experigigation for many companies in our
industry. Although claims of this kind have not evélly affected our business to date, there candoassurance of the absence of such claims in
the future. Any claims or proceedings against ugtiver meritorious or not, could be time consumiagult in costly litigation, require significa
amounts of management time, result in the diversiaignificant operational resources, or requsdalenter into royalty or licensing agreements,
any of which could harm our business and operatsglts.

Intellectual property lawsuits are subject to irgmtruncertainties due to the complexity of the méedl issues involved, and we cannot be certain
that we will be successful in defending ourselvgairast intellectual property claims. In additiore wurrently have a limited portfolio of issued
patents compared to many other industry particigaartd therefore may not be able to effectivellzetiour intellectual property portfolio to ass
defenses or counterclaims in response to patamgeiment claims or litigation brought against yslhird parties. Further, litigation may involve
patent holding companies or other adverse patenemwvho have no relevant products and against whorpotential patents may provide little
or no deterrence.

Many potential litigants have the capability to ate substantially greater resources to enforeie ihtellectual property rights and to defend
claims that may be brought against them. Furthegpesuccessful claimant could secure a judgmantdiguires us to pay substantial damage
prevents us from distributing certain solutiongperforming certain services. We might also be nexgliio seek a license and pay royalties for the
use of such intellectual property, which may notlkailable on commercially acceptable terms otlaffternatively, we may be required to
develop non-infringing technology, which could regusignificant effort and expense and may ultinyatet be successful.

If we are unable to protect our intellectual propgrrights, our competitive position could be harmedwe could be required to inct
significant expenses to enforce our right

Our success depends, in part, on our ability téegtaur proprietary technology. We protect oumppigtary technology through patent, copyright,
trade secret and trademark laws in the United $tatd similar laws in other countries. We alsogumbbur proprietary technology through
licensing agreements, nondisclosure agreementstaed contractual provisions. These protections naybe available in all cases or may be
inadequate to prevent our competitors from copyiegerse engineering or otherwise obtaining andgusur technology, proprietary rights or
solutions in an unauthorized manner. The laws ofesforeign countries may not be as protective tfliectual property rights as those in the
United States, and mechanisms for enforcementielfféstual property rights may be inadequate. lditaah, third parties may seek to challenge,
invalidate or circumvent our patents, trademarkpycghts and trade secrets, or applications fgradrthe foregoing. Our competitors may
independently develop technologies that are sutialigrequivalent, or superior, to our technologydesign around our proprietary rights. In each
case, our ability to compete could be significairtipaired.

To prevent unauthorized use of our intellectuapprty rights, it may be necessary to prosecuter&tior infringement or misappropriation of
proprietary rights. Any such action could resulsignificant costs and diversion of our resouraes management's attention, and there can be no
assurance that we will be successful in such acliarthermore, many of our current and potentiahpetitors have the ability to dedicate
substantially greater resources to enforce th&tléctual property rights than us. Accordinglyspige our efforts, we may not be able to prevent
third parties from infringing or misappropriatingrantellectual property. While we plan to continioeprotect our intellectual property with,

among other things, patent protection, there camob@&ssurance that:

» current or future U.S. or foreign patent applicasiovill be approve:

« our issued patents will protect our intellectualgerty and not be held invalid or unenforceablehillenged by third partie

» we will succeed in protecting our technology @ugely in all key jurisdictions in which we devpltechnology, or we or our competitors
operate; or

« others will not independently develop similar omgaeting products or methods or design around atengathat may be issued to
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Our failure to obtain patents with claims of a ssmgcessary to cover our technology, or the inatiid of our patents, or our inability to protect
any of our intellectual property, may weaken oumnpetitive position and harm our business and operaesults. We might be required to spend
significant resources to monitor and protect oteliactual property rights. We may initiate claiorslitigation against third parties for
infringement of our proprietary rights or to establthe validity of our proprietary rights. Anyigiation, whether or not it is resolved in our favor
could result in significant expense to us and ditrex efforts of our technical and management perslh which may harm our business, operating
results and financial condition.

Product liability or other liability claims could ause us to incur significant costs, adversely afféwe sales of our solutions and harm ol
reputation.

Our solutions are utilized by healthcare professi®and others in the course of providing pati@anéclt is possible that patients, family members,
physicians, nurses or others may allege we ar@nsge for harm to patients or healthcare proéesss due to defects in, the malfunction of, the
characteristics of, or the operation of, our solui Any such allegations could harm our reputagiod ability to sell our solutions.

Our solutions utilize lithium-ion batteries andattenic components that may overheat or otherwiakumction as a result of physical or
environmental damage. Components of our solutiamis@dio frequency (RF) emissions which have baged, in connection with cellular
phones, to have adverse health consequences. Magrmetr badges may emit electromagnetic radiaimhmay be alleged to interfere with
implanted medical or other devices. While these maments of our solutions comply with applicabledglines, some may allege that these
components of our solutions cause adverse heatttecoiences. Also, applicable guidelines may charagéng these components of our soluti
non-compliant. Any such allegations or noompliance, or any regulatory developments, coelgatively impact the sales of our solutions, rez
costly modifications to our solutions, and harm mputation.

Although our customer agreements contain termscanditions, including disclaimers of liability, thare intended to reduce or eliminate our
potential liability, we could be required to spesignificant amounts of management time and ressurcdefend ourselves against product
liability, tort, warranty or other claims. If anyeh claims were to prevail, we could be forcedag damages, comply with injunctions or stop
distributing our solutions. Even if potential cla@mo not result in liability to us, investigatingcadefending against these claims could be
expensive and time consuming and could divert mamagt's attention away from our business. We maigeneral liability insurance coverage,
including coverage for errors and omissions; howetds coverage may not be sufficient to covegéaclaims against us or otherwise continue to
be available on acceptable terms. Further, the@nswould attempt to disclaim coverage as to amiiqudar claim.

Some of our solutions are, and others could becosuhject to regulation by the U.S. Food and Drug rthistration or similar foreign
agencies, which could increase our operating costs.

We provide certain products that are, and othexsrttay become, subject to regulation by the FDAsamdlar agencies in other countries, or the
jurisdiction of these agencies could be expandéherfuture to include our solutions. The FDA redes certain products, including softw-

based products, as “medical devices” based, in parte intended use of the product and the hisldevice poses to the patient should the device
fail to perform properly. Although we have conclddiat our wireless badge is a general-purpose cornmations device not subject to FDA
regulation, the FDA could disagree with our conidosor changes in our solutions or the FDA’s eumjwegulation could lead to FDA regulation
of our solutions. Any of our products deemed tortezlical devices would be subject to the 2.3% exeiseinder the ACA. Canada and many
other countries in which we sell or may sell odutions could also have similar regulations appilego our solutions, some of which may be
subject to change or interpretation. We may inclastantial operating costs if we are required gster our solutions or components of our
solutions as regulated medical devices under U.freign regulations, obtain premarket approvairfrthe FDA or foreign regulatory agencies,
and satisfy the extensive reporting requirementaddition, failure to comply with these regulasarould result in enforcement actions and
monetary penalties. A clinical communications prddacquired from mVisum is regulated by the FDAaa&Slass Il medical device.

Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakié®, floods and other natural catastrophic eventand to interruption by man-made
problems such as power disruptions or terroris

Our corporate headquarters are located in the &arciBco Bay Area, a region known for seismic dgtiand many critical components of our
solutions are sourced in Asia and Mexico, regiamsan to suffer natural disasters. A significantunat disaster, such as an earthquake, fire or a
flood, occurring at our headquarters, our otheilifs or where our contract manufacturer or ilpgliers are located, could harm our business,
operating results and financial condition. In aidait acts of terrorism could cause disruptionsunlzusiness, the businesses of our customers anc
suppliers, or the economy as a whole. We alsoarlinformation technology systems to communicateragrour workforce located worldwide,

and in particular,
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our senior management, general and administraive research and development activities that avedowated with our corporate headquarter
the San Francisco Bay Area. Any disruption to aterinal communications, whether caused by a nadisakter or by man-made problems, such
as power disruptions, in the San Francisco Bay Ake&@ or Mexico could delay our research and dgwalent efforts, cause delays or
cancellations of customer orders or delay deployrataur solutions, which could harm our busineggrating results and financial condition.

We may require additional capital to support our finess growth, and such capital may not be avaitabl

We intend to continue to make investments to suppeiness growth and may require additional fundgspond to business challenges, which
include the need to develop new solutions or enhanisting solutions, enhance our operating infaastire, expand our sales and marketing
capabilities, expand into non-healthcare markets,acquire complementary businesses, technologigssets. Accordingly, we may need to
engage in equity or debt financing to secure fukdglity and debt financing, however, might not beilable when needed or, if available, might
not be available on terms satisfactory to us. Ifraise additional funds through equity financingg stockholders may experience dilution. Debt
financing, if available, may involve covenants riesing our operations or our ability to incur atidinal debt. If we are unable to obtain adequate
financing or financing on terms satisfactory to as; ability to continue to support our businesswgh and to respond to business challenges
be significantly limited as we may have to deladuce the scope of or eliminate some or all ofimitiatives, which could harm our operating
results.

As an“emerging growth company” under the JOBS Act, weegpermitted to, and may, rely on exemptions fronntain disclosure and
governance requirement:

As an “emerging growth company” under the Jump&art Business Startups Act (JOBS Act), we are pigechto, and may, rely on exemptions
from certain disclosure and governance requiremé&iatsexample, for so long as we are an emergiog/thrcompany, which can last, at most,
until the first fiscal year following the fifth anrersary of our initial public offering, we will idoe required to:

* have our independent registered public accogriiim report on our internal control over finarlai@porting pursuant to Section 404(b) of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Sarbanes-Oxley Act);

« comply with any requirement that may be adofgthe Public Company Accounting Oversight Boaghareing mandatory audit firm
rotation or a supplement to the auditor's repavidling additional information about the audit ahd financial statements;

» provide the “compensation discussion and anstlysid certain compensation tables for our namedwie officers in our Form 10-K or
annual proxy statement; and

» submit certain executive compensation mattestdokholder advisory votes, such as “say on pag’“aay on frequency.”

We could be an emerging growth company until th& fiscal year following the fifth anniversary ofir initial public offering. However, if the
market value of our common stock that is held by-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of June 3@thny year, we could cease to be an
“emerging growth company” as of the following Dedsan 31st. This threshold was not reached for JOn@@L4. After exceeding the threshold,
as of each fiscal year end, our independent regiteublic accounting firm will be required to evate and report on our internal control over
financial reporting under Section 404(b) of thetBaes-Oxley Act. While management has establistatpo accommodate the additional
assessment and attestation procedures and retattsdod Section 404(b) compliance, we may incuitamdhl costs or require additional
management time to comply with Section 404(b) fimeely manner.

If we do not maintain effective internal control @v financial reporting or disclosure controls andrpcedures in the future, the accuracy at
timeliness of our financial reporting may be advety affected.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other thihgs we assess the effectiveness of our integratol over financial reporting annually and
disclosure controls and procedures quarterly. tiqudar, we must obtain confidence in our interoahtrol over financial reporting to allow
management to report on the effectiveness of darral control over financial reporting as requibgdSection 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. To
the extent we find a material weakness or othdcigeicy in our internal control over financial reping, the accuracy and timeliness of our
financial reporting may be adversely affected.
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Multiple negative consequences could ensue if &natveakness in our internal control over finahceporting is identified in the future, or we
are not able to comply with the requirements ofti8act04 in a timely manner or we do not maintdfective controls. For example, our reported
financial results could be materially misstated@uld be restated, we could receive an adverseéampiagarding our controls from our
independent registered public accounting firm (aweh opinion is required under the Sarbanes-Oxit), or we could be subject to
investigations or sanctions by regulatory authesitiAll of these outcomes would require additidmelncial and management resources, and the
market price of our stock could decline.

We will continue to incur substantial costs as astét of operating as a public company and our mamagent devotes substantial time to public
company compliance obligations.

As a public company, we incur substantial legatoanting and other expenses, even though we asmaerjing growth company” may rely upon
the disclosure and governance exemptions unded@BS Act. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act, Dodd-Frank Wak& Reform and Consumer
Protection Act of 2010 and rules subsequently imgleted by the SEC and our stock exchange, impogmigsaequirements on public compan
including certain corporate governance practices.r@anagement and other personnel devote a substambunt of time to these compliance
requirements. Moreover, these rules and regulataloag with compliance with accounting principée® regulatory interpretations of such
principles, as amended by the JOBS Act, have isextand will continue to increase our legal, actingrand financial compliance costs and t
made and will continue to make some activities ntione-consuming and costly.

We face risks related to securities litigation thabuld result in significant legal expenses and ti&tnent or damage awards.

We are currently, and may in the future becomejestio claims and litigation alleging violationktbe securities laws or other related claims,
which could harm our business and require us tariaignificant costs. For example, on August 1,28td August 21, 2013, purported securities
class actions were filed in the United States Ris@ourt for the Northern District of Californiggainst us and certain of our officers, our board of
directors, a former director and the underwritersour initial public offering. The suits purpod &llege claims for allegedly misleading statem

in the registration statement for our initial peldiffering and in subsequent communications reggrdur business and financial results.
Regardless of the outcome, these matters or fiitig@tion may require significant attention fromammagement and could result in significant legal
expenses, settlement costs or damage awards thdtl@ve a material impact on our financial positieesults of operations and cash flows.

The SEC “conflict minerals”rule has caused us to incur additional expensesilddimit the supply and increase the cost of cerntanetals uset
in manufacturing our products and could make us kesompetitive in our target markets.

We are required to disclose the origin, sourcedrain of custody of specified minerals, known asflict minerals, that are necessary to the
functionality or production of products manufactlier contracted to be manufactured. The SEC regjemepanies to obtain sourcing data from
suppliers, engage in supply chain due diligencefdmdnnually with the SEC a specialized disclestgport on Form SD covering the prior
calendar year. The rule could limit our abilitysmurce at competitive prices and to secure sufficieantities of certain minerals used in the
manufacture of our products, as the number of sengpthat provide conflict-free minerals may beited. In addition, we have incurred, and may
continue to incur, costs associated with complyiity the rule, such as costs related to the detextiain of the origin, source and chain of cus!
of the minerals used in our products, the adoptiozonflict minerals-related governance policiaggesses and controls and possible changes to
products or sources of supply as a result of satititees. Within our supply chain, we may not H#eato sufficiently verify the origins of the
relevant minerals used in our products througldtte collection and due diligence procedures tlaimplement, which may harm our reputat
Furthermore, we may encounter challenges in satgftyrose customers that require that all of thmmanents of our products be certified as
conflict free, and if we cannot satisfy these costes, they may choose a compet#quioducts. We continue to investigate the presehcenflict
materials within our supply chain.

Risks related to our common stock

The market price of our common stock has been, andy continue to be, volatile, and your investmemtour stock could suffer a decline in
value.

There has been significant volatility in the markete and trading volume of equity securities, allhis often unrelated or disproportionate to the
financial performance of the companies issuingsgmurities. These broad market fluctuations magtinegly affect the market price of our
common stock. The market price of our common staekd fluctuate significantly in response to thetfas described in this “Risk Factors”
section and elsewhere in this Form 10-K and otaetofs, many of which are beyond our control, idirig:

e actual or anticipated variation in anticipated epi@g results of us or our competitc
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» the financial projections we may provide to the lpukany changes in these projections or our failiar meet these projectio

* announcements by us or our competitors of néutisas, new or terminated significant contractanmercial relationships or capital
commitments;

» failure of securities analysts to maintain cager of us, changes in financial estimates by acyriies analysts who follow our company, or
our failure to meet these estimates or the expgentabf investors;

« developments or disputes concerning our intellégtaperty or other proprietary righ

e commencement of, or our involvement in, litigat

« announced or completed acquisitions of businessesnologies or assets by us or our compe

» changes in operating performance and stock magteations of other technology companies generatlyhose in our industry in particul

» price and volume fluctuations attributable to ingistent trading volume levels of our common st

» our public float relative to the total number ofsls of our common stock that are issued and owlisig

» price and volume fluctuations in the overall stotérket, including as a result of trends in the ecopas a whols

« rumors and market speculation involving us or otteempanies in our industi

e any major change in our managem

» unfavorable economic conditions and slow or negagirowth of our markets; a

» other events or factors, including those resulfingh war or incidents of terrorisi

If securities or industry analysts issue an advermemisleading opinion regarding our stock or do tipublish research or reports about ol
business, our stock price could decline.

The trading market for our common stock depengxim on the research and reports that securitieslastry analysts publish about us and our
business. We do not control these analysts ordhtent and opinions included in their reports. Pphiee of our common stock could decline if one
or more analysts downgrade our common stock tioge analysts issue other unfavorable commentasgase publishing reports about us or our
business. If one or more analysts cease coveragar @ompany or fail to regularly publish report®at our company, we could lose visibility in
the financial market, which in turn could cause stock price to decline. Further, securities oustdy analysts may elect not to provide research
coverage of our common stock and such lack of reeeaverage may adversely affect the market mficeir common stock.

We have never paid cash dividends on our capitatkt and we do not anticipate paying any dividerinlshe foreseeable future.

We have never paid cash dividends on any of outalagbock and currently intend to retain our fet@arnings to fund the development and
growth of our business. As a result, capital apptemn, if any, of our common stock will be the salource of gain for the foreseeable future.

Our charter documents and Delaware law could discage, delay or prevent a change of control of oumngpany or change in our
management that stockholders consider favorable &adise our stock price to decline.

Certain provisions of our restated certificaterafarporation and restated bylaws and Delaware taidadiscourage, delay or prevent a change of
control of our company or change in our managerttexitthe stockholders of our company consider fabvler These provisions:

» authorize the issuance of “blank check” preféistock that our board of directors could issumtoease the number of outstanding shares anc
to discourage a takeover attempt;

» prohibit stockholder action by written consent,uieiqg all stockholder actions to be taken at atingeof stockholder:

» establish advance notice procedures for nonmgatandidates to our board of directors or progpsiatters that can be acted upon by
stockholders at stockholder meetings;

» limit the ability of our stockholders to call spacimeetings of stockholde

» prohibit stockholders from cumulating their votes the election of directol

« permit newly created directorships resultingrran increase in the authorized number of diredpkscancies on our board of directors to be
filled only by majority vote of our remaining dittecs, even if less than a quorum is then in office;

» provide that our board of directors is expressihhatized to make, alter or repeal our byle

» establish a classified board of directors so tiedtali members of our board are elected at one;

» provide that our directors may be removed oaly‘€ause” and only with the approval of the hotdef at least 66 2/3rds percent of our
outstanding stock; and

*  require supemajority voting to amend certain provisions in gertificate of incorporation and byla\
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Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation by also discourage, delay or prevent a changerdfol of our company.

ltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comment

None

Iltem 2.  Properties

We do not currently own any of our facilities. Tielowing table sets forth the location, approximatze, primary use and lease expiration dates
of our leased facilities. Our facilities are in goaperating condition and adequately serve oumiegsineeds.

Approximate

Location square fee Primary use Lease expiration date
San Jose, California 70,00( Corporate headquarters and product warehot April 1, 2016
Knoxville, Tennessee 7,50z Development, sales and support March 31, 2016

San Francisco, California 3,09: Vocera Care Experience offices May 31, 2016
Toronto, Canada 4,57¢ Development, sales and support April 30, 2017
Reading, United Kingdom 86E Sales and support December 31, 2017
Bangalore, India 3,90¢ Development March 31, 2017
Dubai, United Arab Emirates 18C Sales and support May 15, 2015

Item 3. Legal Proceeding

From time to time, we may be involved in lawsudigims, investigations and proceedings, consisifrigtellectual property, commercial,
employment and other matters which arise in théarg course of business.

Securities Litigation

On August 1 and 21, 2013, two putative securitiasscaction suits were filed in the United Statestriat Court for the Northern District of
California against us and certain of our officens; board of directors, a former director and thdarwriters for the initial public offering. On
November 20, 2013, the court consolidated the mst&zin re Vocera Communications, Inc. Securities Litiggmand appointed Lead Plaintiffs.
Lead Plaintiffs filed their consolidated complaimt September 19, 2014. The consolidated comptaimes certain current and former officers
and directors and the underwriters for our ingablic offering and secondary offering and alleglesms under Sections 11, 12(a)(2) and 15 o
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (Securities &uat) Section 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Astdan allegedly false and materially
misleading statements and omissions in the refmtratatement for our initial public offering asdcondary offering and in communications
regarding its business and financial results. Thieis purportedly brought on behalf of purchas®rsur securities between March 28, 2012 and
May 2, 2013, and seeks compensatory damages,siescifees and costs, as well as other relief. NOvember 3, 2014 Defendants moved to
dismiss the consolidated complaint. On Januar2@55, the Court denied Defendants' motion to distfie Exchange Act claims, but granted
with leave to amend Defendants' motion to disniissSecurities Act claims. The time for Lead Pléistio amend the consolidated complaint has
not yet passed.

Due to the inherent uncertainties of litigation, @anot accurately predict the ultimate outcomihisf matter. We are unable at this time to
determine whether the outcome of the litigation lddwave a material impact on our results of openeti financial condition or cash flow. We
have not established any reserve for any potdiatality relating to this lawsuit.

Iltem 4. Mine Safety Disclosure

None.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant’ s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securitie
Market Information

Our common stock has been listed on the New YaokKSExchange under the symbol “VCR#aihce March 28, 2012. Prior to that date, there
no public trading market for our common stock. Téllowing table sets forth for the periods indiahtie high and low sales prices per share of
our common stock as reported on the New York SEbahange:

High Low

Year ending December 31, 2014
First Quarter $ 19.2¢ % 15.67
Second Quarter $ 16.4¢ $ 11.8¢
Third Quarter $ 1391 % 8.0¢
Fourth Quarter $ 105 $ 7.64
High Low

Year ending December 31, 2013
First Quarter $ 2947 % 21.3:
Second Quarter $ 23.9¢ $ 11.9¢
Third Quarter $ 19.71 % 13.7¢
Fourth Quarter $ 18.9¢ $ 14.71

Holders of Common Stoc

As of March 10, 2015, we had 76 holders of recdrdur common stock. The actual number of stockhsliegreater than this number of record
holders, and includes stockholders who are beaéfievners, but whose shares are held in street bgrbeokers and other nominees. This nur
of holders of record also does not include stoaéid whose shares may be held in trust by othéiesnt

Dividend policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocapital stock, and we do not currently intemgay any cash dividends on our common
stock for the foreseeable future. We expect tdndtdaure earnings, if any, to fund the developmeemd growth of our business. Any future
determination to pay dividends on our common steitikbe at the discretion of our board of directarsd will depend upon, among other factors,
our financial condition, operating results, currantl anticipated cash needs, plans for expansiotuer factors that our board of directors may
deem relevant.

Stock Performance

This stock performance graph shall not be deemeticiing material” or to be “filed” with the SECdr purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange
Act, or otherwise subject to the liabilities undleat Section, and shall not be deemed to be ingatpd by reference into any filing of Voce
Communications, Inc. under the Securities Act erElRchange Act.

The following stock performance graph comparesctiraulative total return provided to holders of tiienmon stock of Vocera Communications,
Inc. relative to the cumulative total returns of thew York Stock Exchange Composite Index and thad&ard & Poors 1500 Health Care
Technology Index since the pricing of the initialtic offering of Vocera’s common stock on March 2812. An investment of $100 is assumed
to have been made in our common stock and in efattie indexes on March 31, 2012, including reinwesit of dividends, and its relative
performance is tracked through December 31, 2014 .
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COMPARISON OF 23 MONTH CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
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—H— vocera Communications Inc. - 4 NYSE Composite = O = 58P Health Care Technology
03/28/1: 12/31/1: 12/31/1: 12/31/1¢
Vocera Communications Inc. 100.0( 119.3¢ 74.2: 495t
NYSE Composite 100.0( 105.0: 132.6: 141.57
S&P Health Care Technology 100.0( 101.9¢ 146.3¢ 169.8(

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securitit

During the three months ended December 31, 20®idisvnot repurchase any of our securities.
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Iltem 6. Selected Financial Dat

The following selected consolidated financial dgttauld be read in conjunction with Item 7, “Manageit's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and the cadat#d financial statements and related notesdeclun Item 8, “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Fo¥Kl The selected consolidated financial data is $lection are not intended to replace the
consolidated financial statements and are qualifigteir entirety by the consolidated financiatsments and related notes included elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We derived the consolidated statement of operatiate for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 20d2012 and the consolidated balance
sheet data as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 fromunlited financial statements included elsewhetbis report. We derived the consolidated
statement of operations data for the years endedrmlger 31, 2011 and 2010 and the consolidated dmkireet data as of December 31, 2012,
2011 and 2010 from our audited financial statem#asdo not appear in this report. Our historieallts are not necessarily indicative of the
results to be expected in the future.

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands, except per share data) 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Consolidated statements of operations data:

Total revenue $ 95,42 $ 102,49¢ $ 100,95 $ 79,50! $ 56,80:
Gross profit 58,18t 64,18¢ 64,33¢ 47,99¢ 35,62¢
Net (loss) income (28,29)) (10,469 2,89: (2,479 1,21(
Less: undistributed earnings attributable to pguditing

securities — — (1,36€) — (1,210
Net (loss) income attributable to common stockhside $ (2829) $ (10,46H $ 1527 $ (2,479 $ —

Net (loss) income per share attributable to comstookholders
Basic and diluted $(1.12) $(0.43) $0.08 $(0.74) $0.00

Weighted average shares used to compute net {wsshe per
share attributable to common stockholders

Basic 25,32¢ 24,62 17,97¢ 3,37( 2,22¢
Diluted 25,32¢ 24,62 20,60¢ 3,37( 2,84¢

As of December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Consolidated balance sheet data:

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments $ 116,26 $ 12767¢ $ 127,510 $ 14,89¢ % 8,64:
Total assets 159,62¢ 173,10° 167,30! 49,81¢ 33,93:
Total borrowings — — — 8,33: 5,40¢
Convertible preferred stock warrant liability — — — 1,85:% 1,125
Convertible preferred stock — — — 53,01 52,75¢
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 109,71. 125,56: 123,12! (49,399 (50,369
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial@dition and Results of Operation

The following discussion and analysis of our firahcondition and results of operations should kead together with our consolidated financial
statements and related notes included in Item &&Rcial Statements and Supplementary Data” inctuohethis Annual Report on Form 10-K.
This discussion and analysis contains forwhroking statements that involve risks, uncertagtiad assumptions, such as statements of our
objectives, expectations and intentions. The caatipstatements made in this Annual Report on FI®AK should be read as applying to all
related forward-looking statements wherever theyegp in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our actegults may differ materially from those
anticipated in these forward-looking statements assult of many factors, including but not limitedhose set forth under Iltem 1A, “Risk
factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Business overview

We are a provider of secure, integrated, intelliggmmunication solutions, focused on empoweringpiteavorkers in healthcare, hospitality,
energy, and other mission-critical mobile work eamiments, in the U.S. and internationally. Today shgnificant majority of our business is
generated from sales of our solutions in the heafthmarket to help our customers improve patigiety and experience, and increase operat
efficiency. As of December 31, 2014, our solutibase been installed in more than 1,300 facilitiesldwide.

We outsource the manufacturing of our hardware ymtsd Our outsourced manufacturing model allowsstale our business without the
significant capital investment and on-going expsmegjuired to establish and maintain manufactuspeyations. We work closely with our
contract manufacturer, SMTC Corporation, and keypliars to manage the procurement, quality and @osbmponents. We seek to maintain an
optimal level of finished goods inventory to meet forecast sales and unanticipated shifts in salksne and mix.

We primarily sell products, software maintenance professional services directly to end users. 8te,dsubstantially all of our revenue has been
derived from sales of our Vocera Communication o including software product maintenance aralteel services. Total revenue declined
6.9% to $95.4 million in 2014 from $102.5 milliom 2013 , and our 2013 revenue grew 1.5% from $10dlln in 2012 . For the year ended
December 31, 2014 , we recorded a net loss of $8Bli8n compared to a net loss of $10.5 milliom fbe year ended December 31, 2013 .

Our diverse customer base ranges from large hbsgigtems to small local hospitals, as well as oftealthcare facilities and customers in non-
healthcare markets. We are not reliant on any astomer. While we have international customerghieoEnglish speaking countries such as
Canada, the United Kingdom and Australia, mostwfaustomers are located in the United Statestriatenal customers represented 9.9% and
10.5% of our revenue in 2014 and in 2013 , respelgti We are developing plans to expand our presenother English-speaking markets and
enter non-English speaking markets.

U.S. hospital spending was a challenge in 2014y information technology capital spending predomthedirected toward further investment in
electronic health records and preparation foraitif new ICD-10 diagnosis coding, which are botlkeir by increasing regulatory requirements
and reimbursement earn-back incentives from fedealthcare reform. In addition, as patient voluiues reimbursement levels continued to be
at lower levels for many healthcare providers, ftalgpexercised strong expense limits and redustionpacting capital purchases and
departmental operating budgets through which olutisas are purchased.

Internationally, mature markets in Canada, the ééhKingdom and France have experienced continuilgét challenges as well. However,
emerging international markets, especially the Nédeast and Asia-Pacific regions, offer more oppttes, as these regions are investing in
expansions of their healthcare system capacitiesjaality.

Components of operating results

Revenue. We generate revenue from the sale of products emvitss. As discussed further in the section titfedtical accounting policies and
estimates—Revenue recognition and deferred revemeieiv, revenue is recognized when persuasive se@ef an arrangement exists, delivery
has occurred, the price is fixed or determinabbt @oilection is reasonably assured.

Revenue is comprised of the following:

e Product. Our solutions include both hardware and software.réfer to hardware revenue as device revenuehviitudes revenue from
sales of our communication badges and badge acessehich include batteries, battery chargersydads, clips and other ancillary badge
components. Software revenue is derived primardynfthe sale of perpetual licenses to our Vocemai@onication System. We derive
additional software revenue from the sale of tdomnises and services provided, which can be renewedsubscription basis. Product
revenue is generally recognized upon shipment
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of hardware and perpetual licenses and, in the@asem licenses or subscription services, ratablyr the applicable term.

» Service. We receive service revenue from sales of softwaimt®enance, extended hardware warranties and giofes services. Software
maintenance is typically invoiced annually in ads&recorded as deferred revenue, and recognizedersue ratably over the service per
Our professional services revenue is based ontlméhand materials, and fixed price contracts, iarrdcognized as the services are provi
Extended warranties are invoiced in advance, retbas deferred revenue, and recognized ratablytbgextended warranty period.

Cost of revenue. Cost of revenue is comprised of the following:

* Cost of product. Cost of product is comprised primarily of materiedssts, software license costs, write-offs for egcand obsolete
inventory, warranty, and manufacturing overheadscfis test engineering, material requirementsmilagnand our shipping and receiving
functions. These overhead costs also include fi@siliequipment depreciation, amortization of depetl technology and stock-based
compensation expenses. We expect material costyawvith the product life cycle of our devices.

Cost of service. Cost of service is comprised primarily of employesges, benefits and related personnel expenses ¢éahnical support
team, our professional consulting personnel andraiming teams. Cost of service also includedifg@nd information technology costs. We
expect our cost of service will increase as weinoetto invest in support services to meet the s@édur customer base.

Operating expenses. Operating expenses are comprised of the following:

* Research and developmentResearch and development expenses consist priroégipployee wages, benefits and related personnel
expenses, hardware materials, and consultant fekex@enses related to the design, developmetihgesd enhancements of our solutions.
We intend to continue to invest in improving thadtionality of our solutions and the developmentheiv solutions.

» Sales and marketing. Sales and marketing expenses consist primarilynpl@yee wages, benefits and related personnel egpeas well as
trade shows, marketing programs and collateralpafdic relations programs. Sales commissions amgeeavhen an order is received from a
customer, and as a result, in some cases theseissioms are expensed in an earlier period thapehied in which the related revenue is
recognized. Historically, our bookings have tenttedeak in the fourth quarter of each year, driviiigher sales commissions, and to be
lowest in the first quarter. We intend to continaexpand our direct sales force and invest insssigport functions and new marketing
programs for the foreseeable future.

» General and administrative. General and administrative expenses consist piyrafremployee wages, benefits and related perdonne
expenses, consulting, accounting fees, legal feé®ther general corporate expenses.

Interest income, interest expense and other incofeepense), net

* Interest income. Interest income consists primarily of interest imgoearned on our cash, cash equivalent and shortitgestment
balances. Our interest income will vary each repgmperiod depending on our average cash, caskaqnot and short-term investment
balances during the period and market interess rate

* Interest expens. Interest expense includes interest expenaterkto debt and financing obligations resultiragrfrour credit facility and
security agreement, which was paid off in full opriA3, 2012. Since then interest expense has imeeraterial, but could potentially fluctue
in the future with changes in our borrowings.

« Other income (expense), netOther income (expense), net consists primarihhefdhange in the fair value of our convertible pnefd stocl
warrants. Our convertible preferred stock warrargse classified as liabilities and, as such, weaeked-to-market at each balance sheet date
with the corresponding gain or loss from the adgstt recorded as other income (expense), net. Y@oonsummation of our initial public
offering, on April 2, 2012, these warrants convetlitgo warrants to purchase common stock and atenger marked-to-market. Other
income (expense), net also includes any foreighaxge gains and losses.

Provision for income taxes. We are subject to income taxes in the countriesevive sell our solutions. We anticipate that inftitare as we
expand our sale of solutions to customers outsidéJhited States, we will become subject to taxdbased on the foreign statutory rates in the
countries where these sales took place and owtieetax rate could fluctuate accordingly. Curhgngéach of our international subsidiaries is
operating under cost plus agreements where thepdr8nt company reimburses the international sidygifor its costs plus an arm's length pri

Income taxes are computed using the asset antitliabethod, under which deferred tax assets aatullities are determined based on the
difference between the financial statement and&ses of assets and liabilities using enactedatas in effect for the year in which the
differences are expected to affect taxable incofatuation allowances have been established to
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reduce deferred tax assets to the amount reasoagideted to be realized. Changes in valuationalhzes are reflected as component of
provision for income taxes.

At December 31, 2014 , we held a $30.1 milk@tuation allowance against our deferred tax as®¥éésreview on a quarterly basis our conclus
about the appropriate amount of our deferred inctameasset valuation allowance.

Results of operations

The following table is a summary of our consolidbségatements of operations for the years endedrbleee31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 .

Years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands, except percentages) Amount % Revenue Amount % Revenue Amount % Revenue
Consolidated statements of operations data:
Revenue
Product $ 51,09 53E% $ 62,39 60.£% $ 65,02¢ 64.4%
Service 44,32¢ 46.5 40,10¢ 39.1 35,92¢ 35.€
Total revenue 95,42: 100.( 102,49t 100.( 100,95 100.(
Cost of revenue
Product 18,76¢ 19.% 21,71« 21z 21,55 21.z
Service 18,47( 19.2 16,59 16.2 15,07( 14.¢
Total cost of revenue 37,23t 39.C 38,30¢ 37.4 36,62: 36.2
Gross profit 58,18¢ 61.C 64,18¢ 62.€ 64,33t 63.7
Operating expenses
Research and development 18,03t 18.¢ 14,91t 14.¢ 11,61¢ 11.5
Sales and marketing 49,61: 52.C 44,92¢ 43.¢ 33,43: 33.1
General and administrative 18,06: 18.¢ 14,90¢ 14t 14,39( 14.:
Restructuring 55€ 0.€ — — — —
Total operating expenses 86,26¢ 90.4 74,74¢ 72.€ 59,44( 58.¢
(Loss) income from operations (28,079 (29.9) (10,560 (10.9) 4,89¢ 4.8
Interest income 35E 0.4 257 0.2 171 0.2
Interest expense — — — — (84) (0.3
Other expense, net (249 (0.9 (59) (0.7) (1,469 (1.9
(Loss) income before income taxes (27,979 (29.9) (10,35¢) (10.1) 3,52( 3.t
Provision for income taxes (329 (0.9) (209 (0.2) (627) (0.6)
Net (loss) income $ (28,29) (29.9% $ (10,46 (10.9% $ 2,89: 2.5%
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Year ended December 31, 2014 compared to year eBdegmber 31, 2013

Revenue
Years ended December 31,
2014 2013 Change
(in thousands, except percentages) Amount Amount Amount %
Product Revenue
Device $ 37,45 $ 46,63t $ (9,18)) (19.9)%
Software 13,64( 15,757 (2,117 (13.9
Total product revenue 51,09t 62,39: (12,299 (18.7)
Service revenue
Maintenance and support 35,35 31,55¢ 3,79¢ 12.C
Professional services and training 8,97: 8,54¢ 427 5.C
Total service revenue 44,32¢ 40,10t 4,221 10.t
Total revenue $ 95,42. $ 102,49¢ $ (7,077) (6.9)

Total revenue decreased $7.1 million, or 6.9%tHeryear ended December 31, 2014 compared to treepeled December 31, 2013. The
decrease in total revenue was primarily a resudtno$11.3 million decrease in product revenuejgibroffset by a $4.2 million increase in serv
revenue.

Product revenue decreased $11.3 million, or 18fa#4he year ended December 31, 2014 comparecetpehr ended December 31, 2013. Device
revenue decreased $9.2 million, or 19.7%, and soéwevenue decreased $2.1 million, or 13.4% ®tar ended December 31, 2014 compared
to the year ended December 31, 2013. The decreasice revenue, which related entirely to ourcédCommunication solution, was driven
primarily by a decrease in unit sales of badgesraladed accessories. We believe that our prodwetrue for the year ended December 31, 2014
was adversely affected by the conditions affectivegU.S. healthcare industry as described abowe d€brease in software revenue was mainly a
result of a decrease in sales of Voice Communioaastware licenses.

Service revenue increased $4.2 million, or 10.5%06fte year ended December 31, 2014 compared tetireended December 31, 2013. Software
maintenance and support revenue increased $3i8millr 12.0%, and professional services and tnginévenue increased minimally, for the y
ended December 31, 2014 compared to the year éwlminber 31, 2013. The increase in software mantmand support revenue was
primarily a result of having a larger customer basechasing our maintenance and extended warrdfeyrmgs which increased software
maintenance revenue by $2.8 million and extendedanty revenue by $1.0 million. Professional sezgiand training revenue increased $0.4
million, or 5%, for the year ended December 31,26dmpared to the year ended December 31, 2018.ifid¢rease was due to an increase in the
total number of deployments in 2014, primarily tethto our existing customer base.

Cost of revenue:

Years ended December 31,

2014 2013 Change
(in thousands, except percentages) Amount Amount Amount %
Cost of revenue
Product $ 18,76¢  $ 21,71:  $ (2,94¢) (13.6%
Service 18,47( 16,59¢ 1,87¢ 11.2
Total cost of revenue $ 37,23 $ 38,30¢ $ (1,079 (2.9
Gross margin
Product 63.2% 65.2% (1.9%
Service 58.% 58.€ 0.9
Total gross margin 61.C 62.€ (1.6)

Cost of product revenue decreased $2.9 milliod,308%, for the year ended December 31, 2014 cordparthe year ended December 31, 2013.
The cost of product revenue decreased primarilytd@edecrease in the number of units of
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communication badges and related accessorieslsolel; standard warranty expense, patrtially offsehigher overhead costs.

Cost of service revenue increased $1.9 milliorl,J1oB%, for the year ended December 31, 2014 cordparihe year ended December 31, 2013.
This increase was primarily due to a $1.4 millinarease in employee wages and other personnelarudts $0.3 million increase in travel related
expenses in our services organization to suppowirin customer deployments and technical supfotended warranty expenses increased
million due to an increase in badges under thenebet@ warranty program and related warranty claims.

Operating expenses:

Years ended December 31,

2014 2013 Change
(in thousands, except percentages) Amount Amount Amount %
Operating expenses:
Research and development $ 18,03¢ $ 14,91F % 3,12( 20.%
Sales and marketing 49,61: 44,92¢ 4,68: 10.4
General and administrative 18,06: 14,90¢ 3,15¢ 21.2
Restructuring 55€ — 55€ 100.(
Total operating expenses $ 86,26: $ 74,74¢  $ 11,51¢ 15.£

Research and development expe. Research and development expense increased $8ohnor 20.9%, for the year ended December 3.4
compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 ifdtsase was primarily due to a $2.2 million ins@n personnel costs and other expenses
associated with increases in headcount, includbggiaitions, a $0.5 million increase due to addaicexternal resources for research and
development projects, a $0.2 million increase itemals for research and development projects a@lZamillion increase in stock-based
compensation.

Sales and marketing expenSeles and marketing expense increased $4.7 mifiob0.4%, for the year ended December 31, 2014eaoed to
the year ended December 31, 2013. This increas@rvaarily due to a $2.7 million in increased enyde wages, commissions and personnel
costs and $1.2 million in increased stock-basedpemsation.

General and administrative expen§eneral and administrative expense increased $lidmor 21.2%, from the year ended December2iil,4
compared to the year ended December 31, 2013ifdisase was due primarily to an increase of $illlbmin personnel costs, an increase of
$0.8 million in stock-based compensation, an ineeezf $0.4 million in legal expenses primarily tethto litigation, an increase of $0.3 million in
depreciation associated with the SAP ERP deploynaenincrease of $0.2 million in facilities-relatexpenses and an increase of $0.1 million in
business insurance.

Restructuring expensRestructuring expense increased $0.6 million ferythar ended December 31, 2014 compared to theepdad December
31, 2013. During the fourth quarter of 2014, wéiatéd a restructuring plan that resulted in $0ililan of severance charges, of which $0.1
million was recorded to cost of revenue and $0.l6aniwas recorded to operating expenses. See Bl@ensolidated balance sheet components
in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Stategmi@nitem 8 of this Report, for further discussifrour restructuring activities.

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands, except percentages) 2014 2013 Change
Non-operating income (expense) elements:

Interest income $ 35¢ $ 257 $ 98
Other expense, net (249) (59 (19¢)

Income taxes:

Provision for income taxes (329 (109 (215)
Loss before income taxes (27,979 (10,35¢) (17,61°)
Effective tax rate % (1.2% (1.D)% (0.)%

Interest incomelnterest income increased $0.1 million for the yer@ded December 31, 2014 compared to the year évetmember 31, 2013 due
to the shift in these periods from cash equivalemtsgher interest-bearing short-term investments.
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Other expense, nédther expense, net increased $0.2 million for #&&r ynded December 31, 2014 compared to the ydad érecember 31,
2013, primarily due to foreign exchange fluctuasion

Provision for income taxeThe $0.3 million provision on $28.0 million of lobsfore income taxes in 2014 represented a negeffieetive tax
rate of 1.2%. The negative effective tax rate fot2was due primarily to the impact of pre-tax éssm the U.S. operations, offset by income
taxes from foreign operations. The negative eféectax rate of 1.1% in 2013 is due primarily to impact of pretax losses in the U.S. operatio
offset by income taxes from foreign operations.

Year ended December 31, 2013 compared to year eBdegmber 31, 2012

Revenue:
Years ended December 31,
2013 2012 Change
(in thousands, except percentages) Amount Amount Amount %
Product Revenue
Device $ 46,63¢ $ 47,72 3 (1,089 (2.9%
Software 15,757 17,30: (1,54¢) (8.9
Total product revenue 62,39! 65,02¢ (2,635 4.7
Service revenue
Maintenance and support 31,55¢ 26,231 5,32 20.2
Professional services and training 8,54¢ 9,69: (1,14¢) (11.9)
Total service revenue 40,10¢ 35,92¢ 4,17¢ 11.€
Total revenue $ 102,49¢ $ 100,95 $ 1,541 1.E

Total revenue increased $1.5 million, or 1.5%, fr2@12 to 2013.

Product revenue decreased $2.6 million, or 4.120i8. Device revenue decreased $1.1 million, d¥%62ahd software revenue decreased $1.5
million, or 8.9%. The 2013 decrease in device reeemvhich related entirely to our Vocera Commurnéasolution, was due primarily to a
decrease in the average selling price for badgestama lesser extent, a slight decrease in thebeuwf badges sold. The lower average selling
price was primarily a result of a promotion in geeond quarter of 2013. The list prices for oudputs did not change substantially in 2013. The
2013 decrease in software revenue was primarilytaaedecrease in the number of server licenses seltt for customer expansions for our Voice
Communication solution. We believe this decreashiesto the impact on hospital operating budgets fthe federal budget sequestration in
March 2013 and uncertainty around the impact oftheare reform within the U.S. healthcare markesuiting in greater scrutiny of expenses and
elongation of the sales cycle.

Service revenue increased $4.2 million, or 11.620b3. Software maintenance and support revenueased $5.3 million, or 20.3%, and
professional services and training revenue decdedd million, or 11.8%. The 2013 increase inwafe maintenance and support revenue was
primarily a result of a larger customer base bso aicluded $2.1 million from extended warranty tcacts. The 2013 decrease in professional
services and training revenue was due to a reduitithe number of deployments completed in 20&Btiqularly related to our existing customer
base.
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Cost of revenue:

Years ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change
(in thousands, except percentages) Amount Amount Amount %
Cost of revenue
Product $ 21,71 $ 21,55 162 0.8%
Service 16,59 15,07( 1,52¢ 10.1
Total cost of revenue $ 38,30¢ % 36,62: 1,68¢ 4.6
Gross margin
Product 65.2% 66.5% (1.71%
Service 58.€ 58.1 0.t
Total gross margin 62.€ 63.7 (1.3

Cost of product revenue increased $0.2 millior).886, from 2012 to 2013. This increase was primatile to a $1.4 million increase in warranty
expenses and a $0.7 million increase in overhepdreses, offset by decreases in product costs 8fri#lion due to lower per unit material and
manufacturing costs as a result of increased whitwe. The increase in warranty expenses was ghntesed on a manufacturing defect
impacting a discrete batch of badges, resultirgnimcrease in warranty expense of $0.7 million.

Cost of service revenue increased $1.5 millior,i%, from 2012 to 2013. This increase was priydte to a $1.2 million increase in
employee wages and other personnel costs in oumitesd support and professional services orgaminatio support growth in customer
deployments and in our installed base.

Operating expenses:

Years ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change
(in thousands, except percentages) Amount Amount Amount %
Operating expenses
Research and development $ 1491t $ 11,61¢ $ 3,291 28.0%
Sales and marketing 44,92¢ 33,43: 11,49¢ 34.4
General and administrative 14,90¢ 14,39( 51€ 3.€
Total operating expenses $ 74,74¢  $ 59,44( § 15,30¢ 25.¢

Research and development expe. Research and development expense increasgdniiBon, or 28.4%, from 2012 to 2013. This incseavas
primarily due to an increase in employee wagesadiner personnel related costs of $2.3 million, a $fillion increase in stock compensation
expenses and $0.4 million increase in other supmsts.

Sales and marketing expenseSales and marketing expense increased $11.5 mitiod4.4%, from 2012 to 2013. This increase wasamily

due to a $6.6 million increase in employee wagesaiher personnel costs, a $1.7 million increas#ank compensation expenses, a $1.3 million
increase in travel, a $1.6 million increase in netirlg expenses and a $0.8 million increase in detservices, offset by a $0.5 million decrease in
equipment and supplies.

General and administrative expenseGeneral and administrative expense increased $llibrmor 3.6%, from 2012 to 2013. This increasasw
due to a $1.7 million increase in stock compengatixpense, a $0.6 million increase in employee wage other personnel costs, a $0.2 million
increase in outside services, offset by a $1.7anillecrease of bonus accrual and a $0.2 milli@nedese in administrative/other.
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Years ended December 31,

(in thousands, except percentages) 2013 2012 Change
Non-operating income (expense) elements:

Interest income $ 257 $ 171 % 8€
Interest expense — (84) 84
Other (expense) income, net (53 (1,467 1,41C

Income taxes:

Provision for income taxes (209 (627) 51¢
Income (loss) before income taxes (10,35¢) 3,52( (13,87¢)
Effective tax rate % (1.2)% 17.8% (18.9%

Interest income. Interest income increased $0.1 million from 2012@3d3 due to higher cash balances from the proa#feals initial public
offering and follow-on offering completed in 2012.

Interest expense. Interest expense decreased $0.1 million from 2622013 as we paid all outstanding debt upon conopleif our initial public
offering.

Other income (expense), netOther expense decreased $1.4 million from 201D482As 2012 included $1.6 million of expense relatethe
fair market value of convertible preferred stockraats. This decrease was offset by a $0.1 millienease in interest expense related to our lease
financing program and a $0.1 million increase irefgn exchange losses.

Provision for income taxeThe $0.1 million provision on $10.4 million of paatloss in 2013 represented a negative effectivesti@ of 1.1%. Fc
2012, the provision of $0.6 million on the consatied pretax income of $3.5 million representedféectve tax rate of 17.8%. The negative
effective tax rate for 2013 was due primarily te tmpact of pre-tax losses in the U.S. operatiofiset by income taxes from foreign operations.
The effective tax rate of 17.8% for 2012 is duerariily to the impact of the utilization of the vation allowance on net deferred tax assets,
together with permanent tax adjustments for stgtlons.

Liquidity and capital resources

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Consolidated statements of cash flow data:

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities $ (4,699 $ (1,259 $ 12,29:
Net cash used in investing activities (14,42)) (56,717 (37,53)
Net cash provided by financing activities 2,082 5,101 102,86:
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equisalent $ (17,03) $ (52,869 $ 77,62

As of December 31, 2014 , we had cash and caskatgots and short-term investments of $116.3 mildod no debt.

On April 2, 2012, we completed our initial publiffering in which we and existing stockholders s6]@27,500 shares of common stock at $16.00
per share, before underwriting discounts and cosionis. We sold 5,000,000 shares and existing stdd&ts sold an aggregate of 1,727,500
shares, including 877,500 shares as a result afrtlerwriters’ exercise of their over-allotmentiopt We recorded net proceeds of $70.5 million
from the initial public offering, after subtractiaf underwriters’ discounts and commissions, aridrofg expenses incurred in both 2011 and
2012. We did not receive any proceeds from thedatbares by existing stockholders in our inigiablic offering.

On September 12, 2012, we completed a foltlmwpublic offering in which we and existing stoclders sold 5,548,750 shares of common sto
$28.75 per share, before underwriting discountscamamissions. We sold 1,337,500 shares and existoakholders sold an aggregate of
4,211,250 shares, including an aggregate of 723Mafes as a result of the underwriters' exerditeeor over-allotment option. We received net
proceeds of approximately $36.0 million, after detthg underwriting discounts and commissions am@ioexpenses of the offering. We did not
receive any proceeds from the sale of shares Isyimxistockholders in our follow-on public offering

We have also financed a portion of our operatiorsacquisitions with term loans, equipment linesreflit and revolving lines of credit. In
January 2009, we entered into a loan and secgigement with Comerica Bank, N.A., or Comerica,clhi
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was subsequently amended in February 2010 and ece2f10. These amendments renewed the workintathpe of credit for $5.0 million,
and increased the term loan facility from $2.0 imillto $5.0 million. In April 2012, we used a portiof the proceeds from our initial public
offering to pay in full the outstanding revolvirige of credit of $4.5 million and the outstandiegm loan balance of $3.3 million. We allowed
line of credit to expire in April 2012.

Proceeds from transfers of our sales-type leassrtbparty financial companies are allocated leetvthe net investment in sales-type leases anc
the executory cost component for remaining serwhlations based on relative present value. Tfierdnce between the amount of proceeds
allocated to the net investment in lease and thging value of the net investment in lease isudeld in product revenue. Proceeds allocated to
the executory cost components are accounted fiimagcing liabilities.

We are not a capital-intensive business, nor dexpect to be in the future. During 2014 , 2013 2082 , our purchases of property and
equipment were $2.0 million, $3.8 million and $#lion, respectively. The expenditures in 2014mrily relate to leasehold improvements and
computer equipment. The expenditures in 2013 ireddumbmpletion of the first phase of our ERP impletagon in August 2013 and build out of
additional leased space available in April 2013 €kpenditures in 2012 included those for our ERBlémentation, as well as spending to
support headcount growth with computer and equipmeeds.

We believe that our existing sources of liquidityl watisfy our anticipated working capital and taprequirements for at least the next
twelve months. Our future liquidity and capital ueg@ments will depend upon numerous factors, inolgdur rate of growth, the rate at which we
add personnel to generate and support future gr@mth potential future acquisitions.

In the future, we may seek to sell additional egsécurities or borrow funds. The sale of additi@tpity or convertible securities may result in
additional dilution to our stockholders. If we miadditional funds through the issuance of dehirtigs or other borrowings, these securities or
borrowings could have rights senior to those ofammmon stock and could contain covenants thatloagtrict our operations. Any required
additional capital may not be available on reastmtdrms, if at all.

Operating activities

Cash used by operating activities was $4.7 mililoB014, due in part to the 2014 net loss of $28ilBon , partially offset by noreash items suc

as depreciation and amortization of $3.0 milliongooperty and equipment and acquired intangitdetssand stock-based compensation of $11.1
million. With respect to changes in assets andliiegs, cash was provided by a decrease in aceoutieivable of $5.7 million, which is
attributable to collection on prior periods' invescexceeding the current period's billings, a desg®f $1.9 million in inventory, a $1.1 million
increase in accrued liabilities and a $2.8 milliecrease in deferred revenue. These factors wésetdfy certain cash outflows, including a $1.7
million decrease in accounts payable and $0.3anillhcrease in prepaid expenses.

Cash used by operating activities was $1.3 millipB013, due in part to the 2013 net loss of $1ilbon, together with inventory growth of $3.0
million attributable to downward revision of profems for our 2013 shipments which did not sigrfitly reduce the lagged inventory receipt
commitments until year-end, accounts receivablevirof $1.9 million, and decrease in accrued aheéoliabilities of $1.9 million. These were
partially offset by non-cash items, including stdidsed compensation of $8.7 million and depreaiatfogproperty and equipment and intangibles
amortization of $2.5 million. Additional offset wasovided by the increase in deferred revenuegtdf fillion and the increase of $0.7 million in
accounts payable.

Cash provided by operating activities was $12.3ionilin 2012, due in part to net income in 20122f9 million, based on 3.3% higher gross
margins on a 27% increase in revenues. Operatsigftav also excludes the following non-cash itedepreciation of property and equipment
and intangibles amortization of $2.6 million, thankrto-market valuation of preferred stock warrasft$1.6 million prior to our initial public
offering, and stock-based compensation of $4.2anillwhich was higher in 2012 than in 2011 duehthigher quantity and fair value of stock
option and RSU grants. Additional operating caslois were generated by the $5.8 million increasddferred revenues and $2.8 million
increase in accrued and other liabilities, bothelriby our continued business growth. These itearg wartially offset by operating cash outflows
of $5.9 million for the growth-driven increase iccaunts receivable, $1.3 million for the increaseriepaid expenses and other current assets, an
$1.1 million for the decrease in accounts payable.

Investing activities

Cash used in investing activities was $14.4 millio2014, which was primarily attributable to $@lion for the acquisitions of mVisum and
Prana Technologies, net of cash acquired, and $#lion for purchases of short-term investments, of maturities received of $102.7 million
and $3.9 million in sales of short-term investmét.additional $2.0 million of cash was used fag lurchase of property and equipment, partly
offset by the release of $0.3 million in restrictabh.
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Cash used in investing activities was $56.7 miliim2013, which was primarily attributable to therghase of short-term investments of $118.7
million, net of maturities received of $65.7 miltioplus the purchase of property and equipmenieasthold improvements of $3.8 million. The
short-term investment purchases primarily reflecteddecision in early 2013 to migrate all investitnend cash equivalents from our single asset
manager into new portfolios, split between two remset managers. The maturities reflected the pledeam the liquidation of the former asset
manager's portfolio, as well as fairly short-termtunities on the new portfolios, leading to a stiertn investments balance of $88.0 million as of
December 31, 2013, with the remainder investedsgh@quivalents.

Cash used in investing activities was $37.5 milim2012, which was primarily attributable to therghase of short-term investments of $104.9
million, net of maturities received of $69.9 miltioplus the purchase of property and equipmenieasthold improvements of $2.6 million. The
short-term investment purchases reflected invedtfoemigher yields of the proceeds from the AgOIL2 IPO and September 2012 follow-on
offerings. We allowed the short-term investmenthduidate down to a $35.0 million balance as ot&maber 31, 2012, with the difference
invested in cash equivalents from the maturities.

Financing activities

Cash provided by financing activities was $2.1 iaiillin 2014, which was attributable to employeektpurchase plan proceeds of $1.6 million ,
exercises of stock options of $1.1 million and ciie lease-related performance obligations of $0il6on , partially offset by $1.2 million of
taxes paid on behalf of employees for net shatkesent.

Cash provided by financing activities was $5.1 imllin 2013, which was attributable to employeektourchase plan proceeds of $3.0 million,
exercises of stock options of $1.8 million, casinfriease-related performance obligations of $0IBamj exercise of common stock warrants of
$0.2 million, partially offset by $0.7 million ofkes paid on behalf of employees for net sharkesetht.

Cash provided by financing activities was $102.9iomi in 2012, which was primarily attributable tioe net proceeds received from our initial
public offering of $72.1 million and the net prodsdrom our follow-on offering of $36.0 million, pgally offset by the $8.3 million repayment of
our credit facility and term loan. Additional finging activities that contributed cash included $tillion of proceeds from the exercise of stock
options and $1.1 million of cash received for fetexecutory costs for lease-related performandgathins.

Contractual obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual gddiions as of December 31, 2014 :

Lessthan 1 More than
(in thousands) Total year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5years
Operating leased $ 2,481 $ 1,76¢ $ 717 $ — % —
Non-cancelable purchase commitméefits 1,914 1,914 — — —
Total $ 439 $ 3,67¢ $ 717 $ — 3 —

(1) Consists of contractual obligations from reamcelable office space under operating le
(2) Consists of minimum purchase commitments with adependent contract manufacturer and other vel

As of December 31, 2014 , we had $0.3 million dfdeferred tax liabilities and $0.2 million fromaartain tax positions, both recorded within
other long-term liabilities. The timing and amouatsany payments that could result from the needefl tax liabilities and unrecognized tax
benefits will depend upon a number of factors. Adoaly, the timing and amounts of any eventualmexgt cannot be estimated for inclusion in
the table above. We do not expect a significanptpment related to these obligations to occuriwitie next 12 months. Such tax contingencies
are separately disclosed and discussed in Note 10.

Off-balance sheet arrangements

During 2014 , we did not have any relationshipshwibhconsolidated organizations or financial paghigs, such as structured finance or special
purpose entities that would have been establistretthé purpose of facilitating off-balance sheeaagements or other contractually narrow or
limited purposes.
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Critical accounting policies and estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial stegets requires us to make estimates and assumfhiatnsffect the amounts reported in the
consolidated financial statements and accompamuabgs. We evaluate our estimates on an ongoing,basliuding those related to revenue
recognition, stock-based compensation, accountingudsiness combinations and the provision fornmedaxes. We base our estimates and
judgments on our historical experience, knowledglactors affecting our business and our belieoaghat could occur in the future consider
available information and assumptions that we kielie be reasonable under the circumstances.

The accounting estimates we use in the preparafionr consolidated financial statements will chaag events occur, more experience is
acquired, additional information is obtained and gperating environment changes. Changes in esigvaae made when circumstances warrant.
Such changes in estimates and refinements in dgimaethodologies are reflected in our reportesdilts of operations and, if material, the
effects of changes in estimates are disclosedeimtties to our consolidated financial statementghBir nature, these estimates and judgment
subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty atabaoesults could differ materially from the amtsireported based on these estimates.

While our significant accounting policies are marty described in Note 1 of the “Notes to our colidated financial statements” included in
Item 8, “Financial Statements and SupplementaraDate believe the following reflects our critiadcounting policies and our more significant
judgments and estimates used in the preparationrdinancial statement

Revenue recognitiol

We derive revenue from the sales of communicatamgbs, smartphones, perpetual software licensesfvare that is essential to the
functionality of the communication badges, softwa@ntenance, extended warranty and professiondtes. We also derive revenue from the
sale of licenses for software that is not essetaithie functionality of the communication badgeswell as certain subscription-based revenues.
Sales tax is excluded from reported total revenue.

Revenue is recognized when all of the below catare met:

» there is persuasive evidence that an arrangeexésis, in the form of a written contract, amendtaeo that contract, or purchase orders from
a third party;

» delivery has occurred or services have been redj
« the price is fixed or determinable after evaluatimg risk of concession; a
» collectability is reasonably assured based on cust@reditworthiness and past history of collec

A typical sales arrangement involves multiple eletagsuch as sales of communications badges, peiEetftware licenses, professional services
and maintenance services which entitle customeansgpecified upgrades, bug fixes, patch releasgsedephone support. Revenue from the sale
of communication badges and perpetual softwaradies is recognized upon shipment or delivery attiséomers’ premises as the contractual
provisions governing sales of these products donotitde any provisions regarding acceptance, padace or general right of return or
cancellation or termination provisions adversefgeting revenue recognition. Revenue from the galmaintenance services on software licenses
is recognized over the period during which the isessare provided, which is generally one year.eRae from professional services is recogn
either on a fixed fee basis based on milestones @rtime and materials basis as the servicesravédpd, both of which generally take place over
a period of two to twelve weeks.

We also derive revenue from the provision of hosedices on a subscription basis. Revenue frosetheoducts is recognized ratably over the
term of the arrangement.

In arrangements with multiple deliverables, assgnaith other revenue criteria are met, we recogrexenue for individual delivered items if they
have value to the customer on a standalone basialMtate arrangement consideration at the inmeoti the arrangement to all deliverables
using the relative selling price method. This methequires us to determine the selling price attvieiach deliverable could be sold if it were ¢
regularly on a standalone basis. When availablejseevendor-specific objective evidence ("VSOE")&f selling price. VSOE represents the
price charged for a deliverable when it is soldasafely, or for a deliverable not yet being solgasately, the price established by management
with the relevant authority. We have establishe@¥3f the selling price for our post-installati@chnical support services. When VSOE of
selling price is not available, third-party evider(t TPE") of selling price for similar products asekrvices is acceptable; however, our offerings
and market strategy differ from those of our contpes, such that we cannot obtain sufficient corapée information about third parties' prices. If
neither VSOE nor TPE are available, we use ourdémsnates of selling prices ("BESP"). We deternBESP considering factors such as market
conditions, sales channels, internal costs andygtadargin objectives and pricing practices. Waultady review and update our VSOE and BE
information.

The relative selling price method allocates toteditagement consideration proportionally to eaclivdedble on the basis of its estimated selling
price. In addition, the amount recognized for aalvéred items cannot exceed that which is contihgeon delivery of any remaining
deliverables in the arrangement.
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A portion of our sales are made through multi-yease agreements with customers. When these amamge are considered sales-type leases,
upon delivery of leased products to customers,agegnize revenue for such products in an amourgléquhe net present value of the minimum
lease payments. Unearned income is recognizedresfgaoduct revenue under the effective interesthod. We recognize revenue related to
certain executory costs, including maintenanceeatteénded warranty, ratable over the term of theetyithg arrangements. We recognize revenue
related to battery refresh executory costs wheh swecutory costs are incurred.

For non-essential software arrangements with nielteliverables, including license, professional/®es and maintenance, we recognize license
revenue using the residual method of accountingyaunt to relevant software revenue recognitionayjuid. Under the residual method, revenue is
recognized when VSOE for fair value exists foradilthe undelivered elements in the arrangementdbes not exist for one or more of the
delivered elements in the arrangement. If evideridair value cannot be established for the undeéd elements, all of the revenue is deferred
until evidence of fair value can be establishedjrdil the items for which evidence of fair valuenoot be established are delivered. For
maintenance and certain professional services,ave bstablished VSOE. Our revenue arrangementstdoatude a general right of return

relative to the delivered products.

Proceeds from transfers of sales-type leasesrtbplairty financial companies are allocated betwbemet investment in sales-type leases and the
executory cost component for remaining servicegaltions based on relative present value. The diffeg between the amount of proceeds
allocated to the net investment in lease and thging value of the net investment in lease isudeld in product revenue. Proceeds allocated to
the executory cost component are accounted faaligias financing liabilities, with subsequent amimation recorded in revenue, for maintena
extended warranty and battery refresh programsebHy interest expense.

Standard product warrantie

We provide for the estimated costs of product wiea at the time the related revenue is recogniZedts are estimated based on historical and
projected product failure rates, historical andguted repair costs, and knowledge of specific pepvdhilures (if any). The specific product
warranty includes parts and labor over a periocgdly ranging from one to three years. We providevarranty for software. We regularly
assess our estimates to evaluate the adequacy @dbrded warranty liabilities and adjust the amt®as necessary. The total warranty expense
under our standard warranty in 2014 was $0.7 millemmpared to $1.7 million in 2013 and $0.3 millia 2012. The key drivers to the warranty
reserve calculation are the installed base of prizdunder standard warranty, the estimated reatenaf the installed base of products under
standard warranty, and the availability of refunigid units to fulfill expected warranty claims.

Stock-based compensation

Stock options

We record all stock-based awards, which consistaifk option grants, at fair value as of the gdaie and recognize the expense over the
requisite service period (generally over the vesgiariod of the award). The expenses relatingesdlawards have been reflected in our financial
statements. Stock options granted to our employestsover periods of 12 to 48 months.

We use the Black-Scholes option-pricing model foudate the fair value of stock options on themgrdate. This model requires the following
major inputs: the estimated fair value of the utyleg common stock, the expected life of the optithre expected volatility of the underlying
common stock over the expected life of the optiba,risk-free interest rate and expected dividdaettly The following assumptions were used for
each respective period for employee stock-basegensation:

Years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Expected term (in years) 5.41-5.45 5.38 - 5.43 5.23 - 5.60
Volatility 41.4% - 48.2% 46.7% - 48.1% 47.9% - 48.7%
Risk-free interest rate 1.59% - 1.78% 0.81% - 1.80% 0.72% - 1.03%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

We base the risk-free rate for the expected teroptibns on the U.S. Treasury Constant MaturityeRet of the grant date. The computation of
expected life was determined based on the hist@ieacise and forfeiture behavior of our employeg@gng consideration to the contractual
terms of the stock-based awards, vesting schedakbgxpectations of future employee behavior. Mpeeted stock price volatility for our
common stock was estimated based on the histaatatility of a group
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of comparable companies for the same expecteddeaur options. The comparable companies were seldrased on industry and market
capitalization data. We assumed the dividend yteloe zero, as we have never declared or paidetidsl and do not expect to do so in the
foreseeable future.

Stock-based compensation expense is recognized basestraight-line amortization method over #spective vesting period of the award and
has been reduced for estimated forfeitures. Wenasdtid the expected forfeiture rate based on otoridal experience, considering voluntary
termination behaviors, trends of actual award farfes, and other events that will impact the fifie rate. To the extent our actual forfeiturerat
is different from our estimate, the stock-based pensation expense is adjusted accordingly.

Restricted Stock Uni

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we begamgorating restricted stock units as an elemeatiocompensation plans. Beginning in
May 2012, we granted certain employees restridi@ekaunits, which vest one third on the first aramsary of the grant, one third on the second
anniversary of the grant and one third upon thel thiniversary of the grant. We did not grant astricted stock units prior to May 2012. The
grant date fair value of the RSUs is the closingkaigprice on the date of grant; this amount iggld to expense ratably over the requisite se
period. Beginning with 2012, RSU's have formedl#ngest amount of stock compensation expensernmstef grant type.

Goodwill and intangible assets

We allocate the purchase price of any acquisitiortangible assets and liabilities and identifiabtangible assets acquired. Any residual purc
price is recorded as goodwill. The allocation & purchase price requires management to makeisgmiestimates in determining the fair val

of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, edhewigh respect to intangible assets. These es@mare based on information obtained from
management of the acquired companies and histaxgadrience. These estimates can include, butad@mited to, the cash flows that an asset is
expected to generate in the future, and the cesigmexpected to be derived from acquiring anta3$ese estimates are inherently uncertain and
unpredictable, and if different estimates were ukedourchase price for the acquisition could becated to the acquired assets and liabilities
differently from the allocation that we have malifeaddition, unanticipated events and circumstantag occur which affect the accuracy or
validity of such estimates, and if such events peeimay be required to record a charge againstah® ascribed to an acquired asset or an
increase in the amounts recorded for assumeditiabil

Goodwill

Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reportingt level at least annually as of September 3f@timore often if events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may eatelsoverable. No impairment was recorded in 2@013 or 2012 . As of December 31, 2014
no changes in circumstances indicate that goodwaillying values may not be recoverable. Applicatibthe goodwill impairment test requires
judgment. Circumstances that could affect the talnaf goodwill include, among other things, arsfgcant change in our business climate .

the buying habits of our customers along with cleanig the costs to provide our products and sesvice

Intangible asset

Intangible assets are amortized over their estidnaseful lives. Upon completion of development,uacz in-process research and development
assets are generally considered amortizable, finiéel assets and are amortized over their estisnaseful lives.

Finite-lived intangible assets consist of custonedationships, developed technology, trademarksnamdcompete agreements. We evaluate our
intangible assets for impairment at the asset glewgd, which means the intangibles grouped witieotassets and liabilities at the lowest leve
which identifiable cash flows are largely indepemidgf the cash flows of other assets and liabflitdanagement has concluded that our asset
groups align with our reporting units. The intarigibssets are allocated to the Product asset ggougm that the Product asset group is the lowest
level for which discrete cash flow information &lentifiable, independent from other assets. Wesssthe recoverability of these assets wher
adverse events or changes in circumstances ordassiatimate indicate that expected undiscounteatdiutash flows related to such intangible
assets may not be sufficient to support the nek vatue of such assets. An impairment is recognizete period of identification to the extent

the carrying amount of an asset exceeds the fhievaf such asset. No impairment of intangible &sa@s recorded in 2014 , 2013 or 2012 .

Significant judgments required in assessing theaimpent of goodwill and intangible assets include identification of reporting units,
identifying whether events or changes in circumzarrequire an impairment assessment, estimatingefaash flows, determining appropriate
discount and growth rates and other assumptiorsn@ds in these estimates and assumptions couldiatigtaffect the determination of fair val
as to whether an impairment exists and, if soatheunt of that impairment.
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Income taxes

We use the asset and liability method of accourfingncome taxes. Under this method, we recor@mlefl income taxes based on temporary
differences between the financial reporting andb@ses of assets and liabilities and use enactedttss and laws that we expect will be in effect
when we recover those assets or settle thoseitiedilas the case may be, to measure those taxemses where the expiration date of tax
carryforwards or the projected operating resulthicate that realization is not likely, we provide & valuation allowance. Valuation allowances
are established when necessary to reduce defexebsets to the amounts expected to be realized.

We have deferred tax assets, resulting from dealedemporary differences that may reduce taxatdeme in future periods. A valuation
allowance is required when it is more likely than that all or a portion of a deferred tax assditwat be realized. In assessing the need for a
valuation allowance, we estimate future taxableine, considering the feasibility of ongoing taxspiang strategies and the realizability of tax
loss carryforwards. Valuation allowances relatedeferred tax assets can be impacted by changes laws, changes in statutory tax rates and
future taxable income levels. If we were to deterthat we would be able to realize our deferredatsets in the future in excess of the net
carrying amounts, we would decrease the recordegtvan allowance through an increase to incont@énperiod in which that determination is
made. Due to the amount of net operating lossatablafor income tax purposes through Decembe814 , we had a full valuation allowance
against our deferred tax assets. We continue to@eathe realizability of our U.S. and Canadiafeded tax assets. If our financial results
improve, we will reassess the need for a full vaduaallowance each quarter and, if we determia¢ iths more likely than not the deferred tax
assets will be realized, we will adjust the valoatallowance.

At December 31, 2014 , we had a valuation allowagzenst net deferred tax assets of $30.1 millMfe.intend to review on a quarterly basis our
conclusions about the appropriate amount of owrded tax asset valuation allowance. There is @rftarncertainty in evaluating the
sustainability of the income tax positions we takeour tax returns. We assess our income tax posiind record tax benefits for all years sul

to examination based upon our management’s evatuefithe facts, circumstances and informationlatsbeé at the reporting date. For those tax
positions where it is more likely than not thaaa benefit will be sustained, we have recordechtbhest amount of tax benefit with a greater than
50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate lsettent with a taxing authority that has full knodde of all relevant information. For those
income tax positions where it is not more likelgriimot that a tax benefit will be realizable, nohanefit has been recognized in our financial
statements.

We include interest and penalties with income tatethe accompanying statement of operations. &uyéars after 2009 are subject to tax
authority examinations. Additionally, our net op@rg losses and research credits prior to 2013 abgect to tax authority adjustment.

Recently issued accounting guidance

In May 2014, the FASB together with the InternaéibAccounting Standards Board issued convergedagei for revenue recognition that will
replace most existing guidance, eliminate induspgeific guidance and provide a unified model fetedmining how and when revenue from
contracts with customers should be recognized. Uthdenew guidance, an entity should recognizemege¢o depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount tlatte the consideration to which the entity expeotbe entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. The standard will also introduce addéiatisclosures, changes in asset and liability acting, and changes in gain/loss recognition for
asset transfers unrelated to customer transactions.

Our effective date for this standard will be thstfiquarter of 2017; no early application is perecit Two methods of transition are provided: a
retrospective approach, with certain practical eigres allowed, and a cumulative effect methodhwalance sheet adjustment as of January 1,
2017. We are evaluating the effect the new standdftiave on our consolidated financial statememtd related disclosures. We have not yet
selected a transition method nor have we deterntimedlture effect of the standard on its finanpiagition or results of operations.

Iltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Marlet Risk

The primary objective of our investment activitiego preserve principal while maximizing yieldsthaut significantly increasing risk. To achie
this objective, historically we have invested inmag market funds. With the proceeds from our twbligwofferings in 2012, we have invested i
broader portfolio of high credit quality short-tesmcurities. To minimize the exposure due to areesdvshift in interest rates, we maintain an
average portfolio duration of one year or less.

Our primary exposure to market risk is interesbme and expense sensitivity, which is affectedtignges in the general level of the interest
in the United States. However, because of the €bort nature of our interest-bearing securitieB)% change in market interest rates would not
be expected to have a material impact on our cafeet financial condition or results of operations
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Historically our operations have consisted of redeand development and sales activities in theddribtates. As a result, our financial results
have not been materially affected by factors siscbhanges in foreign currency exchange rates aroecic conditions in foreign markets. We are
developing plans to expand our international preseAccordingly, we expect that our exposure tangea in foreign currency exchange rates and
economic conditions may increase in future periods.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Vadéommunications, Inc.
San Jose, California

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineet of Vocera Communications, Inc. and sudr#gdi (the "Company™) as of December
31, 2014, and the related consolidated statemémgevations, comprehensive income (loss), stodédrsl equity, and cash flows for the year
ended December 31, 2014. These financial stateraemtbe responsibility of the Company's managen@unt responsibility is to express an
opinion on the financial statements based on odit.au

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d@nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether the finastataiments are free of material misstatement.
The Company is not required to have, nor were vgaged to perform, an audit of its internal contnedr financial reporting. Our audit included
consideration of internal control over financigbogting as a basis for designing audit procedurasdre appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on thecéiffeness of the Company's internal control owericial reporting. Accordingly, we express
such opinion. An audit also includes examiningadest basis, evidence supporting the amounts ianlbsures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and ®ignifestimates made by management, as well asatira the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit providesaaonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such 2014 consolidated financiatesnents present fairly, in all material respetis financial position of Vocera
Communications, Inc. and subsidiaries as of Dece®be2014, and the results of their operationsthai cash flows for the year ended
December 31, 2014 in conformity with accountingpiples generally accepted in the United StateSnoérica.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLF
San Jose, California

March 12, 2015
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To The Board of Directors and Stockholders
of Vocera Communications, Inc.:

In our opinion, the consolidated balance sheef @&eoember 31, 2013 and the related consolidatgdraents of operations, of stockholders'
equity (deficit), comprehensive income (loss) aaslcflows for each of the two years in the periodegl December 31, 2013 present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Voogmammunications, Inc. and its subsidiaries at Ddmm31, 2013, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of theyears in the period ended December 31, 2013, nfocmity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of Amefit@se financial statements are the responsiloifithie Company's management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesarftial statements based on our audits. We cordloateaudits of these statements in accordance
with the standards of the Public Company Accoun@vgrsight Board (United States). Those standaggire that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whethenthedial statements are free of material misstatem@naudit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and diselssu the financial statements, assessing theuatiog principles used and significant
estimates made by management, and evaluating gralbfinancial statement presentation. We belitnad our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

/s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

San Jose, California
March 17, 2014
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Vocera Communications, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In Thousands, Except Share and Par Amounts)

December 31,

2014 2013
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 22,61t $ 39,65:
Short-term investments 93,64¢ 88,02:
Accounts receivable, net 18,00¢ 23,54
Other receivables 694 882
Inventories 3,46: 5,66¢
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,015 1,89:
Total current assets 140,44 159,65t
Property and equipment, net 5,12 5,36t
Intangible assets, net 3,171 1,54+
Goodwill 9,98¢ 5,57¢
Other long-term assets 90¢ 96¢
Total assets $ 159,62¢ $ 173,10
Liabilities and stockholders' equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 1,91: $ 3,531
Accrued payroll and other current liabilities 10,86: 9,841
Deferred revenue, current 28,47 26,13
Total current liabilities 41,25( 39,50¢
Deferred revenue, long-term 6,974 6,39¢
Other long-term liabilities 1,69: 1,641
Total liabilities 49,91¢ 47,54
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock, $0.0003 par value - 5,000,000eshanthorized as of December 31, 2014 and Decediber
2013; zero shares issued and outstanding — —
Common stock, $0.0003 par value - 100,000,000 sharthorized as of December 31, 2014 and Decem
31, 2013; 25,644,010 and 24,967,140 shares issubdwstanding as of December 31, 2014 and Decen
31, 2013, respectively 8 7
Additional paid-in capital 202,51! 189,96t
Accumulated other comprehensive income (82) 23
Accumulated deficit (92,730 (64,43))
Total stockholders’ equity 109,71: 125,56:
$ 159,62¢ $ 173,10°

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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Vocera Communications, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

Years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Revenue
Product $ 51,09¢ $ 62,39! $ 65,02¢
Service 44,32¢ 40,10¢ 35,92¢
Total revenue 95,42: 102,49¢ 100,95
Cost of revenue
Product 18,76¢ 21,71« 21,55:
Service 18,47( 16,59t 15,07(
Total cost of revenue 37,23¢ 38,30¢ 36,62:
Gross profit 58,18t 64,18¢ 64,33¢
Operating expenses
Research and development 18,03t 14,91 11,61¢
Sales and marketing 49,61 44,92¢ 33,43
General and administrative 18,06: 14,90¢ 14,39(
Restructuring 55¢€ — —
Total operating expenses 86,26« 74,74¢ 59,44(
(Loss) income from operations (28,079 (10,56() 4,89¢
Interest income 35E 257 171
Interest expense — — (84)
Other expense, net (249 (53 (1,469
(Loss) income before income taxes (27,979 (10,35¢) 3,52(
Provision for income taxes (329 (209 (627)
Net (loss) income (28,297 (10,46Y 2,89:
Less: undistributed earnings attributable to pgudittng securities — — (1,36€)
Net (loss) income attributable to common stockhalde $ (28,29) $ (10,469 $ 1,527
Net (loss) income per share attributable to comstookholders
Basic and diluted $(1.12) $(0.43) $0.08
Weighted average shares used to compute net inoss? per share attributable to
common stockholders
Basic 25,32¢ 24,62: 17,97¢
Diluted 25,32¢ 24,62 20,60¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oetheasolidated financial statements.

50




Table of Contents

Vocera Communications, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (ks)
(In Thousands)

Years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Net (loss) income $ (28,29) $ (10,465 $ 2,89¢
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net:
Change in unrealized (loss) gain on investmentsofiigx (209 18 5
Comprehensive (loss) income $ (28,40) $ (10,44) $ 2,89¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oetheasolidated financial statements.
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Vocera Communications, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity (Oiit)
(In Thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Common stock Additional Accum. other Total
paid-in comprehensive Accumulated  stockholders’
Shares Amount capital income (loss) deficit equity (deficit)

Balance at January 1, 2012 3,780,491 $ 13 7,461 — $ (56,86) $ (49,399
Conversion of preferred stock to common stock 12,937,75 4 53,35: — — 53,35¢
Issuance of common stock upon initial public offgri 5,000,00¢ 2 70,53: — — 70,53t
Issuance of common stock upon follow-on offering 1,337,501 — 35,97t — — 35,97t
Reclassification of preferred stock warrant liailnto additional paid-

in capital upon initial public offering — — 3,141 — — 3,141
Exercise of stock options 1,073,73: — 1,68¢ — — 1,68¢
Vesting of early exercised stock options — — 307 — — 307
Cashless exercise of common stock warrants 78,48’ — — — — —
Issuance of restricted stock awards 24,15: — — — — —
Non-employee stock-based compensation expense — — 29 — — 29
Employee stock-based compensation expense — — 4,20: — — 4,20:
Income tax benefits from employee stock plans — — 40€ — — 40€
Repurchase of early exercised options (2,755 — (20 — — (20
Net income — — — — 2,89: 2,89:
Other comprehensive income _ _ 5 _ 5
Balance at December 31, 2012 24,229,35 7 177,08: 5 (53,96%) 123,12¢
Exercise of stock options 420,49: — 1,657 — — 1,657
RSUs released and tax settlement 71,82« — (70%) — — (709)
Common stock issued under employee stock purchHase p 215,03¢ — 2,99: — — 2,99:
Vesting of early exercised stock options — — 12z — — 12z
Cash exercise of common stock warrants 34,14 — 22¢€ — — 22¢€
Employee stock-based compensation expense — — 8,667 — — 8,667
Income tax shortfall from employee stock plans — — (64) — — (64)
Repurchase of early exercised options (3,719 — (29 — — (29
Net loss — — — — (10,465 (10,46%
Other comprehensive income — — — 18 — 18
Balance at December 31, 2013 24,967,14 7 189,96¢ 23 (64,437 125,56:
Exercise of stock options 293,61! 1 1,09¢ — — 1,097
RSUs released and tax settlement 225,14¢ — (1,270 — — (1,270
Common stock issued under employee stock purchase p 160,93¢ — 1,58¢ — — 1,58¢
Vesting of early exercised stock options — — 54 — — 54
Employee stock-based compensation expense — — 11,08 — — 11,08
Repurchase of early exercised options (2,830 — 3 — — ()]
Net loss — — — — (28,29) (28,29))
Other comprehensive loss — — — (109 — (109
Balance at December 31, 2014 25,644,01 $ 8 % 202,51! $ 81 $ (92,730 $ 109,71:

The accompanying notes are an integral part oketheasolidated financial statements
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Vocera Communications, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In Thousands)

Years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Cash flows from operating activities
Net (loss) income $ (28,29) (10,46% 2,89
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to mshrovided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 3,01« 2,54z 2,61t
Non-cash interest income @) (72) (28
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 77 — 27
Bad debt expense (recovery) 61 16 —
Inventory write-down 31C 13€ 224
Change in lease-related performance liabilities (595) (207) ?3)
Stock-based compensation expense 11,08¢ 8,667 4,23:
Excess tax benefits from employee stock plans — — (325)
Change in fair value of warrant liability — — 1,631
Changes in assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable 5,66( (1,86)) (5,91¢)
Other receivables 18¢ (439 417
Inventories 1,89¢ (3,029 367
Prepaid expenses and other assets (330 44¢€ (1,34¢)
Accounts payable (1,67¢) 69C (1,145
Accrued payroll and other liabilities 1,10 (1,887) 2,802
Deferred revenue 2,821 4,19¢ 5,84(
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (4,697) (1,259 12,29
Cash flows from investing activities
Payment for purchase of property and equipment (2,029 (3,770 (2,56%)
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired (6,950 — —
Purchase of short-term investments (112,299 (118,66)) (104,869
Maturities of short-term investments 102,65t 65,71« 69,90:
Sales of short-term investments 3,92¢ — —
Changes in restricted cash 265 — —
Net cash used in investing activities (14,42) (56,717 (37,537
Cash flows from financing activities
Cash from lease-related performance obligations 63t 847 1,11«
Principal payment of borrowings — — (8,337
Proceeds from initial public offering, net of ofifey costs — — 72,07(
Proceeds from secondary public offering, net oéifig costs — — 35,97t
Payment for repurchase of common stock 22 29 (20
Excess tax benefits from employee stock plans — — 32t
Proceeds from issuance of common stock from thd@mmee stock purchase plan 1,58¢ 2,99: —
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 1,09¢ 1,75¢ 1,72C
Tax withholdings paid on behalf of employees far steare settlement (1,225 (70%) —
Proceeds from exercise of common stock warrants — 22€ —
Net cash provided by financing activities 2,082 5,107 102,86:
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equisalent (17,03 (52,869 77,62¢
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 39,65: 92,52: 14,89¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 22,61t 39,65: 92,52:
Supplemental cash flow information
Cash paid for interest $ — — 91
Cash paid for income taxes 17k 54 55€

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing anihfincing activities



Property and equipment in accounts payable andiegdiabilities 16 104 321

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. The Company and Summary of Significant Accounting Blicies

Background

Vocera Communications, Inc. and its subsidiaries {Company”) is a provider of secure, integratetglligent communication solutions, focused
on empowering mobile workers in healthcare, hoBpit&nergy, and other mission-critical mobile wa@mnvironments, in the U.S. and
internationally. The significant majority of the @pany's business is generated from sales of iii@os$ in the healthcare market to help our
customers improve patient safety and experienatjremmease operational efficiency. As of Decemider2®14, the Company's solutions have |
installed in more than 1,300 facilities worldwide.

The Vocera Communication System, which includemtelligent enterprise software platform, a lightgre, wearable, voice-controlled
communication badge, and smartphone applicatiorahles users to connect instantly with other siafply by saying the name, function or
group name of the desired recipient. It also sdguleivers text messages and alerts directly tbfasm smartphones, replacing legacy pagers.

The Company was incorporated in Delaware on Fepri@r2000. The Company formed wholly-owned sulasids Vocera Communications UK
Ltd and Vocera Communications Australia Pty Ltd2005, Vocera Hand-Off, Inc., Vocera Canada, Ll BxperiaHealth, Inc. in 2010 and
Vocera Communications India Private Ltd. in 2018August 2013, we merged Vocera Hand-Off Commuitnat Inc. and ExperiaHealth, Inc.
into our parent company, Vocera Communications, Inc

Since its inception, the Company has incurred @it losses and, as of December 31, 2014 , hadeumulated deficit of $92.7 million . The
Company has funded its operations primarily witetomer payments for its products and services geag from the issuance of common stoc
connection with its initial public offering ("IPO'gnd follow-on offering and, before the IPO, frame issuances of convertible preferred stock and
from borrowings under its term loan facility ane thtilization of its line of credit. As of Decemb&t, 2014 , the Company had cash, cash
equivalents and short-term investments of $116IBomi.

The Company believes that its existing sourcegafdity will satisfy its working capital and caplitrequirements for at least the next twelve
months.

Basis of presentatiol

The consolidated financial statements include to@ants of Vocera Communications, Inc. and its Wholvned subsidiaries. All inter-company
transactions and balances have been eliminatezhsptidation. The accompanying notes are preparaddordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States (GAAP).

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith GAAP requires the Company to make estimates assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosu@afingent assets and liabilities at the datdeffinancial statements and the reported amounts o
revenue and expense during the reporting peridus.eftimates include, but are not limited to, reeerecognition, warranty reserves, inventory
reserves, stock-based compensation expense, prwvifgir income taxes and contingencies. Actualliesould differ from these estimates, and
such differences could be material to the Compafiry&cial position and results of operations.

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments

The Company’s cash equivalents and short-term imezgts consist of money market funds, commercipépdJ.S. government agency notes,
U.S. Treasury notes, municipal debt and corporabe. d hese investments are classified as avaifablsale securities and are carried at fair value
with the unrealized gains and losses reportedcasrgonent of stockholders’ equity. Management deitezs the appropriate classification of its
investments at the time of purchase and re-evaldhéeavailable-for-sale designations as of ealdnba sheet date. Investments with an original
purchase maturity of less than three months assifiad as cash equivalents, all those with lomgaturities are classified as short-term
investments, which are available-for-sale.

Restricted casl

Restricted cash was $0.1 million and $0.3 millioacember 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, thermhaof which is security for a corporate
travel card facility and credit card processing/ees. All restricted cash is classified as currentier prepaids and other current assets on the
consolidated balance sheet, based on the undetbtints of the arrangements.
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Allowance for doubtful account:

The allowance for doubtful accounts reflects thengany’s best estimate of probable losses inhenethiel Company’s receivables portfolio
determined on the basis of historical experiengeciéic allowances for known troubled accounts atieer currently available evidence. The
Company has not experienced significant creditde$som its accounts receivable. The Company pada regular review of its customers’
payment histories and associated credit risks @dsei$ not require collateral from its customers.

The following table presents the changes in threnalhce for doubtful accounts:

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Allowance—beginning of period $ ® $ — % —
Provisions for bad debts (53) (29 —
Recoveries from bad debts 4 13 —
Write-offs and other 2 1C —
Allowance—end of period $ (53) $ 6 $ —
Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of standard @@sich approximates actual cost on a first-irstfiout basis) or market (net realizable value or
replacement cost). The Company assesses the walwdtinventory and periodically writes down thdueafor estimated excess and obsolete
inventory based upon assumptions about future dérmad market conditions.

Concentration of credit risk and other risks and aartainties

Financial instruments that subject the Companytwentration of credit risk consist primarily ofsba cash equivalents and short-term
investments. The Company’s cash and cash equigadeatprimarily deposited with high quality finasdnstitutions and in money market funds.
Deposits at these institutions and funds maypadi exceed federally insured limits. Managemelnt\es that these financial institutions and
funds are financially sound and, accordingly, thatimal credit risk exists. The Company has notegdgmced any losses on its deposits of cash
and cash equivalents. Marketable securities atedstd fair value, and accounted for as availabteséle within short-term investments. The
counterparties to the agreements relating to thmp@ay’s investment securities consist of major cmapons, financial institutions and
government agencies of high credit standing.

The primary hardware component of the Company’dlyiets is currently manufactured by a third-partgtcactor in Mexico. A significant
disruption in the operations of this contractor nrapact the production of the Company’s productsafeubstantial period of time, which could
harm the Company’s business, financial conditiosh rsults of operations.

Concentration of credit risk with respect to tradeounts receivable is considered to be limitedtdubke diversity of the Company’s customer
base and geographic sales areas. At December B4.22@ 2013 , no customer accounted for 10% or wfoeecounts receivable. For the years
ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , no cast@presented 10% or more of revenue.

Property and equipmer

Property and equipment are stated at cost and defwé on a straight-line basis over the estimasedul economic lives of the assets. Assets
generally have useful economic lives of three yeacept for leasehold improvements, which are amesttusing the straighine method over th
shorter of the remaining lease term or the estichaseful life of the related assets. Purchaseaweldped software also generally has a three yea
useful economic life, except for major ERP impletadéions, for which the Company assumes a five yeaful economic life. Upon retirement or
sale, the cost and related accumulated depreciatidramortization are removed from the consolidhtddnce sheet and the resulting gain or loss
is reflected in operations. Maintenance and repelirish are not considered improvements and do xtend the useful life of the assets are
charged to operations as incurred.

The Company periodically reviews property and eogpt for impairment whenever events or changegéumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset is impaired or the estimatefililigees are no longer appropriate. Fair valuesimated based on discounted future cash fl

If indicators of impairment exist and the undisc@ahprojected cash flows associated with such @issetless than the carrying amount of the
asset, an impairment loss is recorded to writeattset down to its estimated fair values. To dateCtompany has not recorded any impairment
charges.
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Software development cost

For internal-use software, the Company capitalcegtain internal and external costs incurred imdguisition and creation. Capitalized internal-
use software is included in property and equiprmadrgn development is complete and is amortized stregght-line basis over the estimated
useful life of the related asset, generally threaryg, except that five years is assumed for mdgi Enplementations. Based on the authoritative
guidance, costs incurred either before or aftep#réd satisfying the capitalization criteria, étlger with costs incurred for training and
maintenance, are expensed as incurred. For the gaded December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , the&uontapitalized costs of $0.2 million
$2.1 million and $1.1 million , respectively.

Goodwill and intangible assets

The Company allocates the purchase price of anyisitiqns to tangible assets and liabilities arehtifiable intangible assets acquired. Any
residual purchase price is recorded as goodwill.

Goodwiill

Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reportingt level at least annually as of September 30nare often if events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may eatelgsoverable. As of December 31, 2014 , no chainggecumstances indicate that goodwill
carrying values may not be recoverable. The Compasyidentified two operating segments (ProductZewtice) which management also
considers to be reporting units.

Intangible asset

Intangible assets are amortized over their estidnaseful lives. Upon completion of development,uacz in-process research and development
assets are generally considered amortizable, finiéel assets and are amortized over their estinageful lives. Finite-lived intangible assets
consist of customer relationships, developed teldgyo trademarks and non-compete agreements. Thgp&uy evaluates intangible assets for
impairment by assessing the recoverability of thessets whenever adverse events or changes imsii@uoces or business climate indicate that
expected undiscounted future cash flows relatedioh intangible assets may not be sufficient t@srtghe net book value of such assets. An
impairment is recognized in the period of identfion to the extent the carrying amount of an asseteds the fair value of such asset. No
impairment of intangible assets was recorded iMt2@013 or 2012 .

Convertible preferred stock

Prior to the Company’s IPO, the Company had issueHoutstanding six series of convertible prefestedk. In connection with the Company’s
IPO, in April 2012, each share of then-outstandiirgferred stock automatically converted into comrstarck. In the statement of shareholders'
equity for the year ended December 31, 2012, this mecorded as non-cash conversion of $53.4 miitmn preferred stock to common stock.

Revenue recognitiol

The Company derives revenue from the sales of carwation badges, smartphones, perpetual softwegades for software that is essential to
the functionality of the communication badges,\wafe maintenance, extended product warranty arfégsional services. The Company also
derives revenue from the sale of licenses for sitwhat is not essential to the functionalityt®f tommunication badges. Sales tax is excluded
from reported total revenue.

Revenue is recognized when all of the below catare met:

» there is persuasive evidence that an arrangeexésis, in the form of a written contract, amendtaeo that contract, or purchase orders from
a third party;

» delivery has occurred or services have been redj
» the price is fixed or determinable after evaluatimg risk of concession; a
» collectability is reasonably assured based on cust@reditworthiness and past history of collec

In arrangements with multiple deliverables, assignaith other revenue criteria are met, the Compawoggnizes revenue for individual delivered
items if they have value to the customer on a stiame basis. The Company allocates arrangemenidesason at the inception of the
arrangement to all deliverables using the relateléing price method. This method requires us terigine the selling price at which each
deliverable could be sold if it were sold regulasty a standalone basis. When available, we useovemecific objective evidence ("VSOE") of
the selling price. VSOE represents the price clthfgea deliverable when it is sold separatelyfoora deliverable not yet being sold separately,
the price established by management with the rateaathority. The Company has established VSOB@f&etlling price for our post-installation
technical support services and professional sesvidéen VSOE of selling price is not availablerdkparty evidence ("TPE") of selling price for
similar products and services is acceptable; howewe offerings and market strategy differ frorogk of

56




Table of Contents

our competitors, such that the Company cannot wistaificient comparable information about thirdtpes’ prices. If neither VSOE nor TPE are
available, the Company uses its best estimatesllofg prices ("BESP"). The Company determines BESRSidering factors such as market
conditions, sales channels, internal costs andugtadargin objectives and pricing practices. ThenBany regularly reviews and update our
VSOE and BESP information.

The relative selling price method allocates totedragement consideration proportionally to eaclivdedble on the basis of its estimated selling
price. In addition, the amount recognized for aelvered items cannot exceed that which is contihgeon delivery of any remaining items in
the arrangement.

A typical sales arrangement involves multiple eletagsuch as sales of communication badges, patpetfiware licenses, professional services
and maintenance services which entitle customeausdpecified upgrades, bug fixes, patch releasgsedephone support. Revenue from the sale
of communication badges and perpetual softwaradies is recognized upon shipment or delivery attisétomers’ premises as the contractual
provisions governing sales of these products donotde any provisions regarding acceptance, pedoce or general right of return or
cancellation or termination provisions adversefgeting revenue recognition. Revenue from the ghlaaintenance services on software licenses
is recognized over the period during which the ises/are provided, which is generally one year.eRae from professional services is recogn
either on a fixed fee basis based on milestones atime and materials basis as the servicesravidpd, both of which generally take place over
a period of two to twelve weeks.

For non-essential software arrangements with nielieliverables, including license, professional/®es and maintenance, the Company
recognizes license revenue using the residual ethaccounting pursuant to relevant software raeerecognition guidance. Under the residual
method, revenue is recognized when VSOE for fdirevaxists for all of the undelivered elementshie &rrangement, but does not exist for one or
more of the delivered elements in the arrangentieatidence of fair value cannot be establishedlierundelivered elements, all of the revenue is
deferred until evidence of fair value can be egthbH, or until the items for which evidence of falue cannot be established are delivered. For
maintenance and certain professional service; timepany has established VSOE. The Company's rexsrarggements do not include a general
right of return relative to the delivered products.

Revenue from sale-type leases

A portion of the Company's sales are made througli-year lease agreements with customers. Whesetherangements are considered sales-
type leases, upon delivery of leased products $tooeers, the Company recognizes revenue for suhupts in an amount equal to the net pre
value of the minimum lease payments. Unearned iedsmecognized as part of product revenue undeeffiective interest method. The
Company recognizes revenue related to certain éxgceoosts, including maintenance and extendedaméyy ratable over the term of the
underlying arrangements. The Company recognizestevrelated to battery refresh executory costsiwheh executory costs are incurred.

Proceeds from transfers of sales-type leasesrtbplairty financial companies are allocated betwbemet investment in sales-type leases and the
executory cost component for remaining servicegaltions based on relative present value. The diffeg between the amount of proceeds
allocated to the net investment in lease and thging value of the net investment in lease isudeld in product revenue. Proceeds allocated to
the executory cost component are accounted fanasding liabilities.

For the year ended December 31, 2014 , the Contpamsferred $1.4 million of lease receivablesprédimg an immaterial net loss and $0.6
million of new financing liabilities for future pormance of executory service obligations. Forythar ended December 31, 2013 , the Company
transferred $2.2 million of lease receivables, rdicy an immaterial net gain and $0.8 millionnefwv financing liabilities for future performance
of executory service obligations.

For lease receivables retained as of December03#, &nd 2013 , the Company recorded $0.9 millimh$®il.4 million , respectively, of net
investment in sales-type leases, equivalent toniihénum lease payments for the delivered product.

Commissions expense

Sales commissions are recorded as sales and nmgrketfiense and accrued as a current liability dsrsrare recorded; thus no contract
acquisition costs are capitalized.
Shipping and handling cost

Shipping and handling costs charged to customermaluded in revenue and the associated expemsedsded in cost of products sold in the
statements of operations for all periods presented.

Research and development expenditu

57




Table of Contents

Research and development costs are charged tatiopsras incurred. Software development costs reduprior to the establishment of
technological feasibility are included in reseaactl development and are expensed as incurred. tAftlenological feasibility is established,
material software development costs up to geneeilability of the software will be capitalized aadhortized on a straight-line basis over the
estimated product life, or based on the ratio ofemt revenues to total projected product revenubgshever is greater. To date, the time between
the establishment of technological feasibility geeeral availability has been very short and tloeeefio significant costs have been incurred.
Accordingly, the Company has not capitalized arfiwsare development costs.

Advertising cost:

Advertising costs are included in sales and mangetxpense and are expensed as incurred. Advgrtiests for the years ended December 31,
2014 , 2013 and 2012 were immaterial.

Product warranties

The Company offers warranties on certain produatsracords a liability for the estimated futuretsasssociated with warranty claims, which is
based upon historical experience and the Compasyimate of the level of future costs. The Companoyides for the estimated costs of
hardware warranties at the time the related reventecognized. Costs are estimated based oniktand projected product failure rates,
historical and projected repair costs, and knowdeafgspecific product failures (if any). The sp&cHardware warranty includes parts and labor
over a period generally ranging from one to threarg. The Company provides no warranty for softweine Company regularly re-evaluates its
estimates to assess the adequacy of the recordeshtydiabilities and adjust the amounts as neargs®Varranty costs are reflected in the
consolidated statement of operations as cost e§sal

Stock-based compensation

For options granted to employees, stock-based cosagien is measured at grant date based on thealaie of the award and is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the requisite serviceqeerThe Company determines the grant date fairevafihe options using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model. Restricted stock awards audricted stock units, first awarded in 2012, resutompensation expense, and are recognized
on a straight-line basis over the requisite sergegod, based on the award date closing stock pEquity instruments issued to non-employees
are recorded at their fair value on the measurentegetand are subject to periodic adjustment asritlerlying equity instruments vest. The fair
value of options granted to non-employees is azextover the vesting period, on a straight-linashas

For stock options issued to employees and non-graptowith specific performance criteria, the Conypawakes a determination at each balance
sheet date whether the performance criteria afeapte of being achieved. Compensation expenseagnized until such time as the performa
criteria are met or when it is probable that thteda will not be met.

The Company will only recognize a tax benefit fretack-based awards in additional paid-in capitahifincremental tax benefit is realized after
all other tax attributes currently available to @empany have been utilized. In addition, the Comydeas elected to account for the indirect
effects of stock-based awards on other tax atgfgguch as the research tax credit, throughaitsreent of operations.

Income taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability methatodunting for income taxes. Under this methodQbmpany records deferred income taxes
based on temporary differences between the finareparting and tax bases of assets and liabil#res use enacted tax rates and laws that the

Company expects will be in effect when they recdfiese assets or settle those liabilities, asdlse may be, to measure those taxes. In cases

where the expiration date of tax carryforwardsher projected operating results indicate that ratim is not likely, the Company provides for a

valuation allowance. Valuation allowances are dstiadd when necessary to reduce deferred tax assiis amounts expected to be realized.

The Company has deferred tax assets, resulting fietroperating losses, research and developmetitceand temporary differences that may
reduce taxable income in future periods. A valuatitowance is required when it is more likely thrant that all or a portion of a deferred tax a
will not be realized. In assessing the need foalaation allowance, the Company estimates futwalte income, considering the feasibility of
ongoing tax-planning strategies and the realizgholf tax loss carryforwards. Valuation allowancekted to deferred tax assets can be impacted
by changes in tax laws, changes in statutory teesrand future taxable income levels. If the Corgpaere to determine that it would be able to
realize its deferred tax assets in the future oeesg of the net carrying amounts, it would decré@seecorded valuation allowance through an
increase to income in the period in which that deteation is made. Due to the history of lossesGbenpany has generated in the past, the
Company believes that it is not more likely tham that all of the deferred tax assets in the Unl. @anada can
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be realized as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, ¢téply. Accordingly, the Company has recordedlbvaluation allowance on its deferred tax
assets for these years.

At December 31, 2014 , the Company had a valualiowance against net deferred tax assets of $80libn .

There is inherent uncertainty in evaluating theanability of the income tax positions the Compdaayes on its tax returns. The Company
assesses its income tax positions and recordsetafits for all years subject to examination bagsah management’s evaluation of the facts,
circumstances and information available at the mt@mpdate. For those tax positions where it iserideely than not that a tax benefit will be
sustained, the Company has recorded the highestrarobtax benefit with a greater than 50% likebkdoof being realized upon ultimate
settlement with a taxing authority that has fulbiedge of all relevant information. For those imeotax positions where it is not more likely t
not that a tax benefit will be realizable, no ta@néfit has been recognized in the financial statgsne

The Company includes interest and penalties witbrime taxes in the accompanying statement of opesatill of the Company’s net operating
losses and research credit carryforwards prioftiglzare subject to tax authority adjustment anglesdrs after 2010 are still subject to tax autly
examinations. The Company is currently not suld@einy income tax audit examinations by tax autleiin any jurisdictions including U.S.
federal, state and local or foreign countries.

Foreign currency translation

The functional currency of the Company’s foreighsdiaries is the U.S. dollar. Accordingly, monmgtassets and liabilities in non-functional
currency of these subsidiaries are remeasured egtitange rates in effect at the end of the peRedenues and costs in local currency are
remeasured using average exchange rates for tiogl pexcept for costs related to those consolidatddnce sheet items that are remeasured
historical exchange rates. The resulting remeasemegains and losses are included in the Compayisolidated statements of operations.
Translation gains and losses have not been signifio date.

Segment:

Operating segments are components of an entefprigéhich separate financial information is avaiéabnd is evaluated regularly by the
Company’s chief operating decision maker in degjdiow to allocate resources and in assessing peaftae. The Company’s chief operating
decision maker is the Chief Executive Officer. Tmmpany has two operating segments which are lepitrtable business segments: (i) Product;
and (ii) Service. See Note 9 for further analy$ithe Company's determined operating segments.

Comprehensive income (loss)

For the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 aig] #te Company had nominal unrealized gains oitadle-for-sale securities. There were
other components within other comprehensive inctoméhe years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 .201

Related party transaction

During the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2012@bd , the Company billed a related party, theveirsity of Chicago Medical Center
(UCMC), $0.3 million, $0.5 million and $0.5 milligmespectively, for consulting services and tecbggplsolutions. One of the Company's board
members is the President of UCMC. These transacti@ne recorded at arms-length prices. During #ze gnded December 31, 2013, the
Company billed a related party, the Hewlett-Packamthpany, approximately $9,200 for software angsup at arms’ length prices. Through
July of 2013, John N. McMullen, one of the Compargirectors, served as Treasurer & Senior Viceitkeasat Hewlett-Packard. There were no
material related party transactions for Hewletti2ad in the year ended December 31, 2012.

Recent accounting pronouncemer

In May 2014, the FASB together with the InternaséibAccounting Standards Board issued convergedagei for revenue recognition that will
replace most existing guidance, eliminate induspgeific guidance and provide a unified model fetedmining how and when revenue from
contracts with customers should be recognized. Uthdenew guidance, an entity should recognizemege¢o depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount tlatte the consideration to which the entity expaotbe entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. The standard will also introduce add#iatisclosures, changes in asset and liability acting, and changes in gain/loss recognition for
asset transfers unrelated to customer transactions.
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The Company’s effective date for this standard b&llthe first quarter of 2017; early applicatiomdg permitted. Two methods of transition are
provided: a full retrospective approach, with cerfaractical expedients allowed, and a cumulatitece method, with balance sheet adjustment as
of January 1, 2017. The Company is evaluating ffeetethe new standard will have on its consoliddteancial statements and related
disclosures. The Company has not yet selectedsitien method nor has it determined the future@fbf the standard on its financial position or
results of operations.

2. Fair value of financial instruments

The carrying values of the Company’s cash and egsivalents and short-term investments approxintegie fair value due to their short-term
nature. As a basis for determining the fair valfi#soassets and liabilities, the Company estabtish three-tier fair value hierarchy which
prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair vadgdollows: (Level 1) observable inputs such asteg prices in active markets; (Level 2) inputs
other than the quoted prices in active marketsat@bbservable either directly or indirectly; ghdvel 3) unobservable inputs in which there is
little or no market data which requires the Compemnglevelop its own assumptions. This hierarchyireg the Company to use observable m:
data, when available, and to minimize the use obsarvable inputs when determining fair value.tReryears ended December 31, 2014 , 2013
and 2012 there have been no transfers between Lerel Level 2 fair value instruments and no trarssin or out of Level 3.

The Company's money market funds are classifiekinvitevel 1 of the fair value hierarchy becausey thee valued using quoted market prices.
The fair value of the Company's Level 2 fixed ineosecurities are obtained from independent prisargices, which may use quoted market
prices for identical or comparable instruments odei-driven valuations using observable market datather inputs corroborated by observable
market data. The Company does not have any finkinsiauments which are valued using Level 3 inputs

The table below summarizes the Compargssets that are measured at fair value on airggbasis, by level, within the fair value hierlaycas o
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. There ne liabilities measured at fair value on a rengrbasis for these dates.

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013

(in thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Total Levell LevelzZ Total
Assets
Money market funds $ 7,798 % — 3 7,798 $ 2299 $ — $ 22,99
Commercial paper — 3,22t 3,22t — 90C 90C
U.S. government agency securities — 5,95¢ 5,95¢ — 11,27¢ 11,27¢
U.S. Treasury securities — 4,04: 4,04: — 5,23t 5,23t
Municipal debt securities — 3,92¢ 3,92¢ — 4,76 4,768
Corporate debt securities — 82,51° 82,51; — 67,05¢ 67,05t

Total assets measured at fair value $ 7,798 $ 99.66:. $ 107,45¢ $ 22,99 $ 89,23« § 112,22

The financial accounts that are not subject tomraayifair value measurement include trade andratbheeivables, prepaid expenses and other
current assets, total current liabilities and defgrevenues, both current and Idegm. Due to their short maturities, the carryingoants of thes
accounts approximate their fair values.
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3. Cash, Cash Equivalents and ShorfFerm Investments

The following tables display gross unrealized gaind gross unrealized losses for cash, cash egoigednd available-for-sale investments for the
periods presented:

As of December 31, 2014

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

(in thousands) Cost Gains Losses value
Cash and cash equivalents:
Demand deposits and other cash $ 8,80z $ — % — % 8,80z
Money market funds 7,79 — — 7,79¢
Commercial paper 1,36t — — 1,36¢
U.S. government agency securities 10C — — 10C
Corporate debt securities 4,557 — — 4,55

Total cash and cash equivalents 22,61t — — 22,61t
Short-Term Investments:
Commercial paper 1,86( — — 1,86(
U.S. government agency securities 5,85¢ 1 2 5,85¢
U.S. Treasury securities 4,04z 1 — 4,04:
Municipal debt securities 3,922 2 — 3,92¢
Corporate debt securities 78,04« 5 (85) 77,96«

Total short-term investments 93,72« 9 (87) 93,64¢

Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term
investments $ 116,33¢ $ 9 $ 87 $ 116,26:
As of December 31, 2013

(in thousands) Amortized Cost Unrealized Gains  Unrealized Losses Fair value
Cash and cash equivalents:
Demand deposits and other cash $ 1545, % — % — % 15,45:
Money market funds 22,99: — — 22,99:
Commercial paper 15C — — 15C
Corporate debt securities 1,06( — — 1,06(

Total cash and cash equivalents 39,65: — — 39,65:

Short-Term Investments:

Commercial paper 75C — — 75C
U.S. government agency securities 11,27 5 D 11,27¢
U.S. Treasury securities 5,23t 2 — 5,23t
Municipal debt securities 4,75¢ 7 — 4,76
Corporate debt securities 65,98: 2C @) 65,99:
Total short-term investments 87,99¢ 34 (8) 88,02
Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term investsr_$ 127,650 $ 34 % ® $ 127,67t

The Company has determined that the unrealizeddass its short-term investments as of Decembe2@14 and 20180 not constitute an "oth
than temporary impairment". The unrealized losseshfe short-term investments as of December 314 20id 2013 have all been in a continuous
unrealized loss position for less than twelve meniine Company’s conclusion of no “other than terapoimpairment” is based on the high
credit quality of the securities, their short renmiag maturity (less than five months, weighted age) and the Company’s intent and ability to
hold such loss securities until maturity.
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Classification of the cash, cash equivalent andtdkan investments by contractual maturity wasodlews:

One year ol Between :

(in thousands) shorter and 2 year: Total
Balances as of December 31, 2014

Cash and cash equivalents (1) $ 22,61 $ — 3 22,61¢
Short-term investments 76,911 16,72¢ 93,64¢
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments 99,53: 16,72¢ 116,26:
Balances as of December 31, 2013

Cash and cash equivalents (1) $ 39,65: $ — 3 39,65:
Short-term investments 71,46¢ 16,56( 88,02/
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments $ 11111 $ 16,56( $ 127,67t

(1) Includes demand deposits and other cash, mmaelet funds and other cash equivalent securdiesjith 0-90 day maturity at purchase.

All the above tables exclude restricted cash, pilgnbaeld in certificates of deposit, of $0.1 milli and $0.3 million as of December 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2013, respectively, which is clasgdifin prepaids and other current assets on theldated balance sheet.

4. Income (loss) per shar

For the year ended December 31, 2012, basic anttdihet income per common share is presentedciiorcoity with the two-class method
required for participating securities. Immediatphjor to the completion of the Company’s IPO onihpr 2012, holders of Series A through
Series F preferred stock were each entitled tavec®n-cumulative dividends at the annual rat8%f per share per annum, respectively, pay
prior and in preference to any dividends on anyeshaf the Company’s common stock. In the eventidehd is paid on common stock, the
holders of preferred stock were entitled to a propoate share of any such dividend as if they virlders of common stock (on an as-if
converted basis). The holders of the preferreckaiit not have a contractual obligation to sharthalosses of the Company. The Company
considered its preferred stock to be participasiegurities. Additionally, the Company considersrebassued upon the early exercise of options
subject to repurchase and unvested restrictedsstambee participating securities as the holdethede shares have a nonforfeitable right to
dividends. In accordance with the twtass method, earnings allocated to these partiegpaecurities and the related number of outstandhare
of the participating securities, which include cantual participation rights in undistributed eags, have been excluded from the computation of
basic and diluted net income per common share.

Under the two-class method, net income attributtdommon stockholders is determined by allocatindistributed earnings, calculated as net
income less income attributable to participatingusiies between common stock and participatingisgées. In computing diluted net income
attributable to common stockholders for calculatiddliluted net income per share, undistributedhiegs are re-allocated to reflect the potential
impact of dilutive securities. Basic net income pemmon share is computed by dividing the net ireaittributable to common stockholders by
the weighted-average number of common shares adietaduring the period. All participating secwegtiare excluded from basic weighted-
average common shares outstanding. Diluted netrinqeer share attributable to common stockholdezengputed by dividing the net income
attributable to common stockholders for calculatidniluted net income per share by the weightegkaye number of common shares
outstanding, including potential dilutive commorasts assuming the dilutive effect of outstandinglsbptions using the treasury stock method.

For the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2014wthelass method is not applicable due to the s, lwhich must be attributed entirely to the
common shareholders. Additionally, as of Decemle2814 and 2013, there are only 2,364 and 26,4&3oectively of participating securities,
consisting of repurchasable shares issued fromg egercise of options and unvested restricted shaoethat the future effect of participating
securities would generally be immaterial, evenearg with net income.
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The following table presents the calculation ofibasid diluted net income (loss) per share:

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands, except for share and per share amots) 2014 2013 2012
Numerator:
Net (loss) income $ (28,29) $ (10,46% $ 2,89¢
Less: undistributed earnings attributable to pgditing securities — — (1,366
Net (loss) income attributable to common stockhalde $ (28,29) $ (10,464 $ 1,527
Reallocation of undistributed earnings attributablgarticipating securities — — 32
Net (loss) income attributable to common stockhadder diluted net (loss) income [
share $ (28,297) $ (10,46%) $ 1,55¢

Denominator:

Weighted-average shares used to compute basinawhe (loss) per common share 25,32¢ 24,62 17,97¢
Effect of potentially dilutive securities:
Employee stock options and restricted stock units — — 2,547
Stock warrants — — 82
Weighted average shares used to compute dilutetniecloss) per common share 25,32¢ 24,62: 20,60t
Net (loss) income per share
Net (loss) income per common share - basic dnted $(1.12) $(0.43) $0.08

For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 ar®j g following securities were not included ie ttalculation of diluted shares outstanding
as the effect would have been anti-dilutive:

As of December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012

Options to purchase common stock 3,57: 3,33t 367
Common stock subject to repurchase 5 25 —
Warrants to purchase common stock 44 44 —
Restricted stock units 981 622 25
Restricted stock awards — 12 —

5. Goodwill and intangible asset

Goodwiill

The Company had $10.0 million and $5.6 million obgwill as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respelgti The additions to goodwill during
the year ended December 31, 2014 of $4.4 millioreveased on the purchase price allocations ofdheisitions completed during 2014 (See
Note 11). Goodwill is tested for impairment at tkporting unit level at least annually or more oftieevents or changes in circumstances indi
the carrying value may not be recoverable. The Gomyhas two reporting units: Product and ServisegfdDecember 31, 2014 all of the
Company's goodwill resides in the Product reportini. The Company performed the annual requiretidEimpairment of goodwill as of
September 30, 2014 by performing Step 1 under atatige accounting guidance. The Company’s animphirment test indicated that the fair
value exceeded the carrying value for each okp®rting units. For both 2013 and 2012, the Compeseyl the qualitative assessment permitted
under authoritative accounting guidance. Amonguhaitative factors considered were changes sime@itior impairment in the following:
industry and competitive environment, businesgegsg product mix, buyer and supplier bargaining/@g potential market size, consistency in
operating margins and cash flows, change in rapprinit / product life cycle stage and earningdityuand sustainability. No impairment was
recorded in 2014 , 2013 or 2012 . As of Decembef814 , no changes in circumstances indicategdwadwill carrying values may not be
recoverable.

Intangible asset:
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The fair values for acquired intangible assets wietermined by management with consideration gbairt, valuations performed by independent
valuation specialists. Acquisition-related intarigibssets are amortized over the life of the assets accelerated basis that approximates the
expected economic benefit of the assets. This gasomresults in amortization that is higher inlieamperiods of the useful life. To date there has
been no impairment of the Company's intangibletas$ée estimated useful lives and carrying vafugcquired intangible assets are as follows:

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
Weighted average Gross Net Gross Net
useful life carrying Accumulated carrying carrying Accumulated carrying
(in thousands) (years) amount amortization amount amount amortization amount
Intangible assets:

Customer relationships 7t09 $ 252 % 1,72: % 79¢  $ 2,35 % 1,44¢ % 901
Developed technology 4t07 $ 2,71C  $ 1,69: $ 1,017 $ 188C $ 1,26¢ $ 61€
Trademarks 4t07 $ 11¢ % 63 $ 47 % 70 3% 43 % 27
Non-compete Agreements 2to4 46( 91 36¢ 70 70 —
Intangible assets - finite life $ 580( $ 3,56¢ $ 2,231 $ 437C % 2,82¢ $ 1,54¢
In-process R&D n/a $ 94C $ — % 94C $ — % — 8 =
Intangible assets, net book value $ 6,74C $ 356¢ $ 3,171 $ 437C % 2,82¢ $ 1,54¢

Amortization of intangible assets was $0.8 millidg0.7 million and $0.9 million for the years endgecember 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 ,
respectively.

Amortization of acquired intangible assets is refe in the cost of revenues for developed tectyyodmd in operating expenses for the other
intangibles. The estimated future amortizationazfuared intangible assets as of December 31, 2@GEas follows:

Future
(in thousands) amortization
2015 727
2016 562
2017 394
2018 27t
2019 22¢
Thereafter 44
Future amortization expense $ 2,231
6. Consolidated balance sheet componel
Inventories
December 31,
(in thousands) 2014 2013
Raw materials $ 75¢ % 80€
Finished goods 2,70z 4,85¢
Total inventories $ 346: $ 5,66¢
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Property and equipment, ne

December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013
Computer equipment and software $ 8,772 $ 7,34¢
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 962 924
Leasehold improvements 2,29¢ 2,12¢
Manufacturing tools and equipment 3,79¢ 3,081
Construction in process 122 55k
Property and equipment, at cost 15,94¢ 14,03(
Less: Accumulated depreciation (10,827 (8,665
Property and equipment, net $ 512: $ 5,36¢

Depreciation and amortization expense for propany equipment for the years ended December 31, 22043 and 2012 was $2.2 million , $1.8
million and $1.7 million , respectively.

Net investment in sale-type leases

The Company has sales-type leases with terms bftt.2 years. Sales-type lease receivables amteallized by the underlying equipment. The
components of our net investment in sales-typeekeage as follows:

December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013

Net minimum lease payments to be received $ 1,88. $ 2,59i
Less: Unearned interest income and executory revpartion (962) (1,167
Net investment in sales-type leases 92( 1,43(
Less: Current portion (5649 (620
Non-current net investment in sales-type leases $ 35€ $ 81C

There were no allowances for doubtful accountshese leases as of December 31, 2014 and 2013e iBhaw guaranteed or unguaranteed
residual value on the leased equipment. The cuamhnhon-current net investments in sales-typesteare reported as components of the
consolidated balance sheet captions "other recdeisalnd "other long-term assets”, respectively.

The minimum lease payments expected for futuresyeader sales-type leases as of December 31, 2&/Blas follows:

(in thousands) Future lease payments
2015 $ 877
2016 70t
2017 291
2018 9
Thereafter =
Total $ 1,88
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Accrued payroll, restructuring and other currentdbilities

December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013
Payroll and related expenses $ 7,00¢ $ 5,06¢
Accrued payables 1,71¢ 2,25¢
Deferred rent, current portion 29¢ 49C
Lease financing, current portion 64t 52¢
Product warranty 497 84(
Customer prepayments 28:% 281
Sales and use tax payable 293 25¢
Other 122 11¢
Total accrued payroll and other currertiliies $ 10,86: $ 9,841

Included in payroll and related expenses abov@.2 #illion of accrued severance-related restrirngucharges that will be paid by March 31,
2015. During the fourth quarter of 2014, the Conypaitiated a restructuring plan which resultedsth 7 million of severance charges, of which
$0.1 million was recorded to cost of revenue ané $dillion was recorded to operating expenses.

The Company provides for the estimated costs afvisare warranties at the time the related revenuecizgnized. Costs are estimated based on
historical and projected product failure ratestdrisal and projected repair costs, and knowledggpecific product failures (if any). The specific
hardware warranty includes parts and labor ovesrsg@ generally ranging from one to three yeare Thmpany provides no warranty for
software. The Company regularly re-evaluates tisnases to assess the adequacy of the recordedntyaliabilities and adjust the amounts as
necessary.

A reconciliation of the changes in the Company’sramaty reserve for the years ended December 34 22013 and 2012 is as follows:

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012

Warranty balance at the beginning of the period $ 84C $ 297 % 98¢
Warranty expense accrued for shipments during ¢nieg 723 1,18¢ 54(
Changes in estimate related to pre-existing wagant (68) 53€ (242
Warranty settlements made (99¢) (1,179 (9849
Warranty balance at the end of the period $ 497 ¢ 84C  $ 297

7. Commitments and contingencie

Non-cancelable purchase commitments

The Company enters into non-cancelable purchasendoments with its third-party manufacturer wherebg Company is required to purchase
any inventory held by the third-party manufactutext have been purchased by them based on confirdeds from the Company. As of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, approximately $1.8omidnd $3.1 million , respectively, of raw magtinventory was purchased and held by the
third-party manufacturer which was subject to spgfthase requirements.

Leases

The Company leases office space for its headqsaatet subsidiaries under non-cancelable operatasgek, which will expire between May 2015
and December 2017. The San Jose, California hedédgaidease ends March 31, 2016, with a singlestlygar extension option at rates
approximating then-fair market value. Total renpense for the years ended December 31, 2014 ,&2012012 was $2.0 million , $2.0 million
and $1.9 million , respectively. The Company redpgs rent expense on a straight-line basis oveletse period, and has accrued for rent
expense incurred but not paid.
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Future minimum lease payments at December 31, @6ddr non-cancelable operating leases are as fallow

Operating
(in thousands) leases
2015 1,764
2016 61C
2017 107
Total minimum lease payments $ 2,481

Indemnifications

The Company undertakes, in the ordinary courseusiiess, to (i) defend customers and other pdrtes certain third-party claims associated
with allegations of trade secret misappropriatiofringement of copyright, patent or other intetlesd property right, or tortious damage to per:
or property and (ii) indemnify and hold harmlesstsparties from certain resulting damages, cosisoéimer liabilities. The term of these
undertakings may be perpetual and the maximum patdiability of the Company under certain of tkasndertakings is not determinable. Based
on its historical experience, the Company beliglkediability associated with these undertakingsisimal.

The Company has entered into indemnification agesdsnwith its directors and officers that may regtihe Company to indemnify its directors
and officers against liabilities that may ariserbgison of their status or service as directordfmeons, other than liabilities arising from willfu
misconduct of the individual. The Company curremidys directors and officers insurance. As therebkas no significant history of losses, no
expense accrual has been made.

Securities Litigation

On August 1 and 21, 2013, two putative securitiasscaction suits were filed in the United Statéestriat Court for the Northern District of
California against the Company and certain of ffgers, its board of directors, a former direcémrd the underwriters for the Company's initial
public offering. On November 20, 2013, the cowrnsolidated the actions as In re Vocera Commuioieatilnc. Securities Litigation and
appointed Lead Plaintiffs. Lead Plaintiffs fildtetr consolidated complaint on September 19, 20TAe consolidated complaint names certain
current and former officers and directors and theéeunwriters for the Company's initial public offegiand secondary offering and alleges claims
under Sections 11, 12(a)(2) and 15 of the Secsariie and Section 10(b) and 20(a) of the ExchangiebAsed on allegedly false and materially
misleading statements and omissions in the refmtratatement for the Company's initial publicesfiig and secondary offering and in
communications regarding its business and finamemllts. The suit is purportedly brought on beb&ffurchasers of the Company's securities
between March 28, 2012 and May 2, 2013, and semkpensatory damages, rescission, fees and costg|lass other relief. On November 3,
2014 Defendants moved to dismiss the consolidaiatptaint. On January 15, 2015, the Court deniecBadints' motion to dismiss the Exchange
Act claims, but granted with leave to amend Defatglanotion to dismiss the Securities Act claimise Time for Lead Plaintiffs to amend the
consolidated complaint has not yet passed.

Due to the inherent uncertainties of litigatiore thompany cannot accurately predict the ultimatearne of this matter. The Company is unable
at this time to determine whether the outcome eflittgation would have a material impact on itsukés of operations, financial condition or cash
flow. The Company has not established any resenvarfy potential liability relating to this lawsiliecause this contingency is not considered
probable and reasonably estimable.

From time to time, the Company may be involvedthimeo lawsuits, claims, investigations and procegsliconsisting of intellectual property,
commercial, employment and other matters whichkearighe ordinary course of business.

8. Common Stock and Shareéhased Compensatio

The Company'’s certificate of incorporation, as adeeh authorizes the Company to issue 100 milli@reshof $0.0003 par value common stock.

At December 31, 2014 , the Company has reservadshar issuance of common stock as follows:
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Common Shares

Reserved under stock option plans 622,34:
Warrants to purchase common stock 44,49
Total reserved for issuance 666,83

Incentive stock option plan

The Company has three equity incentive plans: @8 Ztock Option Plan (the “2000 Plan”), the 200&cs Option Plan (the “2006 Plan”) and

the 2012 Stock Option Plan (the “2012 Plan”). Orréha26, 2012, all shares that were reserved uh@e2@06 Plan but not subject to outstanding
awards became available for grant under the 2042 Rlo additional shares will be issued under 8@6ZPlan. The 2000 Plan terminated in
March 2010 and no additional shares will be isausdkr this plan. All options currently outstandingder the 2000 Plan and the 2006 Plan
continue to be governed by the terms and conditidtisose plans. Under the 2012 Plan, the Compasytie ability to issue incentive stock
options (“1SOs”), stock appreciation rights, regid stock, restricted stock units (“RSUs”), perfance awards and stock bonuses. The ISOs will
be granted at a price per share not less tharathealue at date of grant. Options granted to haes generally vest over a 4 -year period with
25% vesting at the end of one year and the ren@irest monthly thereafter, options granted as ragrdrds generally vest monthly over a four-
year period. Options granted generally are exdstgsap to 10 years . As of December 31, 2014 ethare 622,348hares remaining available
future issuance under the 2012 Plan.

Early exercise of stock optior

The Company typically allows employees to exeroptons granted under the 2000 and 2006 Plans forieesting. The unvested shares are
subject to the Company’s repurchase right at tiggnad purchase price. The proceeds initially aeorded as an accrued liability from the early
exercise of stock options and reclassified to comstock as the Company’s repurchase right lapseBedember 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012,
there were unvested shares in the amount of 2,38860 and 48,260 , respectively, which were sltiferepurchase at an aggregate price of
$12,000, $0.1 million and $0.2 million , respeetix

Stock Option Activity

The following table summarizes the combined stqafiom activity under the 2000 Plan, the 2006 Pladh the 2012 Plan and non-plan stock
option agreements:

Options outstanding

Weighted Weighted
average average Aggregate
Number exercise remaining intrinsic
of options price contractual term value
(in years) (in thousands)

Outstanding at December 31, 2013 3,287,20 $ 9.62 6.45 $ 24,88(
Options granted 1,055,94 11.5¢
Options exercised (293,61} 3.7¢
Options canceled (630,91) 14 .5¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2014 3,418,62: $ 9.8 6.24 $ 12,167
Options vested and expected to vest as of
December 31, 2014 3,318,08 $ 9.72 6.15 $ 12,10(
Options vested and exercisable as of Decemb
31, 2014 2,076,361 $ 7.3 449 $ 11,34¢

At December 31, 2014 , there was $6.4 million afeangnized net compensation cost related to optidrich is expected to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of 2.8 years

D uring the year ended December 31, 2014, the Companalfied 35,528 outstanding restricted stock uaitd 84,758 stock options to allow for
continued vesting of the awards pursuant to thragesf consulting arrangements entered into withGbmpany’s former Chief Financial Officer
and Executive Chairman. The stock-based compensatipense recognized during the period and rengaimamortized stock-based
compensation expense as of December 31, 2014d@vtards were not material and will be fully redegd by June 30, 2015, the quarter in
which the consulting arrangements are expecteertoinate. The share amounts and related compensatpense are included in the options and
RSU tables below, as well as
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in the income statement allocation table. The Comulid not grant non-employee options in year erldedember 31, 2013.

Using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, theighted-average grant-date fair value of optiositgrd to employees during the years ended
December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 was $4.77 pez,s$ia34 per share and $10.19 per share, resplgctiurther information regarding the
value of employee options vested and exercisechgldinie years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 artli2@#t forth below.

Years ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Intrinsic value of options exercised during period $ 2997 $ 589 $ 24,84¢

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricingehto calculate the fair value of stock optionstlweir grant date. This model requires the
following major inputs: the estimated fair valuetioé underlying common stock, the expected terth@bption, the expected volatility of the
underlying common stock over the expected lifehef dption, the risk-free interest rate and expedieidend yield. The following assumptions
were used for each respective period for emplotakased compensation:

Years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Expected Term (in years) 5.41-5.45 5.38-5.43 5.23-5.60
Volatility 41.4% - 48.2% 46.7% - 48.1% 47.9% - 48.7%
Risk-free interest rate 1.59% - 1.78% 0.81% - 1.80% 0.72% - 1.03%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

The computation of expected term is based on tterical exercise and forfeiture behavior of therpany’s employees, giving consideration to
the contractual terms of the stock-based awardsingeschedules and expectations of future emplbgbavior. For the expected term so
determined, the risk-free rate is the U.S. TreaRaie for that term on the grant date. The Compapected common stock price volatility is
based on the historical volatility of a peer grafipublicly-traded companies, using the same exggeierm. The peer group was selected based o
industry and market capitalization data. The Corggasumes the dividend yield to be zero , as thepgaoy has never declared or paid dividends
and does not expect to do so in the foreseeahlesfut

Employee Stock Purchase Ple

In March 2012, the Company's board of directorsstndkholders approved the 2012 Employee StockiiasecPlan (ESPP). The ESPP allows
eligible employees to purchase shares of the Coy'gpaommon stock at a discount through payroll dédos of up to 15% of their eligible
compensation, subject to any plan limitations. ES®P provides for six -month offering periods, @tder the first offering period which was for
11 months. Additionally, in April 2013, the Comp&igompensation committee determined that follovtiregFebruary 15, 2013 six-month
offering period, the next offering period under E®@PP would last for three months (commencing Augfis2013 and expiring on November 14,
2013) and, following the expiration of such offefiperiod, offering periods thereafter will commemceNovember 15, 2013, and May 15, 2014
and so on, each consisting of a single six-monthhase period.

At the end of each offering period, employees ate o purchase shares at 85% of the lower ofahenfarket value of the Company's common
stock on the first trading day of the offering perior on the last day of the offering period. Dgrthe year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013,
employees purchased 160,936 and 215,039 sharpsctiesly, of common stock at an average purchese pf $9.87 and $13.92 , respectively.
As of December 31, 2014 , 282,655 shares remaiesthble for future issuance under the ESPP.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricingehto calculate the fair value of periodic ESPierings on their offer date. The following
assumptions were used for each respective periadiddESPP:

Years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Expected Term (in years) 0.5 0.25-0.50 0.50-0.88
Volatility 35.9% - 57.7% 33.3% - 36.0% 43.2% - 50.0%
Risk-free interest rate 0.05% - 0.10% 0.05% - 0.13% 0.14% - 0.18%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
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Restricted Stock Awards and Restricted Stock U

In 2012, the Company began incorporating restristedk awards and RSUs as an element of its corapenglans. In February 2012, the
Company granted certain of its directors restricie¢k awards that vest 50% on the first annivgreathe grant, and 50% on the second
anniversary of the grant. In May 2012, the Compgmanted certain employees RSUs, which vest oné drnirthe first anniversary of the grant,
third on the second anniversary of the grant aretbimd upon the third anniversary of the grant.

A summary of the restricted stock activity for tremar ended December 31, 2014 is presented below:

Restricted Stock Awards Restricted Stock Units

Weighted Average Weighted Average

Grant Date Fair Grant Date Fair

Number of shares Value per Share Number of shares Value per Share

Outstanding at December 31, 2013 12,07¢ $ 12.42 755,27. % 19.2¢
Granted — — 823,55 11.6¢
Vested (22,07¢ 12.4% (327,565 19.11
Forfeited — — (188,679 16.97
Outstanding at December 31, 2014 — 3 — 1,062,590 ¢ 13.7¢

At December 31, 2014 , there was no remaining wgrized net compensation cost related to restrigtimek awards. At December 31, 2014 ,
there was $9.7 million of unrecognized net compems&ost related to RSUs, which is expected togsegnized over a weighted-average period
of 1.9 years.

Allocation of Stocl-Based Compensation Expense

Stock-based compensation expense is recognized basestraight-line amortization method over #&pective vesting period of the award and
has been reduced for estimated forfeitures. Thepg2omestimated the expected forfeiture rate basets diistorical experience, considering
voluntary termination behaviors, trends of actwehal forfeitures, and other events that will impidet forfeiture rate. To the extent the
Company’s actual forfeiture rate is different fréime estimate, the stock-based compensation exjmeadgisted accordingly.

The following table presents the stock-based cosgéon allocation of expense (both for employeasramn-employees):

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012

Cost of revenue $ 1,17¢  $ 97 $ 421
Research and development 1,05¢ 861 44¢
Sales and marketing 4,111 2,942 1,262
General and administrative 4,73¢ 3,897 2,10C
Total stock-based compensation $ 11,08 $ 8,661 $ 4,23:

Exercise of common stock warran

Prior to the April 2012 IPO, outstanding warramtgtirchase preferred stock were classified aditiabi which were adjusted to fair value at each
reporting period until the earlier of their exeecim expiration or the completion of a liquidatievent, including the completion of an initial publi
offering, at which time the preferred stock warrketility automatically converted into a warrantgurchase shares of common stock and was
reclassified to stockholders’ equity (deficit). TBempany recorded an expense in other income (sepemnet of $1.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012respectively, to reflect the change in the faiue of the outstanding preferred stock warrariteeSApril 2012, the convert
common stock warrants are classified within stoddkéits equity (deficit).

9. Segment

The Company has two operating segments which aherbportable segments: (i) Product; and (ii) Sexyivhich are comprised of the Company
and its wholly-owned subsidiaries’ results from igt®ns. Operating segments are defined as compooéan enterprise about which separate
financial information is available that is evaluategularly by the chief
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operating decision maker (CODM), or decision maldgngup, in deciding how to allocate resources arassessing performance. The Company’s
CODM is its Chief Executive Officer.

The CODM regularly receives information relatedd¢wvenue, cost of revenue, and gross profit for epehnating segment, and uses this
information to assess performance and make resaillomation decisions. All other financial infornat, including operating expenses and as:
is prepared and reviewed by the CODM on a congaiitbasis.

Assets are not a measure used to assess the parfmof the Company by the CODM, therefore the Gomgloes not report assets by segment
internally or in its financial statements.

The following table presents a summary of the dpegasegments:

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Revenue
Product $ 51,09: $ 62,39: $ 65,02¢
Service 44,32¢ 40,10t 35,92¢
Total revenue 95,42 102,49¢ 100,95

Cost of revenue

Product 18,76¢ 21,71« 21,55
Service 18,47( 16,59¢ 15,07(
Total cost of revenue 37,23¢ 38,30¢ 36,62

Gross profit

Product 32,32¢ 40,67¢ 43,47
Service 25,85¢ 23,51( 20,85¢
Total gross profit 58,18t 64,18¢ 64,33¢
Operating expenses 86,26¢ 74,74¢ 59,44(
Interest income (expense), net and other 10¢€ 204 (1,37¢
(Loss) income before income taxes $ (27,97) % (10,350 $ 3,52(

The following tables present the Company’s revdmuproduct line, as well as revenue and long-liassets by geographic region.

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Revenue
Product
Device $ 37,45¢ % 46,63¢ $ 47,72¢
Software 13,64( 15,757 17,30:
Total product 51,09t 62,39 65,02¢
Service
Maintenance and support 35,35 31,55¢ 26,237
Professional services and training 8,97: 8,54¢ 9,69:
Total service 44,32¢ 40,10¢ 35,92¢
Total revenue $ 95,42. $ 102,49t $ 100,95
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The Company’s revenue by geographic region, baseistomer location, is summarized as follows:

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Revenue
United States $ 86,000 $ 91,76 $ 90,10¢
International 9,41/ 10,73t 10,84¢
Total revenue $ 95,42: % 102,49¢ $ 100,95

The Company’s tangible long-lived assets by gedycaegion, consisting of net property and equipthare summarized as follows:

December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Property and equipment, net
United States $ 4,85; % 524¢ % 3,46t
International 27C 11€ 16€
Total property and equipment, net $ 512: $ 536f $ 3,631

10. Income taxe:

The components of (loss) income before income taress follows:

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012

United States $ (28,449 $ (10,819 $ 3,20¢

International 46¢ 45¢ 31t
Total (loss) income before income taxes $ (27,97) $ (10,35 $ 3,52(

The components of the provision for income taxesaarfollows:

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Current
Federal $ — % — % 7
State 14 (4C) 512
Foreign 204 74 38
21¢€ 34 557
Deferred
Federal 134 6C 6C
State 4 4 1C
Foreign (24) 11 _
10¢€ 75 7C
Total income tax provision $ 324 % 10 $ 627

The Company had an effective tax rate of (1.2)%1)0 and 17.8% for the years ended December 34, 2013 and 2012 , respectively.
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Reconciliation of the provision for income taxeshat statutory rate to the Company’s provisionifieome tax is as follows:

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
U.S. federal (tax benefit) provision at statutcater $ (9,510 $ (3,567 $ 1,197
State (tax benefit) income taxes, net of federakfie (895) (33€) 151
Foreign income taxes at rates other than the US rat 43 (28) (20)
Stock-based compensation 763 54¢ 397
Change in valuation allowance 10,20: 3,911 (1,494
Non-deductible warrant expense — — 62%
Research and development credits (46€) (527) (220
Other 187 10¢ (19
Total $ 324 % 10¢ % 627

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effettermporary differences between the carrying anmmohtissets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for in¢arpurposes. The following table presents theifsigimt components of the Company’s
deferred tax assets and liabilities for the perjpasented:

As of December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013
Deferred tax assets
Net operating loss carryforward $ 19,19 $ 11,87
Research and development credits 3,36( 2,80¢
Depreciation and amortization 65C 28¢
Reserves and accruals 6,90( 6,06(
Total deferred tax assets 30,10( 21,03(
Valuation allowance (30,079 (21,030
Net deferred tax assets 28 —
Deferred tax liabilities (352 (21¢€)
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (3249 % (21¢)

The Company determines its valuation allowanceefarded tax assets by considering both positivereaggtive evidence in order to ascertain
whether it is more likely than not that deferrexi aasets will be realized. Realization of defetsedassets is dependent upon the generation of
future taxable income, if any, the timing and antaafrwhich are uncertain. Due to the history ofsles the Company has generated in the past, th
Company believes that it is not more likely tham that all of the deferred tax assets in the Unl. @anada can be realized as of December 31,
2014 ; accordingly, the Company has recorded avédllation allowance on its deferred tax assets.

The Company’s valuation allowance increased by $8lon and decreased by $0.2 million for the yeanded December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively. The change in the 2014 valuationnallice was primarily due to the addition of curngedr loss carryforwards, whereas the dect
in 2013 was primarily due to the expiration andifmitation of previous loss carryforwards.

At December 31, 2014 , the Company had $71.4 mibind $42.6 million , respectively, of federal atake net operating loss carryforwards.
Included in the gross amount, approximately $33Ifam of net operating loss is created by excdsslsoption deduction. A credit to APIC will
be recorded when the excess stock option dedutihuces the income tax payable.

The federal net operating loss carryforward begisring in 2022, and the state net operating t@ss/forward begins expiring in 2015, if not
utilized.

In addition, the Company has federal research endldpment tax credits carryforwards of approxifya$2.0 million and state research and
development tax credit carryforwards of approxirya$3.0 million . The federal credit carryforwardegin expiring 2021 and the state credits
carry forward indefinitely . The Internal Revenuedg (IRC) contains provisions which limit the ambahnet operating loss (NOL) and research
credit carryforwards that can be used in any gixear if a significant change in ownership has o@mlirAs of December 31, 2014, $12.2 million
of the Company's NOL carryovers and $0.5
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million of credit carryovers are subject to an aarft0.6 million limitation, of which $7.5 million ®Ls would be available to offset future taxable
income in the twenty-year carryforward period.

The following table displays by contributing factbe changes in the valuation allowance for defeta@ assets since January 1, 2012:

Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012

Balance at the beginning of the period $ 21,03C % 21,19¢ % 22,681
Net operating loss carryforwards generated (utibzg 7,315 (2,399 (3,505
R&D tax credit increase 551 17z 272
Depreciation and amortization increase 362 204 29
Reserves and accruals increase 84C 1,55¢ 1,27:
Deferred tax assets decrease (increase) (28) 30C 437
Balance at the end of the period $ 30,07:  $ 21,03C  $ 21,19

The following table reflects changes in the unredngd tax benefits since January 1, 2013:

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013

Gross amount of unrecognized tax benefits as abdggnning of the period $ 1,092 $ 1,07¢
Increases related to prior year tax provisions 25 3C
Decreases related to prior year tax provisions — (239
Increases related to current year tax provisions 14¢ 222
Gross amount of unrecognized tax benefits as oétigeof the period $ 1268 $ 1,09

As a result of the Company'’s historic losses ateted valuation allowances, the Company has redosdbstantially all of the uncertain tax
amounts above as reductions to deferred tax ashéth are subject to a full valuation allowancétinconsolidated balance sheet with an
insignificant portion recorded in other long-teriabilities. The Company recognizes interest anchfiiers relating to uncertain tax positions in
income tax expense. For the years ended Decemb@034 and 2013, penalties and interest were $030d $26,000 , respectively. As the
Company is not currently under examination, iei@sonable to assume that the balance of grossogmieed tax benefits will likely not change in
the next twelve months.

The Company files income tax returns in the Unii¢gkes on a federal basis and in various statesCbimpany is not currently under any
international or any United States federal, statélacal income tax examinations for any taxablargeAll of the Company’s net operating losses
and research credit carryforwards prior to 2014safgect to tax authority adjustment and all yeditar 2008 are still subject to the tax authority
examinations.

The Company has not provided for U.S. federal an€ign withholding taxes on $1.2 million of the Goamy’s non-U.S. subsidiaries’
undistributed earnings as of December 31, 20Idcesihe Company intends to reinvest this amoursideithe U.S. indefinitely.

11. Business acquisition

Acquisition of mVisum net asse

On January 13, 2014 , the Company acquired subtgratl assets of mVisum, Inc., an innovative yider of alarm management technology
solutions for health systems (mVisum), for $3.5ligril in cash consideration. The acquisition enaliedCompany to enhance its existing
platform with complementary communications solusidor healthcare and other mission-critical envinents.

The following table presents the fair value of ithentifiable assets acquired and liabilities assiageof the acquisition date:
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Fair value of net assets

(in thousands) acquired

Accounts receivable $ 187

Intangibles
Developed technology 83C
Non-compete agreement 26C
Customer relationships 17C
Trademarks and trade names 40

Goodwill 2,10z
Total assets 3,59(

Deferred revenue (90)
Net assets acquired $ 3,50¢

The estimated fair values of identifiable intangibssets were primarily determined using discoucdstl flow models. The acquired intangible
assets are amortized over their estimated usefsg bf 4.0 to 7.0 years with a weighted averagertiration period of 5.7 years.

The excess of the acquisition consideration ovefdir values of the underlying net assets acquirasirecorded as goodwill. Goodwill is largely
attributable to the synergy of mVisum’s proprietapjutions with the Company’s existing customerehaedicated sales force and cross selling
opportunities with the Company’s other solutionso@will is not amortized but instead is testedifopairment at least annually or more
frequently if indicators of impairment are preséfur federal income tax purposes, the entire pwelcansideration, including goodwill, is
deductible over fifteen years. The goodwill recari®m the acquisition of mVisum is attributed ke tProduct reporting unit.

The Company incurred $0.2 million of acquisitiotated costs that were expensed as incurred. Ths$e are recorded as general and
administrative expenses in the consolidated stateofeoperations. Additionally, in connection witte acquisition the Company established a
retention bonus plan for mVisum with potential dihatial compensation over a two-year period of apipnately $0.5 million , based on
achievement of operating objectives and continuegl@yment. Such amounts are not considered pahegburchase consideration and are being
recorded as compensation expense as earned. Thisitoqg did not result in material contributiorsrevenue or net loss in the consolidated
financial statements since the acquisition datelithkahally, pro forma financial information is nptovided for consolidated revenue and net loss
as such amounts attributable to mVisum were inBagmit.

Acquisition of Prana Technologies asse
On August 8, 2014, the Company acquired substinghlilassets of Prana Technologies, Inc. (Praoi$3.45 million in cash consideration. The
acquisition provides the Company with technologtiaal to cloud-based applications extending iteyamunication and collaboration network to

include physicians and other geographically disgmbissers. The Company believes this will advarsceision of integrating voice, text, and
content-based workflows, on a range of devicesdmst#itop solutions, across all care locations.

The following table presents the fair value of ithentifiable assets acquired and liabilities assiageof the acquisition date:

Fair value of net asset

(in thousands) acquired
Intangibles
Non-compete agreement 20C
In-process research and development 94C
Goodwill 2,31C
Total assets acquired 3,45(

The estimated fair values of identifiable intangibksets were primarily determined using discoucdst flow models. The non-compete
intangible has an estimated useful life of two gemnd the in-process research and developmerassifobd as an asset with an indefinite life.
When the in-process research and development iedpp a generally-available product
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offering, expected in 2015, it will be assessedcfassification as developed technology, and amatitn will begin over the estimated useful life
of such developed technology.

The excess of the acquisition consideration ovefdir values of the underlying net assets acquirasirecorded as goodwill. Goodwill is largely
attributable to the synergy of Prana’s proprietdoud technology expanding upon and being intedrati¢h the Company’s other solutions.
Goodwill is not amortized but instead is testedifiopairment at least annually or more frequentipdicators of impairment are present. For
federal income tax purposes, the entire purchassideration, including goodwill, is deductible o¥iéteen years. The goodwill recorded from the
acquisition of Prana is attributed to the Prodegbrting unit.

The agreement also included contingent paymerntsetselling stockholders payable based on certapl@yee retention requirements and the
achievement of a post-acquisition quality milestortiee Company considered these contingent payrasrascompensation expense due to the
explicit and implied continuing employment requiemts associated with earning such contingent paggn&éhe company paid $0.8 million in
compensation-related elements at the acquisitibs dédnich was amortized in 2014. These costs a@ded primarily as general and
administrative expenses in the consolidated statenfeoperations. In addition, the Company experaseitcurred $0.1 million of acquisition-
related costs.

The acquisition did not result in material conttibas to revenue or net loss in the consolidatedrfcial statements since the acquisition date,
other than the compensation elements discussedahdditionally, pro forma financial information i@t provided for consolidated revenue and
net loss, such amounts attributable to Prana wsignificant.

12. Quarterly results of operations (unaudited)

The following tables present certain unaudited obdated quarterly financial information for eachtloe eight quarters ended December 31,
2014 . This quarterly information has been preparethe same basis as the consolidated finanaigreents and includes all adjustments
necessary to state fairly the information for tleeigds presented.

(In thousands, except per share data) Quarter Ended

2014 March 31, June 30 September 3C December 31
Total revenue $ 24,67¢ $ 23,01¢ $ 23,12: % 24,60:
Gross profit $ 1487 $ 14,07C $ 13,53 $ 15,70¢
Net loss $ (6,389 $ (7,009 $ (7,89)) $ (7,009
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (6,389 $ (7,009 $ (7,890 $ (7,009

Net loss per share attributable to common stoclkdisid
Basic and diluted $ (0.2¢) $ (0.2¢) $ (0.31)) $ (0.279)

Weighted average shares used to compute net inoss3 per
share attributable to common stockholders:

Basic and diluted 25,04% 25,24¢ 25,43: 25,57:

Quarter Ended

2013 March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
Total revenue $ 22,41 $ 25,29¢ $ 26,067 $ 28,72.
Gross profit $ 13,71¢  $ 15,79C $ 16,277 $ 18,40:
Net loss $ (3,499 $ (2,027) $ (3,102) $ (2,847)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (3,499 $ (2,029 $ (3,109 $ (1,84%)
Net loss per share attributable to common stocldrsid

Basic and diluted $ (019 $ ©0.09 ¥ (019 $ (0.0%)
Weighted average shares used to compute net logsipenon
share:

Basic and diluted 24,28: 24,55t 24,74 24,89
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Aounting and Financial Disclosur

None.

Iltem 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur

Disclosure controls and procedures are designedduore that information required to be discloseddin reports filed or submitted under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarizedegotted within the time periods specified in 8ecurities and Exchange Commission's
rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedm@ade, without limitation, controls and procedsitdesigned to ensure that information
required to be disclosed in reports filed underikehange Act is accumulated and communicated tmgement, including principal executive
and principal financial officers, or persons penfarg similar functions, as appropriate to alloweiyndecisions regarding required disclosure.

As of December 31, 2014 , we carried out an evanatnder the supervision of, and with the partitign of our management, including our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officeff the effectiveness of the design and operaifayur disclosure controls and procedures as
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of thehBrge Act. Based on our evaluation, our Chief EtteeDfficer and Chief Financial Officer
concluded that our disclosure controls and proasiuere effective as of December 31, 2014 .

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Finairat Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f)
under the Exchange Act). Our management conductedsessment of the effectiveness of our inte@tal over financial reporting based on
the criteria set forth in the 2013 version of thietnal Control integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpring Organizations of tl
Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on the assessmanagement has concluded that our internal doowss financial reporting was
effective as of December 31, 2014 based on théseiar This Annual Report on Form X0eoes not include an attestation report of ourstegec
public accounting firm on our internal control o¥grancial reporting due to an exemption establishye the JOBS Act for "emerging growth
companies."”

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportm

There was no change in our internal control ovearitial reporting that occurred during the threatih® ended December 31, 2014 that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to sv@lly affect, our internal control over financiajporting.

Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Proagés and Internal Control over Financial Reportin

In designing and evaluating the disclosure con@al$ procedures and internal controls over findmegorting, management recognizes that any
controls and procedures, no matter how well desigmel operated, can provide only reasonable assurdrachieving the desired control
objectives. In addition, the design of disclosuratomols and procedures and internal control ovetrfcial reporting must reflect the fact that there
are resource constraints and that managementugeddo apply judgment in evaluating the benefftpossible controls and procedures relati
their costs.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
PART Il

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace

The information required for this Item 10 is incorated by reference from our Proxy Statement tfildoe in connection with our 2015 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required for this Item is incorpiame by reference from our Proxy Statement to leg fibr our 2015 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.

Iltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andlanagement and Related Stockholder Mattel

The information required for this Item is incorpiae by reference from our Proxy Statement to leg fibr our 2015 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders.
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence

The information required for this Item is incorpiame by reference from our Proxy Statement to leg fibr our 2015 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.

Iltem 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Service

The information required for this Item is incorpiame by reference from our Proxy Statement to leg fibr our 2015 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.

PART IV

Iltem 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule

(a)The following documents are filed as a parhig Annual Report on Form 10-K:
1. Financial Statements:

The financial statements filed as part of this repee listed in the “Index to Financial Statemé&ntsder Part II, Iltem 8 of this report.

2. Financial Statement Schedule:

All schedules are omitted as the required inforamats inapplicable or the information is presentethe Consolidated Financial Statem:
or Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ulteler 8.
3. Exhibits:
See Exhibit Index following the signature pagehi$ report.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1é&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Resyisthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereualy althorized.

VOCERA COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

Date: March 12, 2015 By: /s/ BrentD. Lang

Brent D. Lang
Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 12, 2015 By: /sl Justin R. Spencer

Justin R. Spencer
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each persorosé signature appears below constitutes and ag@iant D. Lang, Justin
R. Spencer and Jay M. Spitzen, and each of thehisas her true and lawful attorney-in-fact anéaty with full power of substitution and
resubstitution, for him or her and in his or hemea place and stead, in any and all capacitiesigtoany and all amendments (including post-
effective amendments) to this Annual Report on FbfaK, and to file the same, with all exhibits tier, and other documents in connection
therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commisgranting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agjeamtd each of them, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every actthimg) requisite and necessary to be done in commmetiterewith, as fully to all intents and
purposes as he or she might or could do in pefsmepy ratifying and confirming all that said atteys-in-fact and agents, or any of them, or their
or his or her substitutes, may lawfully do or catssbe done by virtue thereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bblptihe following persons on behalf of
the Company and in the capacities and on the dalesated:
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Signature Title Date

/s/ Brent D. Lang

Chief Executive Officer
Brent D. Lang (Principal Executive Officer) March 12, 2015

/sl Justin R. Spencer

Chief Financial Officer
Justin R. Spencer (Principal Accounting and Financial Officer) March 12, 2015

/s/ Brian D. Ascher
Brian D. Ascher Director March 12, 2015

/s/ John B. Grotting
John B. Grotting Director March 12, 2015

/sl Jeffrey H. Hillebrand
Jeffrey H. Hillebrand Director March 12, 2015

/s/ Howard E. Janzen
Howard E. Janzen Director March 12, 2015

/s/ John N. McMullen
John N. McMullen Director March 12, 2015

/sl Hany M. Nada
Hany M. Nada Director March 12, 2015

/s/ Sharon O'Keefe
Sharon O'Keefe Director March 12, 2015

/s/ Robert J. Zollars Director March 12, 2015
Robert J. Zollars
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Incorporated by reference

Exhibit File Filed
Number Exhibit title Form No. Date Number herewith
3.01 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the S-1 333- August 24, 201 3.01

Registrant. 175932
3.02 Restated Bylaws of Vocera Communications, 8-K 001- July 30, 201: 3.01

Inc., as amended July 25, 2013. 35469
4.01 Amended and Restated Investor Rights S-1 333- August 1, 201. 4.0z

Agreement, dated as of October 10, 2006, by 175932

and among the Registrant and certain investors
of the Registrant.

10.01 Forms of Indemnity Agreement by and S-1 333- August 1, 201. 10.01
between the Registrant and each of its directors 175932
and executive officers.

10.02+ 2000 Stock Option Plan, as amended, and forsa1(A2) February 24, 201 10.0Z
of stock option agreement.

10.03+ 2006 Stock Option Plan, as amended, and folsa1(A2) 333- February 24, 201 10.0¢
of stock option agreement. 175932

10.04+ 2012 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of equitg-1(A3)  333- March 13, 201. 10.0¢
award agreements. 175932

10.05+ 2012 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. S-1(A3) 333- March 13, 201 10.0¢
175932

10.06+ Form of Option Agreement dated July 31, S-1 333- August 1, 201. 10.0¢
2007, by and between the Registrant and each 175932

of Brent Lang and Robert Zollars.

10.07+ 2010 Stock Option Agreement to purchase S-1 333- August 1, 201 10.07
common stock, dated as of November 3, 2010, 175932
issued by the Registrant to DS Consulting
Associates, LLC and 2011 Stock Option
Agreement to purchase common stock, date
of November 3, 2010 issued by the Registrant
to DS Consulting Associates, LLC.

10.8 Lease Agreement, dated as of September 26, S-1 333- August 1, 201 10.11
2007, by and between 525 Race Street, LLC 175932
and the Registrant, as amended on February 17,
2011.

10.9t Original Equipment Manufacturer Agreement, S-1 333- August 1, 201 10.1:
dated as of April 25, 2002, by and between 175932

Nuance Communications, Inc. and the
Registrant, as amended through April 4, 2006.

10.10% Contract Manufacturing Agreement, dateda  S-1 333- August 1, 201 10.1¢
June 7, 2010, by and between SMTC 175932
Corporation and the Registrant.



10.11+

10.12+

Form of Change of Control Severance S-1(A2) 333- February 24, 201
Agreement by and between the Registrant and 175932
each of its executive officers.

Form of non-plan Restricted Stock Purchase S-1(A2) 333- February 24, 201
Agreement for non-employee directors. 175932
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10.13+ Consulting Agreement between Vocera 8-K 001- May 19, 201 10.1
Communications, Inc. and Robert Zollars, dated 35469
May 19, 2014

21.01 List of subsidiaries.

23.01 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent

registered public accounting firm.

23.02 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP,
independent registered public accounting firm.

24.01 Power of Attorney (included on signatpage).

31.01* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant
to Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) or
15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.02* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuaot
Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) or 15d-
14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.01 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Schema Linkbase Document
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Docum
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Docent
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Labels Linkbase Document

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase
Document

*  Indicates management contract or compensatorygslarrangement.

T Portions of have been granted confidential treatrbgithe SEC.

*  This certification shall not be deemed “filed” fanrposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchardef1934, as amended, or otherwise subject ttiahgities
of that section, nor shall it be deemed incorpatratereference into any filing under the Securifies of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exahdug of
1934, as amended, whether made before or aftefatiechereof and irrespective of any general incaitfmn language in any filings.
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EXHIBIT 21.01

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

VOCERA COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

Vocera Communications UK Ltd. (United Kingdom)
Vocera Communications Australia Pty Ltd. (Australia
Vocera Canada, Ltd. (Canada)

Vocera Communications India Private Limited

Vocera Communications Middle East FZ LLC



Exhibit 23.01

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegion Statements Nos. 333-180417, 333-186818388-194632 on Form S-8 of our report
dated March 12, 2015, relating to the consolidéiteghcial statements of Vocera Communications, &mal its subsidiaries, appearing in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddummm31, 2014.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Jose, California
March 12, 2015



Exhibit 23.02

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtiee Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No8:B30417, 333-186818 and 3384632) o
Vocera Communications, Inc. of our report dateddiak7, 2014 relating to the financial statementsctvappears in this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
March 12, 2015



EXHIBIT 31.01

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT T O RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-
OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Brent D. Lang, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10fK/ocera Communications, Inc.:

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadoriny untrue statement of a material fact or donfitate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigtadiisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememt3,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, angtifie periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1f6f the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedoresused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsabsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg tperiod in which this report is being prepared,;

b) Designed such internal control over financigloiting, or caused such internal control over faiakhreporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitte reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presentisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and prors] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegyig's internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the registrant’'s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth disguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s inted control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitac@mmittee of the registrant’s board of directfws persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal comtver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfgaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invawveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrar®’interna
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 12, 2015 /s/ Brent D. Lang
Brent D. Lang
Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.02

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT T O RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-
OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Justin R. Spencer, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10fK/ocera Communications, Inc.:

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadoriny untrue statement of a material fact or donfitate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigtadiisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememt3,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, angtifie periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)15¢r the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgabsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg tperiod in which this report is being prepared,;

b) Designed such internal control over financigloiting, or caused such internal control over faialhreporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitte reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presentisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and prors] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegyig's internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the registrant’'s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth disguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s inted control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anaave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitac@mmittee of the registrant’s board of direct(@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal comtver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfgaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invawveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrarg’interna
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 12, 2015 /sl Justin R. Spencer
Justin R. Spencer
Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32.01
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF  FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adoptediguirso Section 906 of the Sarbari@dey Act of 2002, Brent D. Lang, Chief ExecutivéiCer
of Vocera Communications, Inc. (the “Companyhd Justin R. Spencer, Chief Financial Officethef Company, each hereby certifies that, tc
knowledge:

1. The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for pleeiod ended December 31, 2014 , to which thigifdation is attached as Exhibit 32.01
(the “Periodic Report”), fully complies with theqeirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) ofSkeurities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended; and

2. The information contained in the Periodic Refairly presents, in all material respects, thaficial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

In Witness Whereof, the undersigned have set Hagids hereto as of the 12th day of March 2015 .

/s/ Brent D. Lang /sl Justin R. Spencer
Brent D. Lang Justin R. Spencer
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer




